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Washington, D.C. 20549
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[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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[1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number: 0-52105
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Name of each exchange on which
Title of each class registered
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NONE
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the past 90 days. Y NoO
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definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelezd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul@b-2 of the Exchange Act
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Non-accelerated filel (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting compariy
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PART |

Item 1. Business
Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Report”) ¢aims statements which constitute “forward-lookstgtements” within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9These statements appear throughout this Repdrding Item 1. “Business — Business
Operations,” Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” and Iltem Kldnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@tditions and Results of Operations.”
These forward-looking statements can be identifigthe use of forward-looking terminology such bslieves,” “expects,” “may,”
“estimates,” “will,” “should,” “plans,” or “anticiptes,” or the negative of the foregoing or othefatens or comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy.

Readers are cautioned that any such forward-loottiaigments are not guarantees of future perforenand involve significant risks and
uncertainties, and that actual results may vamnftisose in the forward-looking statements as alre$warious factors. These factors include:
the effectiveness of managemeardtrategies and decisions; general economic asidéss conditions, including cyclicality and otlenditions
in the aerospace and other end markets we servelogenents in technology; new or modified statutoryegulatory requirements; changing
prices and market conditions; and other factorsugised in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and elsewherthisa Report. No assurance can be given
that these are all of the factors that could caseal results to vary materially from the forwdodking statements.

Readers are urged to consider these factors clgrefidvaluating any forward-looking statements anel cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements. Dinedrd-looking statements included herein are nuad as of the date of this Report, and
we undertake no obligation to update any informmatontained in this Report or to publicly releasg eevisions to any forward-looking
statements that may be made to reflect eventsarmstances that occur, or that we become awasdtef,the date of this Report except as
required by law.

Availability of Information

We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Rep@n Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, RrStatements, and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Corsinois (“SEC”). You may inspect and, for a fee, capy document that we file with the
SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100detSi.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please calSiB€ at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the Public Reference Room. You miag abtain the documents that we file electronjcatbm the SEC's website at
http://www.sec.gov Our filings with the SEC, as well as news relsas@nouncements of upcoming earnings calls amtgwewhich
management participates or hosts with memberseahtiestment community, and an archive of webaafstsich earnings calls and investor
events, and related investor presentations, anesatgilable on our website at http://www.kaiseraluwm.com. Information on our website is
not incorporated into this Report.

Business Overview

Founded in 1946, Kaiser Aluminum Corporation’s @imnline of business is the production of semi-fgdied specialty aluminum
products. At December 31, 2012 , we operated ldsted production facilities in the United States and in Canada. Consistent with the
manner in which our chief operating decision makeiews and evaluates our business, the Fabri€atatlicts business is treated as a single
operating segment.

In addition to the Fabricated Products segmenthawe two business units, Secondary Aluminum ang&@ate and Other, together
combined into one category and referred to hergialeOther. The Secondary Aluminum business ugliss/alue added products, such as
ingot and billet, produced by Anglesey Aluminiunmiited ("Anglesey"), in which we have a 49% equityestment and which owns and
operates a secondary aluminum remelt and castailghfan Holyhead, Wales. Our Corporate and Othesiness unit provides general and
administrative support for our operations. For jmsgs of segment reporting under United States gkyaccepted accounting principles
(“GAAP"), we treat the Fabricated Products segnanits own reportable segment. All Other is notsoiered a reportable segment (see
“Business Operations” below).

On January 1, 2012, we began reviewing the restiltsir primary aluminum hedging activities, whictigp to January 1, 2012 had been
reported in All Other, with the results of the Habted Products segment because we had begundactsuch hedging activities with respect
to primary aluminum solely for the Fabricated Pratdisegment. Accordingly, all segment informatioesgnted herein has been re-cast to
reflect the inclusion of primary aluminum hedgirgidities in the Fabricated Products segment fopaliods presented.
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Through our 12 focused production facilities in MoAmerica, we manufacture rolled, extruded, arshar aluminum products to
strategically serve four end market applicatiorsoapace and high strength products (which we tefas Aero/HS products), general
engineering products (which we refer to as GE petsjuextrusions for automotive applications (whieh refer to as Automotive Extrusions),
and other industrial products (which we refer t@alser products). See “Business Operations — FafaicProducts Segment” below for
additional information. In 2012 , we produced ahigbped approximately 585.9 million pounds of seafiicated aluminum products from
these facilities, which comprised all of our condaled net sales of approximately $ 1.4 billion .

We have long-standing relationships with our cugtenwhich consist primarily of blue-chip comparnigduding leading aerospace
companies, automotive suppliers and metal diswitsuin our served markets, we seek to be the mugyfichoice by pursuing “Best in Class”
customer satisfaction and offering a broad progoctfolio. We have a culture of continuous improarnthat is facilitated by the Kaiser
Production System (“KPS"), an integrated applicatid the tools of Lean Manufacturing, Six Sigma dindal Productive Manufacturing. We
believe KPS enables us to continuously reduce warmanufacturing costs, eliminate waste througlioeitvalue chain, and deliver “Best in
Class” customer service through consistent, on-tiglvery of superior quality products on shortddimes. We strive to tightly integrate the
management of the operations within our FabricBediucts segment across multiple production fadlitproduct lines and target markets in
order to maximize the efficiency of product flowdar customers.

Over the past three years, we completed two sitaseguisitions to provide complementary produoteur sheet, plate, cold finish and
drawn tube products, primarily for aerospace apitims. In August 2010, we acquired the Florendabama manufacturing facility, and
related assets, of Nichols Wire, Incorporated (Hwis”), expanding our offerings of small diameted rbar and wire products to our core end
market applications for aerospace, general engimgeand automotive applications. In January 2014 pwrchased the manufacturing facility
Chandler, Arizona (the “Chandler, Arizona (Extrusidacility”), and related assets, of Alexco, LL@lexco”), which manufactures hard alloy
extrusions for the aerospace industry.

Additionally, over the past six years, we have patssignificant capital spending initiatives torie&se capacity and improve product
capabilities, product quality, and efficiency. Tiest significant of these initiatives are (i) aisgrof investments to expand our capacity and
increase thickness capability to produce aluminesat treat plate for Aero/HS applications at ourk@me, Washington facility in order to
capitalize on significant demand growth and (ifhajor investment in our Kalamazoo, Michigan fagitio improve capabilities and efficiencies
of our rod and bar operations and to provide capdai future growth in extrusion applications.

Business Operations

Fabricated Products Segment

Overview

Our Fabricated Products segment produces rollédyaed, and drawn aluminum products used pringidall aerospace and defense,
automotive, consumer durables, electronics, etadfrand machinery and equipment applicationsnéigated above, the Fabricated Products
segment focuses on products that strategicallyedenrer end market applications, more particulargr@HS products, GE products,
Automotive Extrusions and Other products. Durin@202011 and 2010 , our North American manufactufacilities produced and shipped
approximately 585.9 million , 560.9 million , anti42 million pounds of fabricated aluminum producéspectively, which accounted for all
of our total net sales for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 .

For information regarding net sales, operating ine@nd total assets of the Fabricated Productsesgigsee Note 15 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8 fiFinancial Statements and Supplementary Dafafieir Report; such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Types of Products Produced

We have strategically chosen end market applicatibat allow us to utilize our core metallurgicapabilities to create value added
products in markets that present opportunitiesébes growth and premium pricing of differentiapedducts. The market for aluminum
fabricated mill products is broadly defined to umbé flat-rolled, extruded, drawn, forged and castnénum products, used in a variety of end
market applications. We participate in certain jomg of the markets for flat-rolled and extrudedign products, focusing on highly engineerec
products for aerospace/high strength, general ergdimg, automotive and other industrial end maagtications.

The table below provides shipment and sales infaomdin millions of dollars except for shipmenfanmation) for our end market
applications:
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Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Shipments (mm Ibs):
Aero/HS Products 223.¢ 38% 192.( 34% 158.¢ 31%
GE Products 232.7 40% 220.2 39% 217.¢ 42%
Automotive Extrusions 62.¢ 11% 62.¢ 11% 54.Z 11%
Other Products 66.5 11% 85.¢ 16% 83.7 16%
585.¢ 10(% 560.¢ 10C% 514.2 10C%
Sales:
Aero/HS Products $ 695.] 51% $ 596.: 46% $ 467.: 43%
GE Products 441 .¢ 33% 447 .( 34% 409.: 38%
Automotive Extrusions 125.¢ 9% 126.¢ 10% 103.( 10%
Other Products 98.1 7% 131.1 10% 99.2 9%
$1,360.: 10% $1,301. 10(% $1,078.¢ 10C%

Aero/HS ProductsOur Aero/HS products include high quality heattygate and sheet, as well as cold finish bar, $essrdrawn tube, hard
alloy extrusions, and billet that are manufactuedemanding specifications for the global aerosatd defense industries. These industries
use our products in applications that demand reghkile strength, superior fatigue resistance ptigseand exceptional durability even in harsh
environments. For instance, aerospace manufactuserkigh-strength alloys for a variety of struetuthat must perform consistently under
extreme variations in temperature and altitude. 8emo/HS products are used for a wide variety af eses. We make aluminum plate, sheet,
extruded shapes, and tube for aerospace applisaiod we manufacture a variety of specializedartdibar products that are incorporated in
diverse applications. The aerospace and defensstiies’ consumption of fabricated aluminum produstdriven by overall levels of airframe
build rates, which are cyclical in nature, and dséespending, as well as the potential availabifitpompeting materials such as titanium and
composites. Demand has increased for thick plate gvowth in “monolithic” construction of commertind other aircraft. In monolithic
construction, aluminum plate is heavily machinedébton the desired part from a single piece of métalopposed to creating parts using
aluminum sheet, extrusions or forgings that arixadfto one another using rivets, bolts or welbi)itary applications for heat treat plate and
sheet include aircraft frames and skins.

GE ProductsMost of our GE products are standard catalog iteoihd to large metal distributors. Our GE producissist of 6000-series
alloy rod, bar, tube, wire, sheet, plate and stehdatrusions. The 6000-series alloy is an extrigatedium-strength alloy that is heat treatabls
and extremely versatile. Our GE products have &wéthge of uses and applications, many of whichlirev/further fabrication of these
products for numerous transportation and otherstréal end market applications where machininglafey rod and bar is intensive. For
example, our products are used in the enhancemdmiraduction of military vehicles, semiconductamfacturing cells, numerous electrao
devices, after-market motor sport parts and toghilage. Our rod and bar products are manufactum@drivets, nails, screws, bolts and parts of
machinery and equipment. Demand growth and cydlycdr GE products tend to mirror broad economadterns and industrial activity in
North America. Demand is also impacted by the ddgitg and restocking of inventory throughout thp@y chain.

Automotive Extrusiongutomotive products consist of extruded aluminumduorcts for many North American automotive applimasi
Examples of the variety of extruded products thatswpply to the automotive industry include extdigeoducts for bumper systems, anti-lock
braking systems and structural components and dralpenfor drive shafts. For some Automotive Extoasi, we perform limited fabrication,
including sawing and cutting to length. Demand groand cyclicality for Automotive Extrusions terwrirror automotive build rates in Noi
America. Additional growth for Automotive Extrusisiis driven by efforts by automotive manufactuterseduce the weight of vehicles to
improve fuel efficiency by converting applicatioinem steel to aluminum.

Other ProductsOther products consist of extruded, drawn, andaastinum products for a variety of North Ameridadustrial end uses,
including consumer durables, electrical/electromiachinery and equipment, light truck, heavy traok truck trailer applications. Demand
growth and cyclicality for Other products tend tonar broad economic patterns and industrial atstiin North America, with specific
individual market segments such as heavy trucktiaunal trailer applications tracking their respeethwild rates.

Types of Manufacturing Processes Employed

We utilize the following manufacturing processegtoduce our fabricated products:
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Flat Rolling. The traditional manufacturing process for alumirflattrolled products uses ingot, a large rectanguldr sfaluminum, as tr
starter material. The ingot is processed througéries of rolling operations, both hot and colaiighing steps may include heat treatment,
annealing, coating, stretching, leveling or sligtio achieve the desired metallurgical, dimensiamal performance characteristics. Aluminum
flat-rolled products are manufactured using a aré alloys, a range of tempers (hardness), ga(thekness) and widths, and various
coatings and finishes. Flat-rolled aluminum semisted products are generally either sheet (un@&rifiches in thickness) or plate (up to 15
inches in thickness). The vast majority of the INgkimerican market for aluminum flat-rolled produatges “common alloy” material for
construction, sheet and plate, beverage/food cahother applications. However, we have focusedefforts on “heat treat” products, which
are distinguished from common alloy products byhkigstrength and other desired product attribdtes.primary end market applications of
heat treat flat-rolled sheet and plate are for A¢Soand GE products.

Extrusion.The extrusion process typically starts with a té#gt, which is an aluminum cylinder of varyingiigth and diameter. The first
step in the process is to heat the billet to avatézl temperature whereby the metal is mallealile.billet is put into an extrusion press and
pushed, or extruded, through a die that gives theernal the desired two-dimensional cross secfitve. material is either quenched as it leaves
the press, or subjected to a post-extrusion heatrirent cycle, to control the matergaphysical properties. The extrusion is then shtiged b
stretching and cutting to length before being haedein aging ovens. The largest end market apjicafor extruded products are in the
construction, general engineering and custom prisdBailding and construction products represeatsihgle largest end market application
for extrusions by a significant amount. However,vawe strategically chosen to focus on extrudedywmts for Aero/HS, general engineering
and automotive end market applications, utilizing well-developed technical expertise, strong potida capability and high product quality
to meet the requirements of these more demandiplicapons.

Drawing. Drawing is a fabrication operation in which extrddabes and rods are pulled through a die, or drdiva purpose of drawing is
to reduce the diameter and wall thickness whilerowimg physical properties and dimensions. Matarialy go through multiple drawing steps
to achieve the final dimensional specifications. pyienarily use drawing in connection with our Aét& products.

A description of the manufacturing processes amegoay of products at each of our production fiesi at December 31, 2012 is shown
below:

Location Types of Products Manufacturing Process
Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) Aero/HS Extrusion

Chandler, Arizona (Tube) Aero/HS Extrus@rawing
Florence, Alabama Aero/HS, GE, Other Drawing

Jackson, Tennessee Aero/HS, GE Extrusi@wiig
Kalamazoo, Michigan GE Extrusion

London, Ontario Auto Extrusion

Los Angeles, California GE, Other Extrusion

Newark, Ohio Aero/HS, GE Extrusion/Rod Rl
Richland, Washington Aero/HS, GE Extrusion

Richmond (Bellwood), Virginia Auto, GE Exsion/Drawing
Sherman, Texas GE, Other Extrusion

Spokane, Washington Aero/HS, GE Flat Rgllin

As reflected by the table above, many of our fiediemploy the same basic manufacturing procespaoduce the same type of products.
We make a significant effort to tightly integratetmanagement of our Fabricated Products segmergsamultiple manufacturing locations,
product lines, and end market applications to maerthe efficiency of product flow to customersréhasing is centralized for the Fabricated
Products segment’s primary aluminum requirementgdier to better manage price, credit and otheetitsnOur sales force and the
management thereof are also significantly integragemany customers purchase a number of differeducts that are produced at different
plant facilities. We believe that integration ofr@perations allows us to capture efficiencies ehilowing our facilities to remain highly
focused on their specific processes and end mapications.

Raw Materials

To make our fabricated products we purchase prirampinum ingot and recycled and scrap aluminumftbird party suppliers in
varying percentages depending on various mark&r&acluding price and availability. The price fwimary
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aluminum purchased for the Fabricated Products sagin typically based on the Average Midwest Taation Price (“Midwest Price”)which
reflects the primary aluminum supply/demand dynanmd\orth America. From 2010 to 2012 , the Midwieste has ranged between
approximately $0.06 to $0.11 per pound above tieepraded on the London Metal Exchange (“LME”").cReled and scrap aluminum is
typically purchased at a discount to ingot pricesdan require additional processing. In addit@producing fabricated aluminum products
sale to third parties, certain of our productiocilfies provide one another with billet, log, irtgar other intermediate material for production ir
lieu of purchasing such items from third-party digys. For example, our Newark, Ohio facility supplbillet and log to the Jackson,
Tennessee and redraw rod to the Florence, Alabadailitiés.

Pricing

The price we pay for primary aluminum, the printizav material for our fabricated aluminum produstsiness, is typically the Midwest
Price. We manage the risk of fluctuations in thegof primary aluminum through our pricing polisiand use of financial derivatives. Our
three principal pricing mechanisms are as follows:

» Spot priceSome of our customers pay a product price thatparates the spot price of primary aluminum in efffat the time of
shipment to a customer. This pricing mechanisncilpyi allows us to pass metal price risk througkh customers. For some of our
higher value added products sold on a spot bdmisass through of metal price movements can sorastiag by as much as several
months, with a favorable impact to us when metilgsrdecline and an adverse impact to us when metals increase.

* Inde)>-based priceSome of our customers pay a product price thatpwates an index-based price for primary alumisuich as
Platt’'s Midwest price for primary aluminum. Thisg@ng mechanism also typically allows us to passaingrice risk through to the
customer.

« Firm price.Some of our customers pay a firm price. We hedganrthtal price risk that we bear on such firm-pdastomer contracts
with financial derivatives.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

Industry sales margins for fabricated productstflate in response to competitive and market dynarfiales are made directly to
customers by our sales personnel located in theet)i§itates, Canada, Europe, and China, and byendept sales agents in other regions of
Asia, Mexico and the Middle East. Our sales andketarg efforts are focused on the markets for Adproducts, GE products, Automotive
Extrusions, and Other products.

Aero/HS ProductsApproximately 51% of our Aero/HS product shipmeats sold to metal distributors with the remaind#d slirectly to
end market application customers. Sales are maahaily under contracts (with terms spanning frone gear to several years) as well as on
an order-by-order basis. We serve this market aittorth American sales force focused on Aero/HS@Bdroducts and direct sales
representatives in Western Europe and China. Pyinemand drivers for Aero/HS products include #heel of commercial aircraft
construction spending (which in turn is often sebje broader economic cycles) and defense spending

GE ProductsA substantial majority of our GE products are dolthrge metal distributors in North America, witders primarily
consisting of standard catalog type items shippigd avrelatively short lead-time. We service thiarket with a North American sales force
focused on GE and Aero/HS products. Competitiveadyins for GE products include product price, pradine breadth, product quality,
delivery performance and customer service.

Automotive Extrusion®©ur Automotive Extrusions are sold primarily tcstitier automotive suppliers under annual or meekierm sales
contracts. Almost all sales of Automotive Extrusia@tcur through direct channels using a North Acaeridirect sales force that works closely
with our technical sales organization. Key demarideds for our Automotive Extrusions include thegééof North American light vehicle
manufacturing and increased use of aluminum inclesiin response to increasingly strict governmesitandards for fuel efficiency.

Other ProductsOther products are primarily sold directly to intfied end users under medium-term sales contradtsost all sales of
these products occur through direct channels wsiNgrth American direct sales force, often workahasely with our technical sales
organization. Demand for industrial products i&éid to the overall strength of the U.S. industeiednomy.

Customers

In 2012 , our Fabricated Products segment had &ppately 1,000 customers. The largest, ReliancelStéAluminum (“Reliance”), and
the five largest customers for fabricated prodactounted for approximately 22% and 46% , respelgtiof our net sales in 2012 . While the
loss of Reliance as a customer would have a mhseheerse effect on us, we believe that our longditey relationship with Reliance is good
and that the risk of losing Reliance as a custameymote.
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Research and Developme

We operate three research and development ce®erdolling and Heat Treat Center and our MetalkalgAnalysis Center are both
located at our Trentwood facility in Spokane, Waghon. The Rolling and Heat Treat Center has cotaiet rolling, cold rolling and heat
treat capabilities to simulate, in small lots, @esing of flat-rolled products for process and podlevelopment on an experimental scale. Th
Metallurgical Analysis Center consists of a fulltadeographic laboratory and a scanning electrorrosicope to support research development
programs as well as respond to plant technicaleErequests. The third center, our Solidificatiod Casting Center, is located in Newark,
Ohio and has a developmental casting unit capdhdesting billets and ingots for extrusion andinglexperiments. The casting unit is also
capable of casting full size billets and ingotsgoncessing on the production extrusion pressesdalinlg mills. See Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8fiFinancial Statements and Supplementary DatdhisfReport for additional information
about our research and development costs.

The combination of our research and developmenkwand concurrent product and process developmehinadur production operations
has resulted in the creation and delivery of valdéed KaiserSele€products.

Hedging.Our pricing of fabricated aluminum products, disrdabove, is generally intended to lock in a cosiga margin (representing
the value added from the fabrication process(exj)ta pass metal price risk through to our custsimdowever, in certain instances we enter
into firm-price arrangements and incur price riskaur anticipated primary aluminum purchases ipeesof the customer orders. We use thirc
party hedging instruments to limit exposure to rhptie risks related to firnprice customer sales contracts. Total fabricatedywt shipment
for which we were subject to price risk were 178157.0 , and 97.0 (in millions of pounds) durir@l2 , 2011 and 2010 , respectively.

All hedging activities are managed centrally to imiize transaction costs, monitor consolidated rpbeures, and allow for increased
responsiveness to changes in market factors. Hgdgitivities are conducted in compliance with dqyoapproved by our Board of Directors
and administered by our hedging committee (memtfenghich include our principal executive officerjqripal financial officer and principal
accounting officer).

All Other
All Other consists of our Secondary Aluminum andpooate and Other business units. All Other isaumisidered a reportable segment.

Secondary AluminumWe own a 49% interest in Anglesey, which owns eperates a secondary aluminum remelt and castuility in
Holyhead, Wales. Anglesey sells 49% of the secgndiaminum ingot and billet it produces to us, whige resell to a third party, receiving a
portion of a premium over normal commodity marketgs in transactions structured to largely elingénaur metal price and currency
exchange rate risks with respect to our incomecasti flow related to Anglesey. Because we in substact as an agent in connection with
sales of secondary aluminum produced by Anglesaysecondary aluminum sales are accounted forfrestsp of sales, and we reported zero
net sales in 2012 .

The carrying value of our ownership interest in kesgy is zero, and we have suspended the use efjtliy method of accounting with
respect to our ownership in Anglesey. As a reswatdid not record equity in income from Angleseyday of the periods presented in this
Report. We will not resume the use of the equityhoe of accounting with respect to our investmaninglesey unless and until (i) our share
of any future net income of Anglesey equals oreater than our share of net losses not recogidzgdg periods for which the equity method
was suspended and (ii) future dividends can beaggdeGiven our uncertainty about the continuedatien of Anglesey's cast and remelt
facility, we do not anticipate the occurrence aftsevents during the next 12 months.

Corporate and OtherfThis business unit provides general and adminig&&upport to our operations. The expenses indurr¢his
business unit are not allocated to our other ojmarsit

Segment and Geographical Area Financial Information

The information set forth in Note 15 of Notes tonSolidated Financial Statements included in IterfFancial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Report regarding ourABAeporting segment and the geographical areafiich we operate is incorporated
herein by reference.

Competition

The fabricated aluminum industry is highly compe¢it We concentrate our fabricating operations ighlly engineered products for which
we believe we have production capability, technéadertise, high product quality, and geographit @ther competitive advantages. We
differentiate ourselves from our competitors byspimg “Best in Class” customer satisfaction, whicHriven by quality, availability, price,
service, and delivery performance, and having admroduct offering, including the superior produict our Kaiser Select® product line. Our
Kaiser Select® products are manufactured to
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deliver enhanced product characteristics with immpdoconsistency which results in better performatmeer waste, and, in many cases, lower
cost for our customers.

Our primary competitors in the global heat tredtatirolled products are Alcoa and Constelliumthe extrusion market, we compete with
many regional participants, as well as larger cargsawith a national presence, such as SAPA, Ndysko and Alcoa. Some of our
competitors are substantially larger, have grdatancial resources, and may have other stratefyiarstages, including aluminum smelting
capacity providing a long-term natural hedge thatlitates the offering of fixed price contractglvaut margin exposure, more efficient
technologies or lower raw material costs.

Our fabricated aluminum products facilities arealied in North America. To the extent our compesitoave production facilities located
outside North America, they may be able to prodiigglar products at a lower cost or sell those puts at a lower price either during periods
when the currency exchange rates favor foreign etitign or through a process of dumping those petslin violation of existing trade laws.
We may not be able to adequately reduce costs@rgpio compete with these products. Increased etitigm could cause a reduction in our
shipment volume and profitability or increase oxpenditures.

In addition, our fabricated aluminum products cotapeith products made from other materials, sucst@sl, titanium and composites, for
various applications, including aircraft and autéim®manufacturing. The willingness of customeradtoept substitutions for aluminum and
the ability of large customers to exert leveragthemmarketplace to reduce the pricing for fabedadluminum products could adversely affect
our results of operations.

For heat treat plate and sheet products, partiguiar aerospace applications, new competitioninsted by technological expertise that
only a few companies have developed through sianifiinvestment in research and development. Rundse of plate and sheet in safety
critical applications make quality and product dstesicy critical factors. Suppliers must pass arags qualification process to sell to airframe
manufacturers. Additionally, significant investméminfrastructure and specialized equipment isinegl to supply heat treat plate and sheet.

Barriers to entry are lower for extruded produnisstly due to the lower required investment in pqént. However, the products that we
produce are somewhat differentiated from the migjarfi extruded products sold by competitors. Wentah a competitive advantage by using
application engineering and advanced process eggnueto distinguish our company and our produdts.believe our metallurgical expertise
and controlled manufacturing processes enable sugEpduct consistency.

Employees

At December 31, 2012we employed approximately 2,600 people, of whipproximately 2,540 were employed in our Fabricé&estiucts
segment and approximately 60 were employed in orparate group, most of whom are located in ouicef in Foothill Ranch, California.

The table below shows each manufacturing and wasshlmcation, the primary union affiliation, if grgnd the expiration date for the
current union contracts. As indicated below, uraffiliations are with the United Steel, Paper andgSting, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy,
Allied Industrial and Service Workers Internatiotailion, AFL — CIO, CLC (“USW"), International Assition of Machinists (“lAM”) and
International Brotherhood of Teamsters (“Teams)eM/e have adopted a position of neutrality regagdhe unionization of any of our
employees.
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Contract
Location Union Expiration Date
Chandler, AZ (Tube) usw Mar 2015
Chandler, AZ (Extrusion) Non-union —
Florence, AL Usw Mar 2014
Jackson, TN Non-union —
Kalamazoo, Ml usw Feb 2016
London, Ontario USW Canada Feb 2015
Los Angeles, CA Teamsters Apr 2015
Newark, OH usw Sept 2015
Richland, WA Non-union —
Richmond (Bellwood), VA USW/IAM Nov 2014/Nov 2017
Sherman, TX IAM Dec 2013
Spokane, WA usw Sept 2015

Environmental Matters

We are subject to a number of environmental lavisragulations, potential fines or penalties assbf&sealleged breaches of the
environmental laws and regulations, and to poteal#éms and litigation based upon such laws agdlegions.

We have established procedures for regularly etialy@nvironmental loss contingencies, includingstn arising from environmental
reviews and investigations and any other enviroried@amediation or compliance matters. Our envirental accruals represent our
undiscounted estimate of costs reasonably expézted incurred based on presently enacted lawseandations, existing requirements,
currently available facts, existing technology, aod assessment of the likely remediation actiortsettaken.

After public comment and agency review, we submittethe Washington State Department of Ecologyg$#iington State Ecology”) a
final feasibility study which included recommendaais for remediation alternatives to primarily addréhe historical use of oils containing
polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs, at our Spok&dashington facility. During the third quarter d@#12, we signed an amended work order
with Washington State Ecology allowing certain rellm#on activities to begin and to initiate a tedaitity study in regards to proposed PCB
remediation methods. We continue to work with Wiagton State Ecology in developing the implementatiork plans, which are subject to
Washington State Ecology approval. We expect girbienplementation of approved work plans sometim2013.

At December 31, 2012 , environmental accruals df Banillion represented our best estimate of ticeemental cost based on proposed
alternatives in the final feasibility study relatiedour Spokane, Washington facility and on ingetional studies and other remediation
activities occurring at certain other locations egby us. We expect that these remediation actidhbe taken over the next 30 years.

As additional facts are developed, feasibility sgscare completed, draft remediation plans are figallinecessary regulatory approval for
the implementation of remediation are obtained@rattive technologies are developed, and/or ot@ofs change, there may be revisions to
management’s estimates, and actual costs may eveedrrent environmental accruals. We believbiattime that it is reasonably possible
that undiscounted costs associated with these@mgntal matters may exceed current accruals byiatsohat could be, in the aggregate, up
to an estimated $18.7 million over the next 30 geliis reasonably possible that our recordednedé may change in the next 12 months .
Legal Structure
Our current corporate structure is summarized kbove:

e We directly own 100% of the issued and outstagdhares of capital stock of Kaiser Aluminum Inwgents Company, a Delaware
corporation (“KAIC"), which functions as an interdiate holding company.

*  We directly own 100% of the ownership interesKaiser Aluminum Beijing Trading Company, whichsMarmed in China for the
primary purpose of engaging in market developmadt@mmercialization and distribution of our protuin Asia.

*  KAIC owns 49% of the ownership interests of Angleaad 100% of the ownership interests of eac
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e Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC, a Dedee limited liability company (“KAFP”), which dily holds the assets
and liabilities associated with our Fabricated Raisl segment (excluding those assets and liabiktssociated with our
London, Ontario and Chandler, Arizona (Extrusiamilities and certain of the assets and liabiliiesociated with our
Fabricated Products segment’s operations in thie $faVashington) and owns 100% of the ownershigr@st of each of:

» Kaiser Aluminum Washington, LLC, a Delaware lied liability company, which holds certain of thresats and
liabilities associated with our Fabricated Prodsgtigment’s operations in the State of Washingtod; a

» Kaiser Aluminum Alexco, LLC, a Delaware limitéidbility company, which holds the assets and liaes associated
with our Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility;

e Kaiser Aluminum Canada Limited, an Ontario caogiimn, which holds the assets and liabilities esged with our London,
Ontario facility;

e Kaiser Aluminium Mill Products, Inc., a Delawagerporation, which functions primarily as the phaser and seller of products
produced by Anglesey and also engages in markelal@went and commercialization and distributiomaf products in
Europe;

e Trochus Insurance Co., Ltd., a corporation fatrimeBermuda, which has historically functionedaasaptive insurance
company;

« Kaiser Aluminum France, SAS, a corporation fodne France for the primary purpose of engaginmarket development and
commercialization and distribution of our produictdVestern Europe; and

* DCO Management, LLC, a Delaware limited lialyiltompany, which, as a successor by merger to Kaiseninum &
Chemical Corporation, holds our remaining non-opiegeassets and liabilities.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

This Item may contain statements which constitfaesard-looking statements” within the meaning lod Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. See Iter“Business — Forward-Looking Statements” for cautioninformation with respect to such forward-loogin
statements. Such cautionary information shoulddaelras applying to all forward-looking statementsevever they appear in this Report.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of futuréop@ance and involve significant risks and uncenti@s. Actual results may vary
from those in forwar-looking statements as a result of a number obfadncluding those we discuss in this Item andwleere in this Report.

In addition to the factors discussed elsewheraimReport, the risks described below are thoselhwvie believe are material to our
company. The occurrence of any of the events dssclibelow could significantly and adversely affaat business, prospects, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows el & the trading price of our common stock.

We have experienced and continue to experiencedtfiects of global economic uncertainty.
The U.S. and global economies continue to expegiengeriod of substantial uncertainty with widegiag effects, including:

» disruption in global financial markets that lzdimes reduced the liquidity available to us, customers, our suppliers and the
purchasers of products that materially affect desfanour products, including commercial airlines;

» aweakened global banking and financial systeahdreates ongoing risk and exposure to the imgfawbn-performance by banks
committed to provide financing, hedging countergartinsurers, customers and suppliers;

» extreme volatility in commodity prices that caaterially impact the results of our hedging sg&s, create near-term cash margin
requirements, reduce the value of our inventoneskaorrowing base under our revolving credit fagiind result in substantial non-
cash charges as we adjust inventory values and-taariarket our hedge positions;

» substantial fluctuations in consumer spending llaae at times reduced the demand for some applicathat use our produc
» destocking and restocking of inventory levels tlyioaut the supply chain for certain of our prodt

» our inability to achieve the level of growthather benefits anticipated from our acquisitiond ather strategic investments, and the
integration of acquired businesses;

e increases in our costs, including the cost efgy and raw materials and freight costs, whichaveeunable to pass through to our
customers;
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e pressure to reduce defense spending, which tiedsacould affect demand for our products usedeifense applications, as the U.S.
and foreign governments are faced with competinigpnal priorities; and

» the inability to predict with any certainty teaccess or failure of efforts to address governrmdefitit spending or the scope, nature or
effectiveness of such efforts.

We are unable to predict the impact, severity amatibn of these effects, any of which could haveaderial adverse impact on our
financial position, results of operations and ciaivs.

We operate in a highly competitive industry.

The fabricated products segment of the aluminurastrg is highly competitive. Competition in theesalf fabricated aluminum products is
based upon quality, availability, price, serviced @elivery performance. Many of our competitors substantially larger than we are and have
greater financial resources than we do, and mag bther strategic advantages, including aluminureltimg capacity providing a long-term
natural hedge that facilitates the offering of fixarice contracts without margin exposure, moriiefiit technologies or lower raw material
costs. Our facilities are located in North Amerita.the extent that our competitors have or devplogluction facilities located outside North
America, they may be able to produce similar preglat a lower cost or sell those products at a lqakiee either during periods when the
currency exchange rates favor foreign competitiothmugh a process of dumping those productsatation of existing trade laws. We may
not be able to adequately reduce our costs orptaceompete with these products. Increased cotigretiould cause a reduction in our
shipment volumes and profitability or increase exppenditures, any one of which could have a matadizerse effect on our financial positic
results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on a core group of significant customers.

In 2012 , our largest fabricated products custoiReliance Steel & Aluminum Company, accounted fipraximately 22% of our
fabricated products net sales, and our five largestomers accounted for approximately 4&%ur fabricated products net sales. If our emg
relationships with significant customers materiaéteriorate or are terminated and we are not sst@dedn replacing lost business, our
financial position, results of operations and ciislvs could be materially and adversely affectedadidition, a prolonged or increasing
downturn in the business or financial position w§ af our significant customers could cause anyanaore of them to limit purchases to
contractual minimum volumes, seek relief from caotual minimums or breach those obligations, allbich could materially and adversely
affect our financial position, results of operaand cash flows.

Our industry is very sensitive to foreign economiegulatory and political factors that may advergeadffect our business.

We import primary aluminum from, and manufacturerieated products used in, foreign countries. Fadtothe politically and
economically diverse countries in which we opemathave customers or suppliers, including inflatitimctuations in currency and interest
rates, availability of financial capital, compet#ifactors, civil unrest and labor problems, caffegct our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. Our financial positresults of operations and cash flows could alsacdwersely affected by:

» acts of war or terrorism or the threat of war erdgsm

e government regulation in the countries in whichaperate, service customers or purchase raw ma
« the implementation of controls on imports, exportgrices

» the adoption of new forms of taxation and du

* new forms of emission controls and tax, commdmigwn as “cap and trade”

» the imposition of currency restrictiol

« the nationalization or appropriation of rights ¢her assets; ai

» trade disputes involving countries in which we @per service customers or purchase raw mate

The commercial aerospace industry is cyclical anglahturns in the commercial aerospace industry, inding downturns resulting from
acts of terrorism, could adversely affect our busss.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue frpmoducts sold to the aerospace industry, whidtighkly cyclical. The aerospace industry
is historically driven by the demand for new comaiaraircraft. Demand for commercial aircraft iflienced by trends in airline passenger
traffic and increasing global travel, normal reglacent of older aircraft, accelerated replacemefuelfinefficient aircraft, airline industry
profitability, the state of the U.S. and global momies, the effects of terrorism, and numerousrddwors, including safety concerns with
newly introduced aircraft, any of which could r@sola sharp decrease globally in new commerciatait deliveries and order cancellations ol
deferrals by the major airlines. Despite existiaghlogs, continued financial uncertainty in theustly, inadequate liquidity of certain airline
companies, terrorist acts
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or the increased threat of terrorism may lead doiced demand for new aircraft that utilize our pretd, which could adversely affect our
financial position, results of operations and cialvs.

Reductions in defense spending for aerospace and-aerospace military applications could substantiableduce demand for our products.

Our products are used in a wide variety of militapplications, including military jets, armored i@és and ordinance. The funding of U.S.
government programs is subject to congressionabgpiations. Many of the programs in which we pAptte may extend several years;
however, these programs are normally funded annu@lianges in military strategy and priorities nadfect current and future programs. In
recent years, the demand for our products for defealated applications has arisen from the cdafiiciraq and Afghanistan. Events such as
the conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan are unplanared unpredictable. Virtually all U.S. troops hdeen withdrawn from Irag, and plans are in
place for the withdrawal of U.S. troops from Afgietan, both of which will likely result in a redimn in the level of defense spending. There
is significant pressure to reduce defense sperafirie U.S. and foreign governments are facedasitipeting national priorities. In the U.S.,
by statute, the so-called "automatic sequestration’d require cuts to defense spending totalingilibn if Congress fails to enact specific
federal deficit reductions. Reductions in defersengling could reduce the demand for our produalscanld adversely affect our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our customers may reduce their demand for aluminyroducts in favor of alternative materials.

Our fabricated aluminum products compete with potslmade from other materials, such as steeljditarand composites, for various
applications. For instance, the commercial aeraspatustry has used and continues to evaluateuttigef use of alternative materials to
aluminum, such as titanium and composites, in crmeeduce the weight and increase the fuel efiwyeof aircraft. Additionally, the
automotive industry, while motivated to reduce eshiveight with the use of aluminum, may reverstieel for certain applications. The
willingness of customers to accept substitutiomsafaminum could adversely affect the demand farpyoducts, particularly our aerospace
high strength products and automotive extrusiond,thus adversely affect our financial positiorsulés of operations and cash flows.

Downturns in the automotive and heavy duty truckdhirailer industries could adversely affect our bosss.

The demand for our automotive extrusions and mémyogeneral engineering and other industrial potslis dependent on the production
of cars, light trucks, SUVs, and heavy duty velided trailers in North America. The automotiveussity is highly cyclical, as new vehicle
demand is dependent on consumer spending andlisltigely to the overall strength of the North Ailo@n economy. Production cuts by U.S.
manufacturers may adversely affect the demanddopmducts. Substantial structural costs, inclggiension, healthcare and labor costs, |
resulted in severe financial difficulty, includitgnkruptcy, for several North American automotigkated manufacturers and first tier suppl
in recent years, with serious effects on the comatof the markets which directly affect the dechahour products. If other North American
automotiverelated manufacturers and first tier suppliers erpee such difficulties or bankruptcy, there cookdfurther serious effects on si
markets. Similarly, weak demand for new cars, ligitks, SUVs, and heavy duty vehicles and traileasticularly in the U.S., could have a
material adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows.

Changes in consumer demand may adversely affect@pgrations which supply automotive end users.

Sensitivity to energy costs can influence consusieenand for motor vehicles that have a higher camtethe aluminum automotive
extrusions that we supply. The loss of businesB wispect to, or a lack of commercial successraf,ar more particular vehicle models for
which we are a significant supplier could have dwease impact on our financial position, result®pérations and cash flows.

We face tremendous pressure from our automotivetoosers on pricing.

Cost cutting initiatives that our automotive custsmhave adopted generally result in downward pressn pricing, and our automotive
customers typically seek agreements requiring méohin pricing over the period of production.ddng pressure may further intensify as
North American automobile manufacturers continuaggressively pursue cost cutting initiatives. & are unable to generate suffici
production cost savings in the future to offset esquired price reductions, our financial positisults of operations and cash flows could be
adversely impacted.

Reductions in demand for our products may be moeeere than, and may occur prior to reductions inrdeand for, our customer products.

Customers purchasing our fabricated aluminum prisdisaich as those in the cyclical automotive amdspace industries, generally requ
significant lead time in the production of theirmwroducts. Therefore, demand for our products mengase prior to demand for our
customers’ products. Conversely, demand for oudycts may decrease as our customers anticipate/@talm in their respective businesses.
As demand for our customers’ products begins ttespbur customers typically reduce or eliminatrtdemand for our products and meet the
reduced demand for their products using their awemtory without replenishing that inventory, whigsults in a reduction in demand for our
products that is greater than the
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reduction in demand for their products. This anigdifreduction in demand for our products in thengéwé a downturn in our customers’
respective businesses (de-stocking) may adverffelgt aur financial position, results of operaticared cash flows.

Our business is subject to unplanned business iniptions which may adversely affect our business.

The production of fabricated aluminum products aluiinum is subject to unplanned events such aesgrps, fires, inclement weather,
natural disasters, accidents, transportation inpdions and supply interruptions. Operational intptions at one or more of our production
facilities, particularly interruptions at our Trerdod facility in Spokane, Washington where our prcttbn of plate and sheet is concentrated,
could cause substantial losses in our productipaaty. Furthermore, because customers may be depeon planned deliveries from us,
customers that have to reschedule their own praztudue to our delivery delays may be able to paiffnancial claims against us, and we r
incur costs to correct such problems in additioarty liability resulting from such claims. Intertigns may also harm our reputation among
actual and potential customers, potentially resglih a loss of business. To the extent these $csm®enot covered by insurance, our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows tmagndversely affected by such events.

Covenants and events of default in our debt instremts could limit our ability to undertake certaitypes of transactions and adversely aff
our liquidity.

Our revolving credit facility and the indenture goring our $225.0 million of 8.250% Senior Noteg @020 ("Senior Notes") contain a
number of restrictive covenants that impose sigaift operating and financial restrictions on us auag limit our ability to engage in acts that
may be in our long-term best interest, includingtnietions on our ability to:

. incur additional indebtedness and guarantee iedeless;

. pay dividends or make other distributions or repase or redeem capital stock;
. prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt;

. issue certain preferred stock or similar equétgwsities;

. make loans and investments;

. sell assets;

. incur liens;

. enter into transactions with affiliates;

. alter the businesses we conduct;

. enter into agreements restricting our subsidsagbility to pay dividends; and
. consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiallypbour assets.

However, while the indenture governing the Seniotds places limitations on our ability to pay deais or make other distributions,
repurchase or redeem capital stock, and make Erahinvestments, these limitations are subjedigiificant qualifications and exceptions.
The aggregate amount of payments made in compliaitbeghese limitations could be substantial. Inliéidn, restrictive covenants in our
revolving credit facility require us in certain @iimstances to maintain specified financial ratiod satisfy other financial condition tests. Our
ability to meet those financial ratios and tests lsa affected by events beyond our control, andnag be unable to meet them. You should
read our more detailed descriptions of our revg\iredit facility and the indenture governing oentr Notes in our filings with the Securit
and Exchange Commission, as well as the documiesrtssielves, for further information about these oawngs.

A breach of the covenants or restrictions undeirtienture governing the Senior Notes or underewnlving credit facility could result
an event of default under the applicable indebtssln8uch a default may allow the creditors to @raéd the related debt and may result in the
acceleration of any other debt to which a cros®lacation or cross-default provision applies. Idiidn, an event of default under our
revolving credit facility could permit the lendarader our revolving credit facility to terminaté edmmitments to extend further credit under
that facility. Furthermore, if we were unable tpag any amounts due and payable under our revobredjt facility, those lenders could
proceed against the collateral granted to thene¢are that indebtedness. In the event our lendarsteholders accelerate the repayment o
borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may not ha¥ficgnt assets to repay that indebtedness. Asaltref these restrictions, we may be:

. limited in how we conduct our business;

. unable to raise additional debt or equity finagcio operate during general economic or businesstlirns; or
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. unable to compete effectively or to take advaataignew business opportunities.

These restrictions may affect our ability to grawaccordance with our strategy. In addition, onaficial results, our substantial
indebtedness and our credit ratings could adveedédgt the availability and terms of our financing

In addition, a payment default, including an acelen following an event of default, under ouroksng credit facility or under our
indentures for our 4.5% Cash Convertible SenioeNaue 2015 ("Convertible Notes") and our Seniaebloccould each trigger an event of
default under the other debt instrument, which @éaabult in the principal of and the accrued anplaith interest on such debt becoming due
payable.

Servicing our debt requires a significant amount oash, and we may not have sufficient cash flowrfr@ur business to pay our det

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the fpelmf, to pay interest on or refinance our ddtdtgations, including the Senior Notes
and our Convertible Notes, depends on our finardatition and operating performance, which argesutio prevailing economic and
competitive conditions and to certain financialsimess, legislative, regulatory and other fact@woind our control. We may be unable to
maintain a level of cash flows from operating &t sufficient to permit us to pay the principaiemium, if any, and interest on our
indebtedness, including the Senior Notes and CaibleiNotes.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insidffit to fund our debt service obligations, we ddakce substantial liquidity problems and
could be forced to reduce or delay investmentscapital expenditures or to dispose of materialtasseoperations, seek additional debt or
equity capital or restructure or refinance our st@eness, including the Senior Notes and Converhldtes. We may not be able to effect any
such alternative measures, if necessary, on conmigneasonable terms or at all and, even if sasfid, those alternative actions may not
allow us to meet our scheduled debt service olidigat Our revolving credit facility and the indergwgoverning the Senior Notes restrict our
ability to dispose of assets and use the proceedsthose dispositions and may also restrict oilityabo raise debt or certain forms of equity
capital to be used to repay other indebtedness wix@tomes due. We may not be able to consumrasge tdispositions or to obtain proceeds
in an amount sufficient to meet any debt servideggabions then due.

If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debtyillbe in default and holders of the Senior Maa@d Convertible Notes could
declare all outstanding principal and interestealbe and payable, the lenders under our revoluiedit facility could terminate their
commitments to loan money, the lenders could foechgainst the assets securing their borrowingisvarcould be forced into bankruptcy or
liquidation.

The conditional conversion features of our Convéatéé Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect ouvaincial position, operating results and
cash flows.

In the event the conditional conversion featuresufConvertible Notes are triggered, holders ahswotes will be entitled to convert such
notes at any time during specified periods at thpfron. If one or more holders elect to conveeiitimotes, we would be required to settle our
conversion obligation through the payment of cagfich could adversely affect our liquidity and rit$n a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operation and cdsiw§. In addition, even if holders do not electbtmvert their notes, we could be required unde
applicable accounting rules to reclassify all @oation of the outstanding principal of our Conidg Notes as a current rather than long-term
liability, which would result in a material redumti of our net working capital.

The convertible note hedge and warrant transactidhat we entered into in connection with the issu@nof our Convertible Notes may
affect the market price of our common stock.

In connection with the issuance of our ConvertMtges, we entered into privately negotiated corlviernote hedge transactions and
warrant transactions. Under the terms of the cdiblemote hedge transactions, we purchased cd#beseall options relating to shares of our
common stock. Under the terms of the warrant tretiteas, we sold to the option counterparties neresfsettled warrants relating to our
common stock.

We have been informed that, in connection withldsthing their initial hedge positions with respezthe convertible note hedge
transactions and the warrant transactions, thewgunterparties and/or their affiliates enterdgd various derivative transactions with respec
to our common stock concurrently with or shortlteathe pricing of our Convertible Notes and thgt option counterparties and/or their
affiliates may modify their hedge positions by eintg into or unwinding various derivatives with pest to our common stock and/or
purchasing or selling our common stock in secondaayket transactions prior to the maturity of o@n@ertible Notes (and are likely to do so
during any settlement averaging period relateddoreversion of our Convertible Notes). The efféciny, of these transactions and activities
on the market price of our common
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stock will depend in part on market conditions aadnot be ascertained at this time, but any oftlaesivities could adversely affect the ma
price of our common stock.

We are subject to counterparty risk with respectie convertible note hedge transactions.

The option counterparties are financial institusian affiliates of financial institutions, and wéllvee subject to the risk that these option
counterparties may default or otherwise fail tof@en, or may exercise certain rights to terminatartobligations, under the convertible note
hedge transactions. Our exposure to the credibfishe option counterparties will not be securgdby collateral. If one or more of the option
counterparties to one or more of our convertibler@dge transactions becomes subject to insolvenoogedings, we will become an
unsecured creditor in those proceedings with arckgjual to our exposure at the time under thossations. Our exposure will depend on
many factors but, generally, the increase in oposxre will be correlated to the increase in theketgprice of our common stock and in
volatility of our common stock. In addition, upordafault or other failure to perform, or a terminatof obligations, by one of the option
counterparties, we may suffer adverse tax conseggesmd dilution with respect to our common stouk@e may be prevented under our
revolving credit facility (or any replacement criei@icility) from paying the cash amount due upoa tbnversion of our Convertible Notes. We
can provide no assurances as to the financialligyatni viability of any of the option counterpaes.

We are a holding company and depend on our subgig®for cash to meet our obligations and pay aryidends.

We are a holding company and conduct all of ouratpens through our subsidiaries, certain of whdch not guarantors of our Senior
Notes or our other indebtedness. Accordingly, repayt of our indebtedness, including the Senior 8ldeedependent on the generation of «
flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to makech cash available to us, by dividend, debt regeyrar otherwise. Unless they are guarar
of the Senior Notes or other indebtedness, ouridialoes do not have any obligation to pay amouiuts on the Senior Notes or other
indebtedness or to make funds available for thgtiqgae. Our subsidiaries may not be able to, or nwaye permitted to, make distributions to
enable us to make payments in respect of our iedebss, including the Senior Notes. Each of ousididries is a distinct legal entity, and,
under certain circumstances, legal and contractsalictions may limit our ability to obtain cagiorin our subsidiaries. While our revolving
credit facility and the indenture governing the iSefNotes limit the ability of our subsidiariesitwur consensual restrictions on their ability to
pay dividends or make other intercompany payments} these limitations are subject to qualifiaagiand exceptions. In the event that we dc
not receive distributions from our subsidiaries,ma&y be unable to make required principal and éstepayments on our indebtedness,
including the Senior Notes.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flowsstttisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance outebtedness on commercially reasonable
terms or at all, would materially and adverselyeeaffour financial position and results of operagion

We may not be able to successfully implement owdarctivity and cost reduction initiatives.

As the economy and markets for our products morautth economic downturns or supply otherwise betgiresxceed demand through
increases in capacity or reduced demand, it ieasingly important for us to be a low cost produédthough we have undertaken and expect
to continue to undertake productivity and cost cdidm initiatives to improve performance, includidgployment of company-wide business
improvement methodologies, such as our Kaiser RtgmiuSystem, which involves the integrated uttiiza of application and advanced
process engineering and business improvement matgids such as Lean manufacturing, Total Prodad#anufacturing and Six Sigma, we
cannot assure you that all of these initiative$ mél completed or beneficial to us or that anyneated cost saving from such activities will be
fully realized. Even when we are able to generate afficiencies successfully in the short- to medlterm, we may not be able to continue to
reduce cost and increase productivity over the teng).

Our business could be adversely affected by incesais the cost of raw materials and freight.

The price of primary aluminum has historically beseibject to significant cyclical price fluctuatigrand the timing of changes in the ma
price of aluminum is largely unpredictable. Althugur pricing of fabricated aluminum products isgelly intended to pass the risk of price
fluctuations on to our customers, we may not be &bpass on the entire cost of increases to @aiomers or offset fully the effects of higher
costs for other raw materials or freight through tise of surcharges and other measures, which ausg our profitability to decline. There \
also be a potential time lag between increaseestsdor raw materials or freight under our purehasntracts and the point when we can
implement a corresponding increase in price undesales contracts with our customers. As a resgltnay be exposed to fluctuations in the
costs for raw material, including aluminum anddtdi since, during the time lag, we may have ta beaadditional cost increase under our
purchase contracts. If these events were to ottoey,could have a material adverse effect on manftial position, results of operations and
cash flows. In addition, increases in raw mateartaits may cause some of our customers to substituée materials for our products over time.
adversely affecting our financial position, result®perations and cash flows due to a decreatfeinales of fabricated aluminum products.
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The price volatility of energy costs may adversaffect our business.

Our income and cash flows depend on the margineafired and variable expenses (including energyst@d which we are able to sell ¢
fabricated aluminum products. The volatility in toef fuel, principally natural gas, and otheritytiservices, principally electricity, used by
production facilities affect operating costs. Faed utility prices have been, and will continud affected by factors outside our control, ¢
as supply and demand for fuel and utility servioesoth local and regional markets and the poterggulation of greenhouse gases. Future
increases in fuel and utility prices may have aemal adverse effect on our financial positionutesof operations and cash flows.

New derivatives legislation could have an advenmsgact on our ability to hedge risks associated watlr business and on the cost of o
hedging activities.

We use over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives product hedge our risks relating to primary aluminwicgs, energy prices, and, to a
lesser extent, foreign currency. Recent legislatias been adopted to increase the regulatory ghersi the OTC derivatives markets and
impose restrictions on certain derivative transasj which could affect the use of derivativesadding transactions. If regulations subject us
to additional capital or margin requirements oreotfestrictions on our trading and commaodity posii they could have an adverse effect on
our ability to hedge risks associated with our bess and on the cost of our hedging activities.

Our hedging programs may limit the income and cafétws we would otherwise expect to receive if owdlging program were not in place
and may otherwise affect our business.

From time to time in the ordinary course of busi&ge enter into hedging transactions to limit @xposure to price risks relating to
primary aluminum prices, energy prices and foragmency. To the extent that these hedging traimsefix prices or exchange rates and
primary aluminum prices, energy costs or foreigohexge rates are below the fixed prices or ratabkshed by these hedging transactions,
our income and cash flows will be lower than th#yeowise would have been. Additionally, to the extiat primary aluminum prices, energy
prices and/or foreign currency exchange rates teewiaterially and adversely from fixed, floor oilicegy prices or rates established by
outstanding hedging transactions, we fail to satisé covenants, or an event of default occurs utigeterms of the underlying documents, we
could incur margin calls that could adversely intpag liquidity and result in a material adversgef on our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. Conversely, we are exptusrisks associated with the credit worthindssuo hedging counterparties. The credit
worthiness of hedging counterparties is inhereditiffcult to assess and can change quickly and dtamlly, as demonstrated by the signific
trading losses and bankruptcies of some large ¢iahimstitutions in recent years. Non-performabgea counterparty could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, resuftserations and cash flows.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign curreneychange rates and interest rates, as well as itifla and other economic factors in the
countries in which we operate, service customergarchase raw materials.

Economic factors, including inflation and fluctuats in foreign currency exchange rates and inteaéss in the countries in which we
operate, service customers or purchase raw matec@lld affect our revenues, expenses and refubiserations. In particular, lower valuat
of the U.S. dollar against other currencies, paldidy the Canadian dollar and Euro, may affectmuafitability as some important raw
materials are purchased in other currencies, vgndducts generally are sold in U.S. dollars.

Our ability to keep key management and other pensehin place and our ability to attract managemeand other personnel may affect our
performance.

We depend on our senior executive officers andrd¢ag personnel to run our business, and we degigcompensation programs to atti
and retain key personnel and facilitate our abttitylevelop effective succession plans. The lossgfof these officers or other key personnel
or failure to attract key personnel could mateyialhd adversely affect our succession planningogedations. Competition for qualified
employees among companies that rely heavily onnereging and technology is intense, and the losgialified employees or an inability to
attract, retain and motivate additional highly kdlemployees required for the operation and exparss our business could hinder our ability
to improve manufacturing operations, conduct reseactivities successfully and develop marketabbelpcts.

Our failure to maintain satisfactory labor relation could adversely affect our business.

A significant number of our employees are represgbty labor unions under labor contracts with vagydurations and expiration dates,
including labor contracts with the United Steelp@aand Foresting, Rubber, Manufacturing, Enerdlyed Industrial and Service Workers
International Union, AFL - CIO, CLC (“USW"), covergy seven of our manufacturing locations. Employepsesented by labor unions under
labor contracts represented approximately 63% okmployees at December 31, 2012 . Contracts ahanufacturing locations expire in
2013 through 2017. We may not be able to renegotinhegotiate these or our other labor contrattsatisfactory terms. As part of any
negotiation, we may reach agreements with
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respect to future wages and benefits that coulemnadly and adversely affect our future financiakftion, results of operations and cash flows.
In addition, negotiations could divert managemetgraion or result in union-initiated work actiomscluding strikes or work stoppages, that
could have a material adverse effect on our firgrmisition, results of operations and cash flavisteover, the existence of labor agreements
may not prevent such union-initiated work actions.

Our participation in multi-employer union pensionlans may have a material adverse effect on our fiéal performance.

We are required to make contributions to multi-emgpl pension plans in amounts established undbrotiwle bargaining agreements.
Pension expense for these plans is recognizednastedions are funded. Benefits generally are asea fixed amount for each year of
service. Based on the most recent information alikglto us, we believe a number of these multieggplplans are underfunded. As a result,
we expect that contributions to these plans manease. Additionally, the benefit levels and reldteths will be issues in the negotiation of
collective bargaining agreements. Under current Eawemployer that withdraws or partially withdrafn@em a multi-employer pension plan
may incur withdrawal liability to the plan, whickpresents the portion of the plan’s underfundirag i allocable to the withdrawing employer
under very complex actuarial and allocation ruléee failure of a withdrawing employer to fund thedsigations can impact remaining
employers. The amount of any increase or decr@aserirequired contributions to these multi-emplgyension plans will depend upon the
outcome of collective bargaining, actions takerirbgtees who manage the plans and other employerguarticipate in the plans, government
regulations and the actual return on assets hdlteiplans, among other factors.

Our business is regulated by a wide variety of liand safety laws and regulations and compliancaybe costly and may adversely affect
our business.

Our operations are regulated by a wide varietyeafith and safety laws and regulations, includirmgndy executed federal health care
legislation. Compliance with these laws and regomhat may be costly and could have a material aéveffect on our results of operations. In
addition, these laws and regulations are subjechémge at any time, and we can give you no assei@to the effect that any such changes
would have on our operations or the amount thatvaeld have to spend to comply with such laws amilisions as so changed.

Environmental compliance, clean up and damage claimay decrease our cash flow and adversely affecttusiness

We are subject to numerous environmental laws agdlations with respect to, among other thingsaad water emissions and discharges
the generation, storage, treatment, transportatiohdisposal of solid and hazardous waste; ancetbase of hazardous or toxic substances,
pollutants and contaminants into the environmenm@liance with these environmental laws is and edgltinue to be costly.

Our continuing operations and certain of our formgerations have subjected, and may in the futubgest, us to fines, penalties and
expenses for alleged breaches of environmental déadgo obligations to perform investigations @ael up of the environment. We may also
be subject to claims from governmental authoritiethird parties related to alleged injuries to ém¥ironment, human health or natural
resources, including claims with respect to waspakal sites, the clean up of sites currentlyoomerly used by us or exposure of individuals
to hazardous materials. Any investigation, clearsupther remediation costs, fines or penaltiegosts to resolve third-party claims, may be
significant and could have a material adverse effacur financial position, results of operati@msl cash flows.

We have accrued, and will accrue, for costs rejdiinthe above matters that are reasonably expéxteslincurred based on available
information. However, it is possible that actuastsomay differ, perhaps significantly, from the amis expected or accrued. Similarly, the
timing of those expenditures may occur faster @uaticipated. These differences could have a matatigerse effect on our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. In additiew laws or regulations or changes to existing lamd regulations may be enacted, including
government mandated green initiatives and limitetion carbon emissions, that increase the costroplexity of compliance. Difference in
actual costs, the timing of payments for previoaglgrued costs and the impact of new or amendesidawel regulations may have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, resufteerations and cash flows.

New governmental regulation relating to greenhougas emissions may subject us to significant newts@sd restrictions on ou
operations.

Climate change is receiving increasing attentionldvaide. Many scientists, legislators and othetshaite climate change to increased
levels of greenhouse gases, including carbon digxidhich has led to significant legislative andulegpry efforts to limit greenhouse gas
emissions. Laws enacted by Congress or polici¢iseoEnvironmental Protection Agency could regutaeenhouse gas emissions through a
cap-and-trade system under which emitters wouldefaired to buy allowances to offset emissionsreéghouse gas. In addition, several
states, including states where we have manufactylemts, are considering various greenhouse ggstnation and reduction programs. Cer
of our manufacturing plants use significant amowrfitsnergy, including electricity and natural gasd certain of our plants emit amounts of
greenhouse gas above certain minimum thresholdstbdikely to be imposed by existing proposaledhhouse gas regulation could increas
the price of the electricity we purchase, increassts for our use of natural gas, potentially retséiccess to or the use of natural gas,
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require us to purchase allowances to offset our emissions or result in an overall increase inamsts of raw materials, any one of which
could significantly increase our costs, reduceammpetitiveness in a global economy or otherwisgatieely affect our business, operations ol
financial results. It is too early to predict howisting or future regulation will affect our bussg operations or financial results.

Other legal proceedings or investigations or chasge the laws and regulations to which we are sutijenay adversely affect our business.

In addition to the matters described above, we fraay time to time be involved in, or be the subjeftdisputes, proceedings and
investigations with respect to a variety of matt@rsluding matters related to personal injury, égpes, taxes and contracts, as well as other
disputes and proceedings that arise in the ordicawyse of business. It could be costly to additesse claims or any investigations involving
them, whether meritorious or not, and legal prooegiand investigations could divert managenseattention as well as operational resoutr
negatively affecting our financial position, resutf operations and cash flows.

Additionally, as with environmental laws and redigas, the other laws and regulations which gowmmbusiness are subject to change at
any time. Compliance with changes to existing lawd regulations could have a material adversetaffeour financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

Product liability claims against us could result isignificant costs and could adversely affect ourdiness.

We are sometimes exposed to warranty and prodahitity claims. While we generally maintain insucaragainst many product liability
risks, a successful claim that is not insured, edseur available insurance coverage, or is nodiofugly insured as a result of the insolvency
of one or more of the underlying carriers coulddavmaterial adverse effect on our financial posjtresults of operations and cash flows.

Our investment and other expansion projects may betcompleted or start up as scheduled.

We are currently engaged in, and have recently &etegh various investment and expansion projeats.ability to complete such projects,
and the timing and costs of doing so, are subgeeatious risks associated with all major constamcprojects, many of which are beyond our
control, including technical or mechanical probleexsonomic conditions and permitting. Additionallye start up of operations after such
projects have been completed can be complicated@stty. If we are unable to fully complete thesejgcts, if the actual costs for these
projects exceed our expectations, or if the sjagphase after completion is more complicated thitipated, our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows could be adversely aftect

We may not be able to successfully execute ourtetyg of growth through acquisitions.

A component of our growth strategy is to acquitarifzated products assets in order to complemenpmgduct portfolio. Our ability to do
so will be dependent upon a number of factorspiticlg our ability to identify acceptable acquisiticandidates, consummate acquisitions on
favorable terms, successfully integrate acquirsetas obtain financing to fund acquisitions andosupour growth and many other factors
beyond our control. Risks associated with acquisgtiinclude those relating to:

» diversion of managemesttime and attention from our existing busin
» challenges in managing the increased scope, gdugrdipersity and complexity of operatio

» difficulties integrating the financial, techngioal and management standards, processes, preseghat controls of the acquired
business with those of our existing operations;

» liability for known or unknown environmental coridits or other contingent liabilities not coveredibgemnification or insuranc

e greater than anticipated expenditures requineddmpliance with environmental or other regulatstandards or for investments to
improve operating results;

« difficulties achieving anticipated operational impements
» incurrence of indebtedness to finance acquisit@reapital expenditures relating to acquired asseit
» issuance of additional equity, which could resalfurther dilution of the ownership interests ofstng stockholder:

We may not be successful in acquiring additionaétss and any acquisitions that we do consummayenigproduce the anticipated
benefits or may have adverse effects on our firsupasition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our effective income tax rate could increase and terdally adversely affect our business.
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We operate in multiple tax jurisdictions and pay da our income according to the tax laws of thjasedictions. Various factors, some of
which are beyond our control, determine our effectax rate and/or the amount we are requiredyoipaluding changes in or interpretations
of tax laws in any given jurisdiction, our ability use net operating losses and tax credit camgfals and other tax attributes, changes in
geographical allocation of income and expense camgudgment about the realizability of deferrex &@sets. Such changes to our effective ta
rate could materially adversely affect our finahpiasition, liquidity, results of operations andshdlows.

Exposure to additional income tax liabilities due twdits could materially adversely affect our bness.

Due to our size and the nature of our businesgre/subject to ongoing reviews by taxing jurisdict on various tax matters, including
challenges to various positions we assert on agnire tax and withholding tax returns. We accruerime tax liabilities and tax contingencies
based upon our best estimate of the taxes ultignaiglected to be paid after considering our knogéedf all relevant facts and circumstances
existing tax laws, our experience with previousitsuand settlements, the status of current tax eéxations and how the tax authorities view
certain issues. Such amounts are included in faagsble or other non-current liabilities, as appiaip, and updated over time as more
information becomes available. We record additidaglexpense in the period in which we determir tie recorded tax liability is less than
the ultimate assessment we expect. We are currauitlect to audit and review in a number of juigddins in which we operate, and further
audits may commence in the future.

We are exposed to risks relating to evaluationsohtrols required by Section 404 of the Sarbanesk&yxAct of 2002.

We are required to comply with Section 404 of tlagb@nexley Act of 2002. While our principal executiveioér and principal financit
officer concluded that our disclosure controls pratedures were effective as of December 31, 20&2cannot assure you that we will not
have a material weakness in the future. A “matavishkness” is a control deficiency, or combinatibsignificant deficiencies, that results in
more than a remote likelihood that a material rateshent of the annual or interim financial statetsevill not be prevented or detected. If we
fail to maintain a system of internal controls ofieancial reporting that meets the requirementSedtion 404, we might be subject to
sanctions or investigation by regulatory authosisech as the SEC or by the Nasdaq Stock Market Bld@itionally, failure to comply with
Section 404 or the report by us of a material weakmmay cause investors to lose confidence inimamdial statements and our stock price
may be adversely affected. If we fail to remedy amaterial weakness, our financial statements magpdexurate, we may be subject to
increase in insurance costs, we may not have ateéiss capital markets, and our stock price magdeersely affected.

We may not be able to adequately protect proprigtaghts to our technology.

Our success will depend in part upon our propnetachnology and processes. Although we attemptdtect our intellectual property
through patents, trademarks, trade secrets, cdpgrigonfidentiality and nondisclosure agreementsather measures, these measures ma
be adequate particularly in foreign countries whbeslaws may offer significantly less intellectygabperty protection than is offered by the
laws of the United States. In addition, any attemptenforce our intellectual property rights, eifesuccessful, could result in costly and
prolonged litigation, divert management’s attentiond adversely affect our results of operationscasth flows. The unauthorized use of our
intellectual property may adversely affect our fessaf operations as our competitors would be #blatilize such property without having had
to incur the costs of developing it, thus potefhtisdducing our relative profitability. Furthermomge may be subject to claims that our
technology infringes the intellectual property tiglf another. Even if without merit, those claioasild result in costly and prolonged
litigation, divert management’s attention and adeér affect our results of operations and cashdgldw addition, we may be required to enter
into licensing agreements in order to continue gisgchnology that is important to our businesayemay be unable to obtain license
agreements on acceptable terms, either of whicld cagatively affect our financial position, resutif operations and cash flows.

We may not be able to utilize all of our net operaf loss carryforwards.

We have net operating loss carryforwards and aiggrificant U.S. tax attributes that we believeldoaffset otherwise taxable income in
the United States. The net operating loss carndot available in any year to offset our net tagcattome will be reduced following a more
than 50% change in ownership during any periodéof@secutive months (an “ownership change”) asrdeted under the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 (the “Code”). Our certificate of ingoration prohibits and voids certain transfersaf common stock in order to reduce the risk
that an ownership change will jeopardize our netrating loss carryforwards. Because U.S. tax lavitéi the time during which carryforwards
may be applied against future taxes, we may natiteeto take full advantage of the carryforwardsféaleral income tax purposes. In addition,
federal and state tax laws pertaining to net opegdbss carryforwards may be changed from timent@ such that the net operating loss
carryforwards may be reduced or eliminated. Ifrieeoperating loss carryforwards become unavailables or are fully utilized, our future
income will not be shielded from federal and stat®me taxation, and the funds otherwise availédnigeneral corporate purposes would be
reduced.

Transfer restrictions and other factors could hindéhe market for our common stock.
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In order to reduce the risk that an ownership ckamguld jeopardize the preservation of our U.Sefatlincome tax attributes, including
net operating loss carryforwards, for purposesaafti®ns 382 and 383 of the Code, our certificat@odrporation includes restrictions on
transfers involving 5% ownership. These transfstrigtions may make our stock less attractive tgdanstitutional holders, discourage
potential acquirers from attempting to take ovar@ampany, limit the price that investors mightiidling to pay for shares of our common
stock and otherwise hinder the market for our comstock.

We could engage in or approve transactions involyiour common shares that inadvertently impair theaiof our federal income tax
attributes.

Section 382 of the Code affects our ability to asefederal income tax attributes, including our eygerating loss carryforwards, following
a more than 50% change in ownership during anygerf 36 consecutive months, an ownership chargydetermined under the Code. Cer
transactions may be included in the calculatioarobwnership change, including transactions inngh\dur repurchase or issuance of our
common shares. When we engage in or approve amgaitdon involving our common shares that may bkided in the calculation of an
ownership change, our practice is to first perfonen calculations necessary to confirm that ouritgitid use our federal income tax attributes
will not be affected. These calculations are compled reflect certain necessary assumptions. Aaoglyd it is possible that we could approve
or engage in a transaction involving our commonehthat causes an ownership change and inadvrritepairs the use of our federal inco
tax attributes.

We could engage in or approve transactions involyiour common shares that adversely affect signifitatockholders.

Under the transfer restrictions in our certificaténcorporation, our 5% stockholders are, in effeequired to seek the approval of, or a
determination by, our Board of Directors beforeytbagage in transactions involving our common st¥¢& could engage in or approve
transactions involving our common stock that lioit ability to approve future transactions involyiour common stock by our 5%
stockholders in accordance with the transfer m@gtns in our certificate of incorporation withdatpairing the use of our federal income tax
attributes. In addition, we could engage in or apprtransactions involving our common stock thatseastockholders owning less than 5% to
become 5% stockholders, resulting in those stocldrelhaving to seek the approval of, or a determinaipnour Board of Directors under ¢
certificate of incorporation before they could eggan future transactions involving our common ktd&or example, share repurchases reduc
the number of our common shares outstanding anld cause a stockholder holding less than 5% toibneca 5% stockholder even though it
has not acquired any additional shares.

Our results may fail to meet investor expectaticarsd the trading price of our stock may decline digea variety of factors beyond our
control.

Our financial and operating results may be sigaifity below the expectations of public market astand investors and the price of our
common stock may decline due to the factors beyamdontrol, including, among others:

» volatility in the spot market for primary aluminuemd energy cos!
» cyclical aspects impacting demand for our prod
» changes in the volume, price and mix of the progluet sell

* non-cash charges including last-in, first-out;ldFQO”, inventory charges and impairments, lovedrcost or market valuation
adjustments to inventory, mark-to-market gains lasdes related to our derivative transactions emghirments of fixed assets and
intangible assets;

e unanticipated interruptions of our operations idahg variations in the maintenance needs for ocififies;
e unanticipated changes in our labor relations
e U.S. and global economic conditic

Our annual variable payment obligations to the VEBAre linked with our profitability, which means &t not all of our earnings will be
available to our stockholders.

We are obligated to make annual payments to thevbhmtary employer's beneficiary associations (BAS”) that provide benefits for
certain eligible retirees and their spouses amgilddi dependents calculated in part on our prafitgland therefore, not all of our earnings will
be available to our stockholders. The aggregateuatraf our annual payments to the VEBAS is cappmadver at $20 million and is subject
other limitations. As a result of these variablgmant obligations, our cash flows may be reducead.dbligation to the VEBA that provides
benefits for eligible retirees represented by demi@ions and their surviving spouse and eligildpaehdents (the “Union VEBA”) terminates on
September 30, 2017. In the future, groups reprigggotir current and future retired hourly employexshe Union VEBA itself, may seek to
extend our obligation to the Union VEBA beyond therent termination date. Any such extension ctwalde a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations and ciaivs.
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The ownership of our stock is concentrated, witlieav owners who may, individually or collectivelygert significant influence over us.

Certain investment funds, advisers and organizatiwn greater than 5% of our outstanding commotksds of December 31, 2012 . As a
result, any of them could have significant influerwer matters requiring stockholder approval,udiig the composition of our Board of
Directors. Further, to the extent that the subgthstockholders were to act in concert, they cqdtentially control any action taken by our
stockholders. This concentration of ownership calidd facilitate or hinder proxy contests, tendézrs, open market purchase programs,
mergers or other purchases of our common stoclntigiit otherwise give stockholders the opportutatyealize a premium over the then
prevailing market price of our common stock or eatee market price of our common stock to dechfie.cannot assure you that the interests
of our major stockholders will not conflict with pinterests or the interests of our other investors

The USW has director nomination rights through whidt may influence us, and USW interests may noigal with our interests or the
interests of our other investors.

Pursuant to agreements between us and the USWS3Weéhas the right to nominate candidates whicalgéted, would constitute 40% of
our Board of Directors through September 30, 2@1%hich time the USW is required to cause anyctiirenominated by the USW to submit
his or her resignation to our Board of Directorhjain submission our Board of Directors may accepeject in its discretion. As a result, the
directors nominated by the USW have a significante in the decisions of our Board of Directorgsipossible that the USW may seek to
extend the term of the agreement and its righbtainate board members beyond 2015.

Payment of dividends may not continue in the futuind our payment of dividends and stock repurcheisge subject to restrictior

Our Board of Directors has declared a cash dividendach quarter since the summer of 2007. Theduleclaration and payment of
dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of tBeard of Directors and will depend on a numbefactors, including our financial and operat
results, financial position, and anticipated casfuirements. We can give no assurance that dividetitbe declared and paid or that
dividends will not be reduced in the future. Addiitally, our revolving credit facility and the indere for our Senior Notes restrict our ability
pay dividends and repurchase our common shares.

Our certificate of incorporation includes transferestrictions that may void transactions in our conom stock effected by 5% stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation restricts the sfar of our equity securities if either (1) thenséeror holds 5% or more of the fair market
value of all of our issued and outstanding equéigusities or (2) as a result of the transfer, eidrey person would become such a 5%
stockholder or the percentage stock ownership piach 5% stockholder would be increased. Thedgatisns are subject to exceptions set
forth in our certificate of incorporation. Any trsfler that violates these restrictions is void arltllve unwound as provided in our certificate of
incorporation.

Delaware law and our governing documents may impedeliscourage a takeover, which could adverselfeaf the value of our commo
stock.

Provisions of Delaware law and our certificaterafdrporation and bylaws may discourage a changerfol of our company or deter
tender offers for our common stock. We are curyesiibject to anti-takeover provisions under Dela@ntaw. These anti-takeover provisions
impose various impediments to the ability of adiparty to acquire control of us. Additionally, prsions of our certificate of incorporation &
bylaws impose various procedural and other requeres) which could make it more difficult for stocktiers to effect certain corporate actic
For example, our certificate of incorporation auihes our Board of Directors to determine the gipreferences and privileges and restric
of unissued shares of preferred stock without atg @r action by our stockholders. As a result,Board of Directors can authorize and issue
shares of preferred stock with voting or conversights that could adversely affect the voting tivev rights of holders of common stock. Our
certificate of incorporation also divides our BoaifDirectors into three classes of directors wlivs for staggered terms. A significant effect
of a classified Board of Directors may be to détestile takeover attempts because an acquirer @qgdrience delays in replacing a majority
of directors. Moreover, stockholders are not peedito call a special meeting. Our certificatermfarporation prohibits certain transactions in
our common stock involving 5% stockholders or partivho would become 5% stockholders as a restliieafansaction. The general effect of
these transfer restrictions is to ensure that agd@n ownership of more than 45% of our outstagpdiommon stock cannot occur in any three-
year period without the consent of our Board ofebiors. These rights and provisions may have fieetedf delaying or deterring a change
control of our company and may limit the price timestors might be willing to pay in the future &hares of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
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None.

Item 2. Properties

Information regarding the location, size and owhigr®f our principal plants as of December 31, 2i312elow:

Location Square footage Owned or Leased
Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) 115,00( Owned/Leased
Chandler, Arizona (Tube) 93,00( Owned/Leased
Florence, Alabama 252,00( Owned
Jackson, Tennessee 310,00 Owned
Kalamazoo, Michigan 465,00( Leased
London, Ontario (Canada) 265,00( Owned
Los Angeles, California 183,00( Owned
Newark, Ohio 1,293,001 Owned
Richland, Washington 45,00( Leased
Richmond (Bellwood), Virginia 430,00( Owned
Sherman, Texas 313,00( Owned
Spokane, Washington 2,866,001 Owned/Leased
Total 6,630,00!I

! The Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility is sutti¢o a land lease with a primary lease term tkpires in 2023. The facility is owned by
us and is not subject to any leases.

2 The Chandler, Arizona (Tube) facility is subjectttand lease with a primary lease term that expit2033. We have certain extension
rights in respect of the Chandler, Arizona (Tulagility lease. The facility is owned by us and ¢ subject to any leases.

3 The Kalamazoo, Michigan facility is subject to ade with a 2033 expiration dz
4 The Richland, Washington facility is subject teeade that expires in 2016, subject to certain sidgarrights held by u

5 The Spokane, Washington facility consists of 2,0@6,square feet, which is owned by us, and 121sg0@are feet, which is subject to a
lease with a 2015 expiration date and a renewagubject to certain terms and conditions.

Plants and equipment and other facilities are gdiyan good condition and suitable for their indenl uses.

Our corporate headquarters, located in FoothilldRacalifornia, is a leased facility consisting2®,000 square feet at December 31, 2012
with an expiration date of June 2016.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities
Market Information
Our outstanding common stock is traded on the Np&labal Select Market under the ticker symbol “KAL

The following table sets forth the high and lowsihg sale prices of our common stock for each guarperiod for fiscal years 2012 and
2011:

High Low

Fiscal 2012

First quarter $ 52.4¢ $ 46.8:2

Second quarter $ 5257 % 46.6:2

Third quarter $ 59.1t % 49.4;

Fourth quarter $ 61.7¢ $ 56.21
Fiscal 2011

First quarter $ 52.77 $ 45.8¢

Second quarter $ 5462 $ 46.3

Third quarter $ 56.3C $ 43.71

Fourth quarter $ 49.4¢ % 40.2¢

Holders

As of February 13, 2013 , there were approxim&®8y holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We declare and pay regular quarterly cash dividémd®lders of our common stock, including holdefrsestricted stock. We also pay
quarterly dividend equivalents to the holders ofaia restricted stock units and the holders ofgrarance shares with respect to approxims
one half of the performance shares issued undesauity and performance incentive plan. Total aistdends (and dividend equivalents) p
in 2012, 2011 and 2010 were $1.00 per share @6%illion ), $0.96 per share (or $18.9 millioar)d $0.96 per share (or $19.0 million ),
respectively.

On January 14, 2013, we announced that our Bddbirectors approved the declaration of a quartedsgh dividend of $ 0.3®%er commol
share, or $5.9 million (including dividend equivat&), which was paid on February 15, 2013 to stolddrs of record at the close of business
on January 25, 2013 .

The future declaration and payment of dividendanif, will be at the discretion of our Board of &itors and will depend on a number of
factors, including our financial and operating fesifinancial position and anticipated cash regients and contractual restrictions under our
revolving credit facility and the indenture for ®1250% Senior Notes due 2020, or indebtednessayeimsur in the future. We can give no
assurance that dividends will be declared and ipatide future.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative totereholder return on our common stock with: (i) Bwessell 2000 and (ii) the S&P
SmallCap 600. The graph assumes (i) an initialstment of $100 as of December 31, 2007 and (iivestment of all dividends. We are a
component of both the Russell 2000 index and thE Sé&nallCap 600 index. The performance graph ismeogssarily indicative of future
performance of our stock price.
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COMPARISON OF § YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®

Among Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, the S&P Smallcap 600 Index, and the Russell 2000 Index
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2100 invested on 1213107 in stock orindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal year ending December 31.

Copyright® 2013 S&P, a divizion 0f The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights rezerved.
Copyright® 2013 Russzell Investment Group. All rightz reserved.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities
We did not repurchase any of our own common starkd the fourth quarter of 2012.

Our Board of Directors approved a program for ggurchase of up to $75 million of our common sharekine 2008. During 2012 , 2011
and 2010, we did not purchase any shares of ounem stock under this program, and as of Decembe2@®L2 , $46.9 million remained
available for repurchases under the existing aigation. The program may be modified or termindtgdur Board of Directors at any time.
All shares repurchased under this stock repurcpasgram have been treated as treasury shares.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table represents our selected finalndata. The table should be read in conjunctigh Wt&m 7. “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and Item 8. “Financial Statements anpp&mentary Data” of this Report.
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In millions of dollars, except shipments, averageales price and per share amounts)
Net sales $ 1,360.. $ 1,301.0 % 1,079.. $ 987.C $ 1,508.:
Net income (loss) $ 85.6 % 251 % 120 $ 705 $ (68.5)
Basic income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) per share $ 4.4¢ % 132 % 0.61 $ 351 $% (3.45)
Diluted income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) per share $ 44 3 132 % 061 $ 351 $ (3.45)
Shipments (mm Ibs) 585.¢ 560.¢ 514.¢ 542.¢ 691.¢
Average realized sales price (per Ib) $ 232 % 232 % 21C % 182 $ 2.1¢
Cash dividends declared per common share  $ 1.0C $ 0.9¢ $ 0.9¢ $ 0.9¢ % 0.6€
Capital expenditures $ 441 % 328 % 38¢ % 59.2 % 93.2
Depreciation and amortization expense $ 265 % 252z $ 19.¢ $ 164 $ 147
December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Total assets $ 1,752 $ 1,320.¢ $ 1,318.¢ $ 1,054.¢ $ 1,145.
Cash and short term investment 358.¢ 49.¢ 135.¢ 30.2 0.2
Long-term borrowings (at face value), includin
amounts due within one year 400.( 179.7 188.( 7.C 43.C

In addition to the operational results discusseldeim 7. “Management’s Discussion and AnalysisiofRcial Condition and Results of
Operations,” significant items that impacted thwficial results included, but were not limitedth® following:
2012 :

e Weissued $225.0 million principal amount of 2 Senior Notes due 2020, resulting in proceed@2®8.4 million net of $6.6
million of initial transaction fees.

* We recorded $16.0 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tanarket gains on our derivative instrume

*  We recorded $11.9 million of net periodic pensienefit income relating to two voluntary emplogdeeneficiary associations that
provide benefits for certain eligible retirees dhelir spouses and eligible dependents (the “VEBAS”)

» Our Board of Directors released stock trangdstrictions on 2,202,495 shares of our common stegied by the VEBA that provides
benefits for certain eligible retirees represertgdertain unions and their spouses and eligibpeddents (the “Union VEBA”), at a
weighted-average price of $49.31 per share, theratsgasing Union VEBA assets by $108.6 million amcteasing Stockholders'
equity by $67.3 million (net of tax).

*  We recorded a variable contribution payableh®WVEBAs of $20.0 million with respect to calengaar 2012 , which will be paid in
the first quarter of 2013 .
2011:

*  We completed the strategic acquisition from Alex_LC of the Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) fatiliwhich manufactures hard alloy
extrusions for the aerospace industry. Cash coratide for the acquisition was approximately $83llion (which was net of $4.9
million cash received in the acquisition).

*  We recorded $25.9 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tonarket losses on our derivative instrume
*  We recorded $6.0 millioof net periodic pension benefit income relatinghe VEBAs

e The Union VEBA sold 1,321,485 shares of our camratock at a weighted-average price of $49.5&pare, thereby increasing
Union VEBA assets by $65.5 million and increasingc®holders’ equity by $40.5 million (net of tax).
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2010:

*  Weissued $175.0 million principal amount of%.&ash Convertible Senior Notes due 2015 (“ConblerfNotes”) and purchased call
options indexed to our own stock to hedge the oasigations upon potential conversion of the Cotilslr Notes.

* We increased our environmental reserve by $afllon, of which $13.4 million was in connectionittv our submission of a draft
feasibility study to the Washington State DeparthwdriEcology on September 8, 2010 to address t$terical use of oils containing
polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs, at our Trentd/éacility in Spokane, Washington facility and &flect plans for remediation for
the next 30 years.

 We completed the strategic acquisition of the mactwiring facility in Florence, Alabama, and relatesgets, of Nichols. Considerat
for the acquisition was $15.7 million, consistinfgads9.0 million cash payment and a promissory 06t%6.7 million, as well as the
assumption of certain liabilities totaling approxitaly $2.1 million.

*  We recorded $5.6 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tanarket losses on our derivative instrume
* We recorded $5.1 millioaf net periodic pension benefit cost relating t® YEBAS

e The Union VEBA sold 1,321,485 shares of our camratock at a weighted-average price of $39.3%pare, thereby increasing
Union VEBA assets by $52.1 million and increasingc®holders’ equity by $32.5 million (net of tax).

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This Annual Report on Form 104khis "Report")contains statements which constitute “forward-lomkstatements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1996e%$e statements appear throughout this Report ande identified by the use of forw-
looking terminology such as “believes,” “expectsihay,” “estimates,” “will,” “should,” “plans” or “a nticipates” or the negative of the
foregoing or other variations of comparable termuogy, or by discussions of strategy. Readers atgicaed that any such forwa-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performamckinvolve significant risks and uncertaintiesdahat actual results may vary from those
in the forward-looking statements as a result afauss factors. These factors include: the effectess of management’s strategies and
decisions; general economic and business conditieiading cyclicality and other conditions in therospace, automobile and other end
market applications we serve; developments in telclyy; new or modified statutory or regulatory réguments; and changing prices and
market conditions. This Item and Item 1A. “Risk féag’ each identify other factors that could causgual results to vary. No assurance can
be given that these are all of the factors thatld@mause actual results to vary materially from fbewvard-looking statements.

Management’s discussion and analysis of financiati¢tion and results of operations (‘“MD&A”) is dgsied to provide a reader of our
financial statements with a narrative from the pecsive of our management on our financial condijti@sults of operations, liquidity, and
certain other factors that may affect our futursutes. Our MD&A is presented in the following sects:

* Overview

e Management Review of 20b2d Outlook for the Futur

* Results of Operatior

» Certain Information Related to Our Significant TAttributes

» Liquidity and Capital Resourct

» Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitmeats] Off-Balancesheet and Other Arrangeme
»  Critical Accounting Estimates and Polici

* New Accounting Pronouncements;

* Available Informatior

Our MD&A should be read in conjunction with the solidated financial statements and related notdaded in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report.

In the discussion of operating results below, éeitams are referred to as non-run-rate items.pgeoposes of such discussion, non-rate
items are items that, while they may recur fromqbto-period, (i) are particularly material to vits, (ii) affect costs primarily as a result of
external market factors, and (iii) may not recufuiture periods if the same level of underlyingfpenance were to occur. Non-run-rate items
are part of our business and operating environtmeinare worthy of
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being highlighted for the benefit of the userstaf financial statements. Our intent is to allowrssd the financial statements to consider our
results both in light of and separately from itesush as fluctuations in underlying metal pricesura gas prices, and currency exchange rate
For a reconciliation of operating income excluditan-run-rate items to operating income, see “ResflOperationSegment and Business
Unit Information” below.

In addition to non-run-rate items, we also provitfermation regarding value added revenue. Valukeddevenue represents net sales les
the hedged cost of alloyed metal. As discussetduattelow, (i) a fundamental part of our busineg® imitigate the impact of metal price
volatility through pricing policies that pass metakts through to our customers and a hedging anoginat addresses metal price exposure in
circumstances in which we are unable to pass mest through to our customers and (ii) as a redwur pricing policies and hedging
program, fluctuations in underlying metal pricerds directly impact our profitability. Accordinglyalue added revenue is worthy of being
highlighted for the benefit of users of our finaal@tatements. Our intent is to allow users offih@ncial statements to consider our net sales
information both with and without the metal cosimponent thereof. For a reconciliation of value abldevenue to net sales, see “Results of
OperationsSegment and Business Unit Informatidrelow.

Overview

We are a leading North American manufacturer ofidabricated specialty aluminum products for aeszsp/ high strength, general
engineering, automotive, and other industrial aygpions.

At December 31, 2012 , we operated 11 focused ptadufacilities in the United States and one facih Canada that produce rolled,
extruded, and drawn aluminum products used pritigif@ar aerospace and defense, automotive, consdor@bles, electronics, electrical, and
machinery and equipment end market applicationsoddh these facilities, we produced and shippedaqapately 585.9 million pounds of
semi-fabricated aluminum products which compridédfaour total consolidated net sales of approxiha$1,360.1 million during the year
ended December 31, 2012 .

We have long-standing relationships with our cugtenwhich consist primarily of blue-chip comparnigduding leading aerospace
companies, automotive suppliers and metal diswitsuin our served markets, we seek to be the mugyfichoice by providing “Best in Class”
customer satisfaction and offering a broad progoctfolio. We have a culture of continuous improarnthat is facilitated by the Kaiser
Production System (“*KPS”), an integrated applicatd continuous improvement tools such as, amohgret Lean Manufacturing, Six Sigma
and Total Productive Manufacturing. We believe K#P@bles us to continuously reduce our own manufiagteosts, eliminate waste
throughout the value chain, and deliver “Best ing8I' customer service through consistent, on-tietiwety of superior quality products on
short lead times. We strive to tightly integrate thanagement of our operations across multipleyatazh facilities, product lines and our
served markets in order to maximize the efficieatproduct flow to our customers.

A fundamental part of our business model is togait the impact of aluminum price volatility on mash flow. We manage the risk of
fluctuations in the price of primary aluminum thgbueither (i) pricing policies that allow us to pake underlying cost of metal onto custon
or (ii) hedging by purchasing financial derivativesshield us from exposure related to firm-priakes contracts that specify the underlying
metal price plus a conversion price. While we canegally pass metal price movement through to awsts, for some of our higher value
added products sold on a spot basis, the passgthiafumetal price movements can sometimes lag Ioguach as several months, with a
favorable impact to us when metal prices decliree@madverse impact to us when metal prices inerddse average London Metal Exchange
(“LME”) transaction price per pound of primary alumam for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 were $0.92 , $1.@b%h99 , respectively. At
February 13, 2013 , the LME transaction price pamgl was $0.95 .

Our highly engineered products are manufactureddet demanding requirements of aerospace and éefgaiseral engineering,
automotive and other industrial applications. Weehfocused our business on select end market aiplis where we believe we have
sustainable competitive advantages and opportsifitielong-term profitable growth. We believe that differentiate ourselves with “Best in
Class” customer satisfaction and a broad proddetiafy, including superior products in our Kaisdes¢® product line. Our KaiserSele®t
products are manufactured to deliver enhanced ptatharacteristics with improved consistency whigsults in better performance, lower
waste, and, in many cases, lower cost for our ousts.

In the commercial aerospace sector, we believegibaal economic growth and development will conério drive growth in airline
passenger miles. In addition, trends such as lomgees and larger payloads and a focus on fueiefity have increased the demand for new
and larger aircraft. We believe that the Idegn demand drivers, including growing build ratesger airframes and increased use of mono
design (where aluminum plate is heavily machinefibtm the desired part from a single piece of masabpposed to using aluminum sheet,
extrusions or forgings that are affixed to one haptsing rivets, bolts or welds) throughout thausstry will continue to increase demand for
our high strength aerospace plate. We believettbagth of demand is demonstrated by the currgtit-giear backlog for the two primary
manufacturers of commercial aircraft.
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Our products are also sold into defense end magiglications. Ongoing requirements of active mijitangagements continue to drive
demand for our products. Longer term, we expecptbduction of thé=-35, or Joint Strike Fighter, to also drive demandduar high strength
products.

Commercial aerospace and defense applicationsdewanding customer requirements for quality andistency. As a result, there are a
very limited number of suppliers worldwide who grglified to serve these market segments. We bebavriers to entry include significant
capital requirements, technological expertise arigarous qualification process for safety-critieglplications.

We expect the 2013 North American automotive sdutidid rates to increase approximately 2% over 200Rr automotive products
typically have specific performance attributesémts of machinability and/or mechanical propertiesspecific applications across a broad
of North American original equipment manufactur@@EMs”") and automotive platforms. We believe thia#se attributes are not easily
replicated by our competitors and are importaruocustomers, who are typically first tier autometsuppliers. Additionally, we believe that
in North America, from 2001 to 2011, the aluminuxtresion content per vehicle grew at a compoundiahgrowth rate of 3.2% , as
automotive OEMs and their suppliers found oppottesito decrease weight without sacrificing strugtintegrity and safety performance. We
also believe the United States’ Corporate Averagel Economy (“CAFE”) regulations, which increaselfefficiency standards on an annual
basis, will continue to drive growth in demand &uminum extruded components in passenger vetasl@sreplacement for the heavier weigh
of steel components.

Our general engineering products serve the Nortleraan industrial market segments, and demandéset products generally tracks the
broader economic environment.

For purposes of segment reporting under UniteceStgénerally accepted accounting principles (“GAARE treat our Fabricated Produ
segment as its own reportable segment. We combingvo other business units, Secondary Aluminum@arporate and Other into one
category, which we refer to as All Other. All Othgmnot considered a reportable
segment (see Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated EiabStatements included in Item 8. “Financial Sta¢nts and Supplementary Data” of this
Report).

Management Review of 2012 and Outlook for the Futie

Overall Fabricated Products shipment volumes irRdftreased as compared to 2011 , reflecting imgd@conomic conditions and
stronger demand for our aerospace and high stremgtlyeneral engineering end market applicatiomign$ents of aerospace and high strengt
products increased in 2012 due primarily to higtemnand for heat treat plate and sheet for comniereraspace applications. Higher
shipments of general engineering products refleateinproving overall North American economy ane tésulting stronger demand for those
products.

Our 2012 results reflected a 4% increase in FatedcBroducts shipment volume. The Fabricated Ptsdwerage realized prices remainec
flat reflecting higher value added revenue per ploafifiset by lower underlying hedged, alloyed metédes passed through to customers. V
added revenue per pound increased due to a shifixitoward higher margin products during the ya&ad price improvements on some
products.

In 2012 , we (i) pursued a fourth phase of invesina¢ our Trentwood facility in Spokane, Washingtorincrease aerospace plate capacity
by approximately 5% as of the end of 2012, (ii)tomned to ramp up production at our world classaf@hzoo, Michigan casting and extrusion
facility, (iii) continued to improve manufacturirggficiencies to achieve further cost improvememnsreur 2011 performance, (iv) expanded
our product offering of KaiserSeletproducts to meet the needs and specifications ofustomers, and (v) strengthened our financiaitioos
through the issuance of $225 million of 8.250% Sehiotes due 2020 ("Senior Notes").

The long-term prospects for aerospace and highgttigoroducts remain strong, and we continue t@exgtrong demand growth for our
products driven by increasing build rates, largdraames, and continued conversion to monolithisige. We are well positioned to meet this
growing demand with the recent completion of oua$th4 heat treat plate expansion at the Spokanshiigaon facility and the ability to
support future capital efficient expansions as eded keep pace with demand. In 2012, we achieseard value added revenue for aerospac
applications, and we expect continued demand stieng013, albeit at more modest levels of groedmpared to 2012.

While automotive build rates are expected to sholy modest improvements in North America in 201gpared to 2012, we continue to
be optimistic about long-term automotive growth ogtpnities attributable to increasing aluminum aston content and higher build rates.
Demand for our general engineering and industpplieations reflects continued economic uncertaarg weak industrial manufacturing
demand. However with extremely lean inventorieghmsupply chain, we could see accelerated imprenéin demand for these applicatior
confidence levels improve and the U.S. economy thstnates
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sustainable growth. At this time, our visibilitynnains limited and we do not see evidence of a figmt change in demand in 2013.

Longer term, we are well positioned in attractigggwing markets, particularly aerospace and autaotVith improving demand and the
benefit from our organic and acquisition investnseptr long-term earnings potential remains strotg.have a strong platform for capital-
efficient expansion to serve our growing marketsvdadenced by the expansion of our aerospace pdgacity at the Trentwood facility in
Spokane, Washington completed in 2012 as well @isduplate capacity expansion opportunities thatready to launch as we receive clear
demand signals from the marketplace. In additioawill continue to consider complementary acquosisi.

Our focus in 2013 will be:

continuing to differentiate ourselves with adulil KaiserSelect products, “Best In Class” customer satisfactiorgreg delivery
performance, expanded product breadth, and bragbgraphic marketing presence;

continuing to improve the manufacturing efficéas of our facilities to generate additional dogbirovements over our 2012
performance; and

continuing to invest in our facilities to supporbgth and further enhance operating efficien

Results of Operations

Fiscal 2012 Summary

Net sales ir2012 increased to $1,360.1 million compared to &L 3B million for 2011 . The increase included higheabricated
Products segment shipment volume, reflecting imgdosconomic conditions and stronger demand forymtscacross most of our end
markets.

Our operating income for 2012 was $165.9 milkmmpared to operating income of $55.0 million204.1 . Operating income for
2012 included items that we consider to be nonraie; which totaled to a benefit of $18.9 millioprimarily related to non-cash
mark-to-market gains on our derivative instrumesit$15.2 million . Operating income for 2011 inchadsignificant non-run-rate
items totaling to a charge of $31.2 million , priiharelated to non-cash mark-to-market losses wnderivative instruments of $29.9
million . (See further discussion of our operatingome before non-run-rate in “Segment and BusikkssInformation” below.)

Net income f0i2012 was $85.8 million , compared to $25.1 millafmet income for 2011 . Net income for 2012 an@hcluded
the non-run-rate items as discussed above.

Our effective tax provision rate for 2012 was538 (see discussion in “Consolidated Selected Qipeaa and Financial Information -
Income Tax Provision” below).

In May 2012, we issued $225.0 million principahount of Senior Notes resulting in proceeds oB$2illion net of $6.6 million of
initial transaction fees.

We had combined cash balances, short-term imergs, and net borrowing availability under ouralging credit facility of
approximately $618.2 million , with no borrowings of December 31, 2012 .

We paid a total of approximately $19.6 millioar,$1.00 per common share, in cash dividendsoitkeblders, including holders of
restricted stock, and in dividend equivalents ®Hhblders of certain restricted stock units andhiblders of performance shares with
respect to approximately one half of all outstagdgierformance shares.

Our Board of Directors released the stock transé#strictions on 2,202,495 shares of our commaeksowned by a voluntary
employee's beneficiary association (“VEBA”), thabyides benefits for certain eligible retirees ex@nted by certain unions and their
spouses and eligible dependents (the “Union VEBAL R weightedrverage price of $49.31 per share, thereby inargadeEBA asset
by $108.6 million and increasing Stockholders' gghy $67.3 million (net of tax).

Consolidated Selected Operational and Financial émfmation

The table below provides selected operational arah€ial information on a consolidated basis (iflioris of dollars, except shipments and
prices) for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 .

The following data should be read in conjunctiotiwagur consolidated financial statements and thiesithereto included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfeport. See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidatedrkiial Statements included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfReport for further information regarding segnsent
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Year Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In millions of dollars, except shipments and ageraales price)

Shipments (mm Ibs):
Fabricated Products
All Other?

Average Realized Sales Price (per pound):

Fabricated Producfs
All Other*

Net Sales:
Fabricated Products
All Other*

Total Net Sales

Operating Income (Loss):
Fabricated Products *
All Other®

Total Operating Income
Income tax provision

Net Income

Capital Expenditures

585.¢ 560.¢ 514.;
— — 0.4

585.¢ 560.¢ 514.¢

$ 232 $ 23. % 2.1C
$ — % — % 0.9:
$ 1,360.0 $ 1,301 $ 1,078.¢
— — 0.2

$ 1,360.0 $ 1,301 $ 1,079..
$ 190 $ 83€ $ 81.7
(24.9) (28.6) (40.6)

$ 1655 $ 550 $ 411
$ (53.6 $ (162 $ (13.)
$ 856 $ 251 $ 12.
$ 441 $ 325 $ 38.¢

1 Shipments, averaged realized prices and net sall Other in 2010 represent activity involvingipary aluminum purchased by us from
Anglesey Aluminium Limited (“Anglesey”), in which vhave a 49% equity investment while it continuedmelting operations (prior to
September 30, 2009) and resold by us. (See futibeussion in “Segment and Business Unit Infornmetidoelow.)

Average realized prices for our Fabricated Prodsetsnent are subject to fluctuations due to chaimgeoduct mix and underlying
primary aluminum prices, and are not necessardicative of changes in underlying profitability.

3 Operating results in the Fabricated Products segfoe@012 , 2011 and 2010 included non-cash LIF@&ntory (benefits) charge §(4.9'
million , $(7.1) million and $16.5 million , respacely. Also included in the Fabricated Productgreent operating results for 2012 , 2011
and 2010 were $1.1 million , $1.7 million and $1@iflion , respectively, of environmental expenSebricated Products segment
operating results for 2012 and 2010 also included illion and $3.9 milliorof asset impairment charge relating to certain €rtyp plan

and equipment.

4 Fabricated Products segment results for 2012 , 20812010 include non-cash markrarket gains (losses) on primary aluminum, na
gas and electricity hedging activities totaling £Laillion , $(29.9) million and $(0.7) million espectively. For further discussion
regarding mark-to-market matters, see Note 12 ¢édltw Consolidated Financial Statements includdtbim 8. ‘Financial Statements a

Supplementary Data” of this Report.

5 Operating results in All Other represent operatirgenses in the Corporate and Other businessQitrating results of All Other include
VEBA net periodic benefit (income) expense of $8) Inillion , $(6.0) million and $5.1 million for 2@, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

SummaryWe reported net income of $85.8 million for 2012mared to $25.1 million for 2011 and $12.0 millimn 2010 . All periods
include a number of non-run-rate items that areenfigity explained below. See "Segment and BusikkssInformation” below for a detailed

discussion.

Net SalesWe reported Net sales for 2012 of $1,360.1 milli@ompared to $1,301.3 million for 2011 and $1,Q74illion for 2010 . As
more fully discussed below, the increase in Nezsduring 2012 was primarily due to an increadeainricated Products segment shipments.
The average realized sales price per pound compaurtee prior year was flat reflecting higher vaadded revenue offset by lower underlying
metal prices. Fluctuations in the price of primalyminum do not necessarily directly impact prdfiligy because (i) a substantial portion of

business conducted by the Fabricated Products sggme
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passes primary aluminum price changes directlytindo customers and (ii) our hedging activitiesuipport of Fabricated Products segment
firm-price sales agreements limit our losses andsgiaom primary metal price changes.

The increase in Net sales during 2011 compare@16 %vas primarily due to an increase in Fabric®emtlucts segment shipments and an
increase in average realized sales price per poomghared to the prior year. The increase in averaajezed sales price per pound was a resu
of higher value added revenue and higher underlyiatal prices.

Cost of Products Sold, Excluding Depreciation amdoftization and Other Itemg&ost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items for 2012 totaled $&,2 nillion , or 82% of Net sales, compared to 29,0 million , or 87% of Net sales, 2011
and $946.1 million , or 88% of Net sales, in 20Be "Segment and Business Unit Information" bdtmva detailed discussion of the
comparative results of operations for 2012 , 20id 2010 .

Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instrumddisealized (gains) losses on derivative instrumamse $(15.2) million , $29.9 million
and $0.7 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respetyivSuch (gains) losses are related to our omer@thedges to mitigate the our exposure tc
changes in prices for certain products sold andwmed by us and, to a lesser extent, to mitigatexposure to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates.

Restructuring Benefit&Restructuring benefits were $0.3 million in 20J@imarily relating to $1.0 million of revisions estimated
employee termination costs, offset by an additisaestructuring charge of $0.7 million in regardshe impairment of certain Construction in
Progress assets. Restructuring benefits in 201& @8 million reflecting revisions of estimated@ayee termination costs. There were no
restructuring benefits in 2012 .

Depreciation and Amortizatiomepreciation and amortization for 2012 was $26.fianicompared to $25.2 million for 2011 and $19.8
million for 2010 . Depreciation and amortizatiorperse increased in 2012 compared to 2011 primduigyto additional Construction in
progress being placed into service during 2012imection with expansion projects at various féesi Depreciation and amortization
increased in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily du@ toringing on-line certain production equipmealating to our investment in the
Kalamazoo, Michigan facility, (ii) additional demiation expense relating to property, plant andmgent acquired in connection with the
acquisitions of the Florence, Alabama facility ahe Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility, and)(&mortization of intangible assets acquired
in connection with these acquisitions.

Selling, Administrative, Research and Developramd, General Selling, administrative, research and developremd, general expense
totaled $62.2 million in 2012 compared to $62.7lionl in 2011 . The slight decrease during 2012 prawarily due to (i) a $5.9 million
increase in periodic pension benefit income wipeet to the Union VEBA and a VEBA that provide &gts for certain other eligible retiree
their surviving spouses and eligible dependents‘{®alaried VEBA,” and together with the Union VEB#e “VEBAs”)and (ii) a $2.1 milliol
decrease in environmental expense, offset bya(i#is.5 million increase in employee compensatiqgrease related primarily to our incentive
programs as a result of improved operating res{isa $1.2 million increase in workers' compei@aexpense due to increases in case
reserves in 2012, and (v) a $0.7 million incre@sexipense relating to our deferred compensatiam gdaa result of mark-to-market gains on
deferred compensation assets in 2012.

Selling, administrative, research and developnemd,general expense totaled $62.7 million in 2Gdrpmared to $67.7 million in 2010 .
The decrease during 2011 was primarily due (i) & Biillion decrease in net periodic pension berefst with respect to the VEBAs due to
changes in the actuarial estimates, and (ii) a 82llfn decrease in workers' compensation expahseir non-operating locations due to (a)
lower estimated case reserve in 2011, and (b) higtenated incurred but not reported expense®1® 2elating to historical workers'
compensation cases, partially offset by (c) higheurred but not reported expenses in 2011 duedteceease in the discount rate, partially
offset by (iii) an increase of $1.9 million relagimo our long-term and short-term incentive plgig,a $1.9 million increase in environmental
expense at our non-operating locations, (v) aregme in selling expense of $1.7 million primarityaaresult of the acquisition of our Chandler,
Arizona (Extrusion) facility effective January )21 and the acquisition of our Florence, Alabantdifg on August 9, 2010, and (vi) an
increase in research and development expense ohapgately $1.2 million.

Other Operating Charges (Benefit§ther operating charges (benefits) were $4.5 milli§(0.2) million and $4.0 million for 2012 , 2011
and 2010, respectively. Other operating charge20@2 primarily consisted of $4.4 million of impaient charge on two presses that were a
part of idled assets. Other operating charges@@0Zonsisted of $1.9 million of impairment chaingeonnection with the sale of our
Greenwood, South Carolina facility, and $2.0 miiliof impairment charge in regard to certain assg#ting to Construction in progress.

Interest Expensédnterest expense represents cash and non-casesingsipense incurred on our debt instruments ancegalving credit
facility, net of capitalized interest. Interest exge was $29.1 million , $18.0 million and $11.8iani for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectively,
net of $1.7 million , $1.3 million and $2.8 milliaf interest capitalization to Construction in pregs. Interest expense in 2012 was primarily
related to interest expense incurred on our 4.5 Convertible Senior Notes due 2015 (“Convertitddges”) and on our Senior Notes, which
were issued on May 23, 2012. Interest expenseld 20d 2010 were primarily related to interest inedi on the Convertible Notes.
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Other Income (Expense), Nétther income (expense), net was $2.8 million fat20compared to $4.3 million for 2011 and $(4.2jiom
for 2010 . Other income (expense), net for 201eharily consisted of $0.8 million of unrealized madkmarket gains on the derivative
instruments relating to our Convertible Notes, $#@illion of insurance settlement relating to asbestlaims, $0.5 million realized gains on
investments and $0.4 million of interest incomehé&tincome (expense), net for 2011 and 2010 wasapily related to net unrealized mark-to-
market changes on the derivative instruments rejat our Convertible Notes.

Income Tax ProvisiornThe income tax provision for 2012 was $53.8 milljar an effective tax rate of 38.5% . The differemetween the
effective tax rate and the projected blended siajubx rate for 201%vas primarily due to (i) an increase in unrecogaiiax benefits, includir
interest and penalties, of $1.2 million, resultin@ 0.9% increase to the blended statutory taxigian rate, and (ii) the impact of a non-
deductible compensation expense, which resultedh imcrease to the income tax provision of $0.3i@niland the blended statutory tax
provision rate of 0.2%, offset by (iii) a foreigaxtbenefit of $0.6 million, which decreased thendled statutory tax provision rate by 0.4%, anc
(iv) a decrease in the valuation allowance foraiartederal and state net operating losses, wigisthlted in a decrease to the income tax
provision of $0.1 million and the blended statuttay provision rate of 0.1%.

The income tax provision for 2011 was $16.2 millionan effective tax rate of 39.2%. The differebetween the effective tax rate and
projected blended statutory tax rate for 2011 wasarily due to (i) the impact of a non-deductilblEmpensation expense, which resulted in al
increase to the income tax provision of $1.1 milland increased the blended statutory tax provigitsby approximately 2.7%, and (ii) a
foreign tax benefit, resulting primarily from theduction of unrecognized tax benefits, includingiest and penalties, which decreased the
income tax provision by $0.6 million and the bleddgatutory tax provision by 1.5%.

The income tax provision for 2010 was $13.1 millionan effective tax rate of 52.2%. The differebetween the effective tax rate and
projected blended statutory tax rate for 2010 wanarily due to (i) an increase in the valuatiolvatance for certain federal and state net
operating losses, which resulted in an increaslkeetdncome tax provision of $2.1 million and anrg&se to the blended statutory tax provision
rate of 8.4%, (ii) a decrease in state net opagdtisses related to lower state apportionment iioua states of $2.3 million, which increased
the blended statutory rate by 9.2%, (iii) reductiddrunrecognized tax benefits, including interexi penalties, which decreased the income ta:
provision by $1.1 million and the blended statuttany provision rate by approximately 4.4%, and {hg impact of a non-deductible
compensation expense, which resulted in an incrieathe income tax provision of $0.6 million andrieased the blended statutory tax
provision rate by approximately 2.4%.

Derivatives

From time to time, we enter into derivative trang&ars, including forward contracts and optionglitat our economic (i.e., cash) exposure
resulting from (i) metal price risk related to male of fabricated aluminum products and the pueld metal used as raw material for our
fabricated products operations, (ii) energy pris& relating to fluctuating prices of natural gaslalectricity used in our production processes
and (iii) foreign currency requirements with redpecour foreign subsidiaries, investment, and aashmitments for equipment purchases. In
March 2010, in connection with the issuance ofGloavertible Notes, we purchased cash-settled péibs (the “Call Options~jelating to ou
common stock to limit our exposure to the cash eosion feature of the Convertible Notes (see NatéRotes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statemamtd Supplementary Data” of this Report).

We may modify the terms of our derivative contrdmsed on operational needs or financing objectiye®ur hedging activities are
generally designed to lock-in a specified priceaorge of prices, realized gains or losses on thigat&e contracts utilized in the hedging
activities generally offset at least a portion of éosses or gains, respectively, on the transastieing hedged at the time the transactions
occur. However, due to mark-to-market accountinging) the term of the derivative contracts, sigrafit unrealized, non-cash gains and losse
may be recorded in the income statement (see Nbté Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementisided in Item 8. “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data” of this Report). We mag bk exposed to margin calls placed on derivatirdracts, which we try to minimize or
offset through the management of counterparty ttedis, the utilization of options as part of dwedging activities, or both. We regularly
review the creditworthiness of our derivative cauparties and do not expect to incur a signifidass from the failure of any counterparties to
perform under any agreements.

The fair value of our derivatives recorded on tloméblidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 201Paceimber 31, 2011 was $(8.2)
million and $(23.8) million , respectively. The cigge in the aggregate fair value during 2012 wasgnily due to (i) settlement of derivative
positions, (ii) changes in underlying primary alaonin, gas and electricity prices and (iii) a netéase in the fair value of derivatives relate
the Convertible Notes primarily as a result of meréase in our stock price at December 31, 2012 .changes in market value of derivative
contracts resulted in the recognition of a $16.Moni unrealized mark-to-market gain on derivativedich we consider to be a non-run-rate
item (see Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Findi®t@ements included in Item 8. “Financial Statatee@nd Supplementary Data” of this
Report).
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Fair Value Measurement

We apply the fair value hierarchy for the recogmitand measurement of assets and liabilities. Aatas liability’s fair value classification
within the hierarchy is determined based on theskiMevel input that is significant to the fair walmeasurement. In determining fair value, we
utilize valuation techniques that maximize the akebservable inputs and minimize the use of unafadde inputs to the extent possible. We
also consider counterparty risk in our assessnidiairosalue.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilittge measured on a recurring basis. We have elaotdd carry all financial assets and
liabilities at fair value, other than as requirgd®AAP. Financial assets and liabilities that wergat fair value, as required by GAAP, include
(i) our derivative instruments, (ii) the plan asset the VEBAs and our Canadian defined benefismamplan, and (iii) available for sale
securities, consisting of commercial paper andritiestments related to our deferred compensatiam. pl

The majority of our non-financial assets and lidgiki, which include goodwill, intangible assetsyéntories and property, plant, and
equipment, are not required to be carried at falne on a recurring basis. However, if certaingeigng events occur (or at least annually for
goodwill), an evaluation of a non-financial asseliability is required, potentially resulting imadjustment to the carrying amount of such
asset or liability.

Below is a discussion of the fair value inputs tw material financial assets and liabilities meadwand carried at fair value:

Commaodity, Energy, Electricity and Foreign Curremttgdges— The fair values of a majority of these derivatiemttacts are based upon
trades in liquid markets. Valuation model inputa generally be verified and valuation techniquesidbinvolve significant judgment. We,
however, have some derivative contracts that ddvaeé observable market quotes. For these finamsmlments, we use significant other
observable inputs (e.g., information concerningaeal premiums for swaps). Where appropriate, tauna are adjusted for various factors,
such as bid/offer spreads. The fair values of $inamcial instruments are generally classified withevel 2 of the fair value hierarchy (see
Note 13of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements gediin Item 8. “Financial Statements and Suppleargridata” of this Report).

Cash Conversion Feature of the Convertible Notek@all Options— The value of the cash conversion feature of thevEdible Notes is
measured as the difference between the estimatedhfae of the Convertible Notes and the estimdi#gdvalue of the Convertible Notes
without the cash conversion feature. The Call Oystiare valued using a binomial lattice valuatiordeloSee Note 13 of Notes to Consolidate
Financial Statements included in Item 8. “Finan8tdtements and Supplementary Data” of this Réppadditional disclosure regarding these
valuations; such disclosure is incorporated hebgireference.

Employee Benefit Plan and VEBA Assetén determining the fair value of employee benefitnpand VEBA assets, we utilize primarily
results of valuations supplied by the investmenrisads responsible for managing the assets of plach We have no management control
over, or administration role with respect to, eittiee Union VEBA or the Salaried VEBA. Both of tlEBAs are managed and administere:
separate trustees and organizations, and we haventim| over the plan assets. We depend upon BE#A/administrators to provide asset
information to us in a timely, complete and acoaimraanner. The VEBA administrators have no obligat®provide such information to us.

Certain plan assets are valued based upon unadijsteed market prices in active markets that acessible at the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets (e.g., liquid seimsiisted on an exchange). Such assets arefwdssithin Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
Valuation of other invested plan assets is basesignificant observable inputs (e.g., net assetasbf registered investment companies not
listed on an exchange, valuations derived fromadceharket transactions, broker-dealer suppliedatadas, or correlations between a given
U.S. market and a non-U.S. security). Valuation eldabuts can generally be verified and valuatechhiques do not involve significant
judgment. The fair values of such financial instants are classified within Level 2 of the fair va@hierarchy. Our Canadian pension |
assets and the plan assets of the VEBAs are mesanneially on December 31.

Deferred tax asse

At December 31, 2012 , we had $786.8 million of sygrating loss (“NOL”") carryforwards availablergruce future cash payments for
income taxes in the United States. Of the $7861Bomiof NOL carryforwards at December 31, 2012, %million represents excess tax
benefits related to the vesting of employee rastictock which will result in an increase in egifitand when such excess tax benefits are
ultimately realized. The NOL carryforwards expimripdically through 2030. We also had $29.8 milladralternative minimum tax credit
carryforwards with an indefinite life, available aéfset regular federal income tax requirements.
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During 2012, there was a $124.9 million decreagbémet long-term deferred tax assets, which wiasgpily due to (i) a $89.3 million
increase in the deferred tax liability relatedhe tUnion VEBA asset which has no tax basis andh@)utilization of Federal net operating
losses and credit carryforwards which reduced gielaferred tax asset by $33.4 million .

To preserve the NOL carryforwards available toous,certificate of incorporation includes certa@strictions on the transfer of our
common stock. See “Certain Information Related tw Significant Tax Attributes” below for additionmiformation regarding these
restrictions.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax &ssee consider whether it is “more likely thanribtat some portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate medion of deferred tax assets is dependent upogaheration of future taxable income during
the periods in which those temporary differencebee deductible. We consider taxable income inyback years, the scheduled reversal of
deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategiesl projected future taxable income in making tisise@sment. Due to uncertainties surrounding
the realization of some of our deferred tax asgeiarily including state NOLs sustained during irior years and expiring tax benefits, we
have a valuation allowance against our deferreésaets. When recognized, the tax benefits relétimay reversal of this valuation allowance
will be recorded as a reduction of income tax espeifhe (decrease) increase in the valuation atloevavas $(0.1) million , $(1.3) million and
$2.1 million in 2012 , 2011 and 2010, respectiv@lye decrease in the valuation allowance for 2004?2011 was primarily due to the
projected utilization of state NOLs. The increasé¢hie valuation allowance in 2010 was primarily tu¢he expiration of projected state NOLs
as a result of lower state apportionment in vargtase jurisdictions, of which $0.8 million revedsa the first quarter of 2011 due to a change
in tax law in the State of lllinois.

Segment and Business Unit Informatic

Consistent with the manner in which our chief ofiagadecision maker reviews and evaluates our lessinrwe have one operating segmen
which we refer to as Fabricated Products, thatywred semi-fabricated specialty aluminum producish s aluminum sheet and plate and
extruded and drawn products, primarily used in sgoe/high strength, general engineering, automativ other industrial end market
applications. We categorize our products by thesknearket applications as follows: aerospace/higingth products (which we refer to as
Aero/HS products), general engineering productddiwvive refer to as GE products), extrusions foomdgtive applications (which we refer to
as Automotive Extrusions), and other industrialdurcts (which we refer to as Other products).

We also have two other business units, Secondamnilum and Corporate and Other. The Secondary Alumibusiness unit sells value
added products, such as ingot and billet, prodbgefinglesey. The Corporate and Other businesspunoitides general and administrative
support for our operations.

For purposes of segment reporting under GAAP, et tthe Fabricated Products segment as a repos@adpieent and combine the two o
business units, Secondary Aluminum and CorporadeCther, into one category, which we refer to dsOther. All Other is not considered a
reportable segment.

On January 1, 2012, we began reviewing the restitsir primary aluminum hedging activities, whictigo to
January 1, 2012 had been reported in All Othet e results of the Fabricated Products segmeziuse we had begun to conduct such
hedging activities with respect to primary aluminsately for the Fabricated Products segment. Adogty, the results of primary aluminum
hedging activities have been included in the Falbeit Products segment for 2012. Prior period re$alve been conformed to current period
presentation.

The accounting policies of the segment and busineits are the same as those described in Noté\btafs to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements andgenpentary Data” of this Report. Segment resuktseaaluated internally before interest
expense, other expense (income) and income taxes.

Fabricated Product:

The table below provides selected operational avah€ial information (in millions of dollars excegltipments and average realized sales
price) for our Fabricated Products segment for 208211 and 2010 :
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Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Shipments (mm Ibs) 585.¢ 560.¢ 514.2
Composition of average realized sales price (pengh
Average realized sales price $ 23z % 232 $ 2.1C
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (1.0¢) (1.17%) (1.02)
Average realized value added revenue $ 1.2¢ $ 1.1t $ 1.0¢
Composition of net sales:
Net sales $ 1,360.0 % 1,301 $ 1,078.¢
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (623.9 (657.0) (522.9)
Value added revenue $ 736.2 $ 644.: $ 555.¢
Segment Operating Income $ 190.6 % 83t $ 81.7

The table below provides our Fabricated Produdmsat's shipment, hedged cost of alloyed metalievatided revenue, sales and per
pound information (in millions of dollars excepfimments and per pound data) by end market applicafior 2012 , 2011 and 2010 :
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Aero/HS Products:
Shipments (mmlbs) 223.9 192.0 158.9

$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 6951 % 3.1C $ 596.: % 311 $ 467 $ 2.9¢
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (244.¢) (2.09) (219.9 (1.15) (a71.9 (2.0¢)
Value added revenue $ 450% % 201 $ 3765 % 19¢ $ 295< § 1.8¢€
GE Products:
Shipments (mmlbs) 232.7 220.2 217.4

$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 441 % 19C $ 447.C $ 20 $ 409.: $ 1.8¢
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (249.9 (2.07) (271.9) (2.29) (235.9) (1.0¢)
Value added revenue $ 192.C % 08: $ 1752 % 08C $ 174.C $ 0.8C
Automotive Extrusions:
Shipments (mmlbs) 62.8 62.8 54.2

$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 125°&5 % 20C $ 126¢ $ 20z $ 103.C $ 1.9C
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (66.5) (2.0¢) (75.9) (2.20) (57.9 (1.06)
Value added revenue $ 50.C $ 092 $ 51€¢ $ 08z $ 45¢€¢ $ 0.84
Other Products:
Shipments (mmlbs) 66.5 85.9 83.7

$ $/1lb $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 98.1 $ 14¢ $ 1311 $ 152 $ 99.z $ 1.1¢
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (63.9) (0.9¢) (90.2) (1.0%) (58.3) (0.70
Value added revenue $ 347 $ 05z $ 40.¢ $ 0.4t $ 40.¢ $ 0.4¢
Total:
Shipments (mmlbs) 585.9 560.9 514.2

$ $/1lb $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 1,360.. % 23z $ 1,301: % 23z $ 1,078.¢ $ 2.1C
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (623.9 (2.0¢) (657.0) (2.17%) (522.9 (1.02)
Value added revenue $ 7362 $ 12¢ $ 6447 $ 1.1t $§ 555¢ $ 1.0¢

For 2012, Net sales of fabricated products in@edry 5% to $1,360.1 million , as compared to 20dde primarily to a 4% increase in
shipments. The increase in shipments was compois@fia 17% increase in Aero/HS products shipmenitmarily due to higher commercial
aerospace demand for plate and sheet productsipad¥ increase in GE products shipments reftgctiigher demand in the general
engineering end use market, (iii) offset by a 238¢rdase in Other Products shipments. Average eeladiales price increased slightly,
reflecting higher value added revenue per poundtiymoffset by a decrease in hedged, alloyed npeteés as compared to 2011 .

For 2011, Net sales of fabricated products increaye21% to $1,301.3 million, as compared to $1,.878illion in 2010, due primarily to
10% increase in average realized sales price &6 imcrease in shipments. The increase in shipnvesgscomprised of (i) a 21% increase in
Aero/HS products shipments primarily due to higt@mmmercial aerospace demand for plate and shegtigioas well as the inclusion of
shipments out of the acquired Chandler, Arizonar{iston) and the Florence, Alabama facilities, ii) 6% increase in Automotive Extrusions
shipments as we saw new aluminum automotive exinyziograms using our products ramp up as welhas@ease in existing programs due
to the increase in North
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American automotive build rates, and (iii) moderatreases in shipments and mix shifts among oua@®EOther products. Average realized
sales price increased, reflecting both higher valied revenue per pound and higher hedged, allogeal prices as compared to 2010.

Operating income in the Fabricated Products segfme2012 , 2011 and 2010 included several largenum-rate items. These items are
listed below (in millions of dollars):

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Operating income $ 190.¢ $ 83t $ 81.7
Impact to operating income of non-run-rate items:
Adjustments to plant-level LIFO 2.9 (0.2) (0.6
Mark-to-market gains (losses) on derivative insteais 15.2 (29.9 (0.7
Workers' compensation expense due to a changsdoutit raté (0.2) (3.9 —
Restructuring benefits — 0.2 0.2
Asset impairment charges (4.9 — (3.9
Environmental expenses (1.7 (1.7 (13.6)
Total non-run-rate items 7.2 (34.¢ (18.5)
Operating income excluding non-run-rate items $ 183¢ % 1182 $ 100.2

! We manage our Fabricated Products segment bugsinessnonthly last-in, first-out ("LIFO") basis ach plant, but report inventory
externally on an annual LIFO basis in accordandk GAAP on a consolidated basis. This amount remtssthe conversion from GAAP
LIFO applied on a consolidated basis for the Falteid Products segment to monthly LIFO applied pfaat-by-plant basis.

Amount represents a portion of the workers' comaiéms expense in 2011 resulting from the changlendiscount rates applied in
estimating workers compensation liabilities. Wesidar such expense to be non-run-rate becauseasustints are not related to the
incurrence and resolution of workers compensatiaims. Non run-rate workers' compensation expem&910 was not material because
discount rates did not fluctuate significantly.

As noted above, operating income excluding iderdifion-run-rate items for 2012 was $65.4 millioghter than for 2011 . Operating
income excluding identified non-run-rate items 201 was $18.0 million higher than for 2010 . Tieréase in operating income excluding
non-run-rate items for 2012 as compared to 201f@n2011 as compared to 2010 reflects the impghigher net sales due to higher pricing,
higher volume and mix.

Outlook

Weak fourth quarter demand conditions for manywfend market applications have continued in tis §uarter as uncertain global
economic conditions and weak North American indasimanufacturing demand continue to cloud our fieem visibility for general
engineering and industrial applications. Autometbwild rates in the first half of 2013 are expddtebe essentially flat with the prior year
period, and as a result of an inventory overhartgensupply chain for aerospace extruded and dpeducts, we anticipate demand for
aerospace applications, other than high strengtie plvill be dampened in the first half 2013. Ollerith limited visibility, we expect that
value added revenue and the margin of earningsééafterest, tax, depreciation and amortizatiovalne added revenue in the first half of
2013 will be flat or slightly improved comparedtte first half of 2012.

Although our outlook for the first half is cautiquse remain very positive in our outlook for theaed half of 2013 and the long-term
outlook for the Company. We anticipate continuathlderm growth in our overall value added revemu @perating results driven by strong
demand for aerospace and automotive applications.

All Other

All Other consists of the Secondary Aluminum bus@enit and the Corporate and Other businessAlhiDther is not considered a
reportable segment.
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Secondary Aluminunwe own a 49% interest in Anglesey, which owns gperates a secondary aluminum remelt and castirlgyac
Holyhead, Wales. Anglesey sells 49% of the secgndiaminum ingot and billet it produces to us, whige resell to a third party, receiving a
portion of a premium over normal commodity marketgs in transactions structured to largely elingénaur metal price and currency
exchange rate risks with respect to our incomecasti flow related to Anglesey. Because we in substact as an agent in connection with
sales of secondary aluminum produced by Anglesatysecondary aluminum sales are presented neeafo$t of sales. Accordingly, net sales
and operating income in 2012 and 2011 were zergalosure or change in the operating status of Asggls cast and remelt facility would not
have a material impact to our financial resultiquidity. Shipments, net sales and operating inedar 2010 were 0.4 (in mm Ibs), $0.3
million , and $0.1 million , respectively, repretiag residual activity of primary aluminum purchdfeom Anglesey while it operated as a
smelter (prior to September 30, 2009) and resoldsiiy the first quarter of 2010.

See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Btat#s included in our Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfe year ended December 31,
2010 for additional details on our investment inghasey and the suspension of equity method of adoauwith respect to our ownership in
Anglesey.

Corporate and OthefThe Corporate and Other business unit providesastifigr our operations and incurs general and adtnative
expenses that are not allocated to other busimésar segments. The table below presents thedhganon-run-rate items to operating
expense within the Corporate and Other businedfam?2012 , 2011 and 2010 (in millions of dollars)

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Operating expense $ (249 $ (28.6) $ (40.7%)
Impact to operating expense of non-run-rate items:
VEBA net periodic benefit income (cost) 11.¢ 6.C (5.2
Environmental expense (0.2 (2.2 (0.3
Workers' compensation expense due to a changsdoutit raté — (0.7) —
Other operating benefits (charges) — 0.2 (0.7)
Total non-run-rate items 11.7 3.4 (5.5)
Operating expense excluding non-run-rate items $ (36.6 $ (320 $ (35.9

1 We have no claim over the VEBAS' plan assets ngrasponsibility for the VEBAs' accumulated posterhent obligations. Our only
financial obligations to the VEBAs are to pay annuaiable contributions and certain administratiges. Nevertheless, based on
discussions with the staff of the SEC, for accaumfpurposes we treat the postretirement medicafliseio be paid by the VEBAs and ¢
related annual variable contribution obligationglened benefit postretirement plans with the entVEBA assets and future variable
contributions, and earnings thereon, operating@aon the benefits to be paid. Accordingly, weord net periodic postretirement ben
income (costs), which we consider to be non-rug;raind record any difference between the asseabf of the VEBAs and its
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation in@ansolidated financial statements. See Noteatés to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements andgenpentary Data” of this Report for additional infation relating to the VEBASs.

2 Amount represents a portion of the workers' comaims expense in 2011 resulting from the changleérdiscount rates applied in
estimating workers compensation liabilities. Wesidar such expense to be non-run-rate becauseasuohnts are not related to the
incurrence and resolution of workers compensatiaims. Non-run-rate workers' compensation expen&912 and 2010 were not
material because discount rates did not fluctugtgficantly.

Corporate and Other operating expenses excludingumo-rate items for 2012 were $4.6 million higkteain such expenses for 2011 . The
increase primarily reflects (i) a $2.3 million ie@se in employee compensation expense relatingr tmeentive programs due to better
operating results in 2012, (ii) a $1.2 million ieese in salaries and wages expense and (iii) andilli@n of increase workers' compensation
expense (excluding the impact of the change inodistrate applied in estimating workers' compensatabilities) related to our nooperating
locations due to higher estimated incurred butreported expenses in 2012.

Corporate and Other operating expenses excludinguo-rate items for 2011 were $3.2 million lowlean such expenses for 2010 . The
decrease primarily reflects (i) lower workers' cangation expense (excluding the impact of the obhamg
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discount rate applied in estimating workers' consagéion liabilities) related to our non-operatingdtions of $2.9 million due to higher
estimated incurred but not reported expenses i0 28Ating to historical workers' compensation samed lower estimated case reserve in
2011, (ii) lower medical expense of $1.6 millioredw a reduction in medical claims and incurredrmitreported expense relating to our
retired employees, partially offset by (i) a $0.8lion increase in employee compensation expenis¢img to salaries and wages and our
incentive programs and (ii) a $0.4 million incre@s@rofessional fees and general and adminisgaipenses.

Certain Information Related to Our Significant Tax Attributes

We have significant federal income tax attributesluding sizable net operating loss carry-forwatdsder Section 382(1)(5) of the Code
(“Section 382"), our ability to use our federal ime tax attributes following a more than 50% changavnership during any period of 36
consecutive months, all as determined under the Caal “ownership change”) would be limited annuétlyan amount equal to the product of
(i) the aggregate value of our outstanding comniamess immediately prior to the ownership change(anthe applicable federal lontgrm ta
exempt rate in effect on the date of the ownershgnge.

To reduce the risk that an ownership change uneetich 382 would jeopardize our ability to fullyeusur federal income tax attributes,
certificate of incorporation prohibits certain tséers of our equity securities without the priopegval of our Board of Directors if either (a) 1
transferor holds 5% or more of the total fair maskaue of all of our issued and outstanding egségurities (such person, a “5% shareholder
or (b) as a result of such transfer, either (i) pagson or group of persons would become a 5% sblaker or (ii) the percentage stock
ownership of any 5% shareholder would be increéaed such transfer, a “5% transaction”).

Issuances of new common shares also must be cozgitiedetermining whether an ownership changeohesrred under Section 382. We
estimate that we can currently issue approximat8lg million common shares without triggering amewship change. However, 5%
transactions would decrease the number of commareshve can issue during any 36 month period withiggering an ownership change
and impairing our ability to use our federal incotae attributes. Similarly, any issuance of comrsbares by us would limit the number of
shares that could be transferred in 5% transactlbasany time we were to issue the maximum nunab€ommon shares without triggering
an ownership change under Section 382, there dmuttb 5% transactions during the 36-month periedeifter without potentially impairing
our ability to use of our federal income tax atités.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Summary

The following table summarizes our liquidity at #ed of the periods presented (in millions of dglja

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Available cash and cash equivalents $ 273+ % 49.¢
Short-term investments 85.C —
Net borrowing availability on revolving credit féity after borrowings and letters of credit 259.¢ 251.¢
Total liquidity $ 618.. $ 301.4

Cash and cash equivalents were $273.4 million aebder 31, 2012 , compared to $49.8 million at bdmmr 31, 2011 . The increase in
cash and cash equivalents and short term invessmeas primarily driven by $218.4 million of net peeds from the issuance of the Senior
Notes. Cash equivalents consist primarily of momeyket accounts and investments with an originaunts of 90 days or less whe
purchased. We place our cash in bank deposits améyrmarket funds with high credit quality finaréiestitutions which invest primarily in
commercial paper and time deposits of prime quadityrt-term repurchase agreements, and U.S. gmegrtnagency notes. Additionally, some
of our cash equivalents and all of our short-temrestments are invested in commercial paper.

In addition to our unrestricted cash and cash edgints described above, we have restricted caslisthbedged or held as collateral in
connection with workers¢ompensation requirements and certain other agmsferom time to time, such restricted funds cdiddeturned t
us or we could be required to pledge additionahc8ort-term restricted cash, which is include®iiapaid expenses and other current assets
declined to $1.3 million at December 31, 2012 fi$m8 million at December 31, 2011 as funds held frust account in the amount of $6.9
million were returned to us in 2012. Long-term nieséd cash, which is included in Other Assets, #E3.0 million at December 31, 2012 and
$10.4 million at December 31, 2011 .
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We and certain of our subsidiaries have a credéegent with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as admatigé agent, and the other financ
institutions party thereto (see Note 4 of Note€tmsolidated Financial Statements in Iltem 8. “FamariStatements and Supplementary Data”
of this Report). There were no borrowings underrewplving credit facility as of December 31, 20r2December 31, 2011 .

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows froperating, investing and financing activities f@12 , 2011 and 2010 (in millions of
dollars):

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Total cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Fabricated Products $ 2012 % 105.¢ $ 103.¢
All Other (48.9) (43.]) (37.5)
$ 1522 % 62.¢ $ 66.2
Investing activities:
Fabricated Products $ (43.5) $ (115.9) $ (42.2)
All Other (78.9 (1.0 (4.2)
$ (1219 $ (116.9) $ (46.9)
Financing activities:
Fabricated Products $ 4.8 % 8.4 $ —
All Other 197.¢ (23.9 85.
$ 1931 $ (3239 $ 85.

Operating Activities

Fabricated Products— In 2012 , Fabricated Products segment operatingitaes provided $201.3 million of cash. Cash padwrdl in 2012
was primarily related to operating income excludig-run-rate items and depreciation and amortinatf $209.6 million and change in
working capital. Our inventory decreased by $22ifian due to inventory reduction efforts in 201Qther accrued liability increased by $6.0
million primarily due to an increase in accruedsigls and wages reflecting higher sherm incentive compensation driven by better ojireg:
results. Such increases in operating cash flow wargally offset by an increase in accounts reaigiie of $24.8 million which resulted
primarily from the elimination of customer cashddiants. In addition, there was a decrease in mgiterm assets and liability of $4.4 million
primarily due to recognition of deferred revenue.

In 2011 , Fabricated Products segment operatingtées provided $105.9 million of cash. Cash pderd in 2011 was primarily related to
operating income excluding non-run-rate items agpteciation and amortization of $143.0 million amdincrease in accounts payables of
$11.4 million due to an increase in general busiesivities and the timing of payment, partialffset by an increase in inventory of
$31.8 million due to inventory build in anticipatiof higher sales and an increase in accountsvaddei of $9.9 million due to increase in sa

In 2010 , Fabricated Products segment operatingtées provided $103.8 million of cash. Cash pderd in 2010 was primarily related to
operating income excluding non-run-rate items agpreciation and amortization of $119.6 million ,imacrease in accounts payables and othe
accrued liabilities (excluding changes in shortrteteferred revenue) of $10.3 million due to inceeimsgeneral business activities and an
increase of $8.5 million in deferred revenue relgismarily to cash received during the period fronstomers in advance of periods for which
(i) production capacity is reserved, (i) custornemmitments have been deferred or reduced opéiilormance is completed. The foregoing
cash inflows were partially offset by an increaséventory of $40.4 million due to inventory buildanticipation of higher sales.

For additional information regarding Fabricatedd®rcts operations income excluding non-run-rate stesee “Results of Operations
Segment and Business Unit Informati@bove.
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All Other— Cash used in operations in All Other is comprisk@l)@ash used in Corporate and Other activities] (ii) cash flows from
Anglesey-related operating activities.

Corporate and Other operating activities used $4llibn , $41.5 million and $46.0 million of casturing 2012 , 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Cash outflow from Corporate and Otyprating activities in 2012 consisted primarifypayments relating to (i) general and
administrative costs of $25.9 million and (i) irést on our Senior Notes, Convertible Notes, amdlving credit facility of $19.4 million, and
(iii) our incentive programs in the amount of $#lion. Cash outflow from Corporate and Other aggrg activities in 2011 consisted
primarily of payments in respect of cash generd @aiministrative costs of $27.8 million, $9.7 naitli of interest payment relating to the
Convertible Notes and the revolving credit faciéyd $2.2 million of variable VEBA contribution. §laoutflow from Corporate and Other
operating activities in 2010 consisted primarilypafyments in respect of cash general and admitngreosts of $27.4 million, $5.5 million of
interest payment relating to the Convertible Nated the revolving credit facility, $2.8 million g&riable VEBA contribution and $2.1 million
of environmental costs.

Anglesey-related activities (used) provided $(6r@ljion , $(1.6) million and $8.5 million of cash 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectively.
Operating cash flows for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 weleged to changes in accounts receivable and fay@aln affiliate. As discussed in
"Results of Operations" above, Anglesey sells 48%e secondary aluminum ingot and billet it proglsito us, which we resell to a third pa
receiving a portion of a premium over normal comityocharket prices in transactions structured tgédy eliminate our metal price and
currency exchange rate risks with respect to ozorite and cash flow related to Anglesey. As sucsh flaws generated or used by Anglesey-
related activities reflect only timing differencesating to the collection of accounts receivalyld payment to Anglesey. It has no impact on
our long-term liquidity.

Investing Activitie:

Fabricated Products— Cash used in investing activities for FabricateadRcts was $43.5 million in 2012 , compared to $3 Ibillion of
cash used in 2011 and $42.2 million of cash us@®i® . Cash used in 2012 is primarily relateduoaapital expenditures. Cash used in 201
reflected $83.2 million used for the acquisitionoof Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility and $B2nillion used for capital expenditures.
Cash used in investing activities in 2010 was prilyaelated to our capital expenditures. See “@afExpenditures and Investments¥low fol
additional information.

All Other— Investing activities in All Other is generally redd to activities in restricted cash and capitgesditures within the Corporate
and Other business unit. We have restricted castepasit as financial assurance for certain enuiemtal obligations and workers’
compensation claims from the State of Washingt@shQised in investing activities for All Other cigi2012 of $78.4 million primarily
represents the purchase of $85.0 million of skenia investments offset by the return of $6.9 mwiillof restricted cash previously held in a ti
account. Cash used in investing activities in 28ldomprised of deposit of $1.0 million of resteildtcash relating to workers' compensation,
$0.4 million of capital expenditures and $0.3 miflipayment to purchase available for sale secsiiitieonnection with our deferred
compensation plan, partially offset by $0.7 millicessh proceeds from the sale of property. Cashinsedesting activities in 2010 is
comprised primarily of the purchase of $4.4 millmiravailable for sale securities in connectiontvatir deferred compensation plan, a return
of $1.1 million of restricted cash to us relatingniorkers' compensation deposit, partially offse$b.9 million of capital expenditures.

Financing Activities

Fabricated Products— Cash used in financing activities for Fabricatedd®cts in 2012 was $4.8 million , relating to tepayment of
outstanding principal balance of a promissory ggeed in connection with the Company's acquisitibthe Florence, Alabama facility. Cash
used in financing activities for Fabricated Produnot2011 of $8.4 million was related to a $7.0lionil full repayment of the outstanding
principal balance of the promissory note in conioectvith the purchase of the land and building of bos Angeles, California facility and
principal payments in respect of the note issuedsiiyn connection with the acquisition of our Fluze, Alabama facility.

All Other— Cash provided by financing activities in 2012 wa9%9 million , primarily representing (i) net pesgs of $218.4 million
from the issuance of the Senior Notes and (ii) $iilBon of additional tax benefit in connectiontivithe vesting of employee restricted stock,
restricted stock units and performance sharesafiproffset by (iii) $19.6 million of cash dividels paid to our stockholders, including holders
of restricted stock, and dividend equivalents paitlolders of restricted stock units and to holadnserformance shares with respect to
approximately one-half of the performance sharels(af) $2.2 million of cash used to repurchase @ammon stock to satisfy withholding
taxes resulting from the vesting of employee ret&d stock, restricted stock units and performaeges.

Cash used in financing activities in 2011 was $28illon , primarily representing (i) $18.9 millioof cash dividends paid to our
stockholders, including holders of restricted staukd dividend equivalents paid to holders of ret&td stock units and

40




Table of Contents

to holders of performance shares with respect poagimately one half of performance shares, (iijl%®illion of financing costs paid in
connection with the amendment of our revolving éritility and (i) $3.1 million of cash used tepurchase our common stock to satisfy
employees' minimum statutory withholding taxes h&sg from the vesting of employee restricted sta@stricted stock units and performance
shares.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2010 w&8.8 million . The cash inflow was primarily reldtto the issuance of the Convertible
Notes and related transactions. We received $I168lidn of net proceeds from the Convertible Notéfering after deducting the initii
purchasers’ discounts and transaction fees andafe@sxpenses of $5.8 million. In connection with issuance of the Convertible Notes, we
paid $31.4 million to purchase the Call Options eekived $14.3 million for issuing net-share-geltivarrants (the "Warrants"). In addition,
we used $44.2 million of the net proceeds fromGbavertible Notes transaction to repurchase appratély 1.2 million shares of our comm
stock. In addition to the financing transactiorlatiag to the Convertible Notes, we also paid $illion in cash dividends to our
stockholders, including holders of restricted staukd dividend equivalents to holders of restricmtk units and to holders of performance
shares with respect to approximately one half ofgpeance shares in 2010 .

Sources of Liquidity

We believe our available cash and cash equivalshtsi-term investments, borrowing availability endur revolving
credit facility, and funds generated from the expdcesults of operations are our most significauirces of liquidity. We
believe these sources will be sufficient to finanoe cash requirements, including those associaitdour planned capital expenditures and
investments, for at least the next 12 months. Nbeégss, our ability to fund our working capitafjpirements, debt service obligations, VEBA
variable contribution, and planned capital expandi and investments will substantially depend uparfuture operating performance (which
will be affected by prevailing economic conditiotasid financial, business and other factors, sonvehath are beyond our control.

Our revolving credit facility matures in SeptemB6€i16 and provides for borrowings up to $300.0 werill{subject to borrowing base
limitations), of which up to a maximum of $60.0 heih may be utilized for letters of credit. Our mving credit facility may, subject to certain
conditions and the agreement of lenders thereubeancreased up to $350.0 million .

The table below summarizes recent availability asage of our revolving credit facility (in millioref dollars except for borrowing rate):

December 31, February 13,
2012 2013

Revolving credit facility borrowing commitment $ 300.C $ 300.(
Borrowing base availability $ 266.7 $ 260.¢
Outstanding borrowings under revolving credit fiagil $ — 3 —
Outstanding letters of credit under revolving ctéacility $ 6 $ 6.6
Net remaining borrowing availability $ 259.¢ $ 254.(
Borrowing rate (if applicablée) 4.C% 4.C%

1 Such borrowing rate, if applicable, representsikerest rate for any overnight borrowings underriévolving credit facility

We do not believe that covenants contained in ewnlving credit facility are reasonably likely it our ability to raise additional debt or
equity should we choose to do so during the nexhtgths, nor do we believe it is likely that durithg next 12 months we will trigger the
availability threshold that would require measurargl maintaining a fixed charge coverage ratio.

See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Suppieang Data” of this Report for a
description regarding our revolving credit facijisuch description is incorporated herein by rafeee

Debt

See “Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitraganhd Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangeme@tmitractual Obligations and
Commercial Commitmentselow for mandatory principal and cash interesgmpents on the outstanding borrowings under thes&tible
Notes (assuming no early conversions thereof) hadGenior Notes for each of the periods ending Dbee 31. SeNote 3 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “FaiariStatements and Supplementary Datiathis Report for further details of the Convele
Notes and the Senior Note
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As of December 31, 2012 , the Convertible Notesewet convertible. We do not expect the Convertitidées to be
converted by investors prior to the first quarteR@15 (if at all). See Note 3 of Notes to Consaletl Financial Statements in Item Birfancial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Repoiinformation on the circumstances in which the
Convertible Notes will become convertible prioJemuary 1, 2015.

We do not believe that covenants in the indentgoe®rning the Convertible Notes and the Senior dlate reasonably
likely to limit our ability to obtain additional dx or equity financing should we choose to do sonduthe next 12 months.
See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Btatgs in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Suppiearg Data” of this Report for further
descriptions regarding the Convertible Notes ared3@nior Notes; such descriptions are incorporiadeelin
by reference.

Capital Expenditures and Investments

A component of our long-term strategy is our cdmtgenditure program including our organic grovviitiatives and
value-creating acquisitions. Total capital expemais were $44.1 million , $32.5 million and $38.8lion for 2012 , 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

A substantial portion of capital spending durind2®as related to projects at our Spokane, Washinfgicility to increase aerospace pl
capacity. During 2011, over half of our capital sgi@g was at our Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) lfacand at our Spokane, Washington
facility primarily on projects to increase capaditymeet growing demand for aerospace extrusioddaat treat plate applications. Our
Kalamazoo, Michigan extrusion and remelt faciligngrised a small portion of expenditures in 201d e majority of our capital
expenditures in 2010. The facility improves theatalities, product quality and efficiency of ourfisalloy rod and bar operations and provides
a platform for future growth for extrusion applicats. The rest of our capital spending in 2012,1284d 2010 was spread among our
manufacturing locations on projects expected tocedperating costs, improve quality, increase ciyoar enhance operational security.

In 2013, we anticipate significant capital spendingluding a new $35 million casting unit at oygpoRane, Washington facility to expand
our rolling ingot capacity. In total, we expect tapexpenditures and investments in 2013 for Faeid Products will be in the $50.0 millior
$80.0 million range, depending on the timing of Bfease 5 heat treat plate capacity expansion. &apiestment will be funded using cash
generated from operations, available cash andegsivalents, short-term investments, borrowingseuatide revolving credit facility and/or
other third-party financing arrangements.

The level of anticipated capital expenditures maydjusted from time to time depending on our lessplans, our price outlook for
fabricated aluminum products, our ability to maintadequate liquidity and other factors. No assteazan be provided as to the timing of any
such expenditures or the operational benefits drpgaberefrom.

Dividends

During 2012, 2011 and 2010, we paid a total &.6illion , $18.9 million and $19.0 million , 1.00 , $0.96 and $0.96 per common
share, respectively, in cash dividends to our stolders, including the holders of restricted staokd in dividend equivalents to the holders of
restricted stock units and the holders of perforteashares with respect to approximately one hali@performance shares issued under our
equity and performance incentive plan.

On January 14, 2013, we announced that our Bddbirectors approved the declaration of a quartedgh dividend of $ 0.3%er commol
share, or $5.9 million (including dividend equivatis), which was paid on or about February 15, 2018ockholders of record at the close of
business on January 25, 2013 .

The future declaration and payment of dividendany, will be at the discretion of our Board of &itors and will depend
on a number of factors, including our financial aperating results, financial condition, and apited cash requirements and
contractual restrictions under our revolving crdddility and the indenture for our Senior Notespther indebtedness we may incur in the
future. We can give no assurance that dividendsbeiteclared and paid in the future.

Repurchases of Common Sto

Our Board of Directors has approved a programHerrepurchase of up to $75.0 million of our commabares in June 2008. During 2012 ,
2011 and 2010, we purchased no shares undertgsam, and as of December 31, 2012 , $46.9 milleonained available under this
repurchase authorization. The program may be meztldi terminated by our Board of Directors at amet All shares repurchased under this
stock repurchase program were treated as trealsargs The indenture governing our Senior Notesoandevolving credit facility places
limitations on, among other things, our abilityrgpurchase
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common stock. For additional information, see Nd#nd Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financiale®tants in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report.

During the first quarter of 2010, in connectionwiihe issuance of the Convertible Notes, and puatdoaa separate authorization from our
Board of Directors, we repurchased approximatetyniillion shares of our outstanding common stoek®#4.2 million, in privately negotiate
off-market transactions.

Under our Amended and Restated 2006 Equity andfeaince Incentive Plan, participants may electteehus withhold common shares
to satisfy minimum statutory tax withholding obligas arising in connection with the vesting of ngsted shares, restricted stock units and
performance shares. Any such shares withheld areeted by us on the applicable vesting dates, wtnctespond to the times at which incc
to the employee is recognized. When we withholdeheommon shares, we are required to remit togheogriate taxing authorities the fair
value of the shares withheld as of the vesting.ddte number of shares withheld is determined basatie closing price per common share a
reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on datés. During 2012 , we withheld 45,801 shareaoimon stock to satisfy employees'
minimum statutory tax withholding obligations. Tiwéhholding of common shares by us on the vestiaig s deemed a purchase of the
common shares.

Restrictions Related to Equity Capit

As discussed in “Certain Information Related to Significant Tax Attributes” above, Note 8 of NotesConsolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statermamtd Supplementary Datand elsewhere in this Report, there are restristamthe transfi
of our common shares. These restrictions are ieihal reduce the risk that an ownership changamiditte criteria under Section 382 would
jeopardize our ability to fully use our federal émee tax attributes

Environmental Commitments and Contingenci

We are subject to a number of environmental lavidsragulations, potential fines or penalties assbfsealleged breaches of the
environmental laws and regulations, and to potkaol#&ms and litigation based upon such laws agdilaions. We have established proced
for regularly evaluating environmental loss congéingies, including those arising from environmergaiews and investigations and any other
environmental remediation or compliance matters. @wironmental accruals represent our undiscougséichate of costs reasonably expecte
to be incurred based on presently enacted lawsegndations, existing requirements, currently alal# facts, existing technology, and our
assessment of the likely remediation actions ttaken.

During the third quarter of 2010, we increasedenwironmental accruals in connection with our sudsioin of a draft feasibility study to
the Washington State Department of Ecology on $eipée 8, 2010. The draft feasibility study includedommendations for a range of
alternative remediations to primarily address tis¢ohical use of oils containing polychlorinategbényls, or PCBs, at our Spokane,
Washington facility which may be implemented over hext 30 years. During 2011, we continued to watk the Washington State
Department of Ecology to revise the draft feadiptitudy and to determine viable remedial approsche

After public comment and agency review, we submittethe Washington State Department of Ecologyg$#iington State Ecology”) a
final feasibility study which included recommenaais for remediation alternatives to primarily addréhe historical use of oils containing
polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs, at our Spok&dashington facility. During the third quarter @312, we signed an amended work order
with Washington State Ecology allowing certain rellm#on activities to begin and to initiate a tedaitity study in regards to proposed PCB
remediation methods. We continue to work with Wiagton State Ecology in developing the implementatiork plans, which are subject to
Washington State Ecology approval. We expect tarbiegplementation of approved work plans sometim&@13.

At December 31, 2012 , environmental accruals df Bnillion represented our best estimate of tieeemental cost based on proposed
alternatives in the final feasibility study relatedour Spokane, Washington facility and on invgetional studies and other remediation
activities occurring at certain other locations edrby us. We expect that these remediation actidlhbe taken over the next 30 years.

As additional facts are developed, feasibility s¢scare completed, draft remediation plans are figallinecessary regulatory approval for
the implementation of remediation are obtained@rattive technologies are developed, and/or ot@ofs change, there may be revisions to
management’s estimates, and actual costs may eKoeedrrent environmental accruals. We believbiattime that it is reasonably possible
that undiscounted costs associated with theseammgntal matters may exceed current accruals byiatsohat could be, in the aggregate, up
to an estimated $18.7 million over the next 30 geliis reasonably possible that our recordednedé will change in the next 12 months .

Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments, aml Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangements
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

We are obligated to make future payments undeowuartontracts such as long-term purchase obligatiod lease agreements. We have
grouped these contractual obligations into opegadittivities, investing activities and financingigities in the same manner as they are
classified in our Statements of Consolidated Cdstvéincluded in Item 8. “Financial Statements &upplemental Data” in order to provide a
better understanding of the nature of the obligetiand to provide a basis for comparison to hisabinformation.

The following table provides a summary of our siigint contractual obligations at December 31, 2@i#llars in millions):

Payments Due by Period

2018 and
Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Operating activities!
Purchase obligations $ 298 $ 285¢ $ 81 $ 0t $ 0t $ 0t % 2.t
Operating leases 48.C 4.7 4.2 3.4 2.t 2.C 31.2
Deferred revenue arrangement 6.7 6.7 — — — — —
Investing activities?
Capital equipment 1.2 1.2 — — — — —
Financing activities?
Principal on the Convertible Notés 175.C — — 175.C — — —
E:ash Interest on the Convertible No 10.7 7 ¢ 7 ¢ 3¢ . . .
Principal on the Senior Notés 225.( — — — — — 225.(
Interest on the Senior Notés 139.2 18.€ 18.€ 18.€ 18.€ 18.€ 46.2
Commitment fees on revolving credit
facility ® 5.€ 1kt 1kt 1kt 1.1 — —
Other:
VEBA contribution® 21.t 20.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 —
Standby letters of credit 8.3 — — — 6.S — —
Uncertain tax liabilitie$ 15.1 — — — — — —
Deferred compensation plan liability 5.8 — — — — — —
Total contractual ob|igatiorfs $ 969.1 $ 346.6 $ 40 $ 2032 $ 29¢ $ 214 $ 304.¢

! See “Obligations for Operating Activities” below.

2 See “Obligations for Investing Activities” below.

3 See “Obligations for Financing Activities” below.

4 The timing of the principal payment with respecthie Convertible Notes assumes that no early ceimreoccurs. Interest obligations on

the Convertible Notes and Senior Notes are basextloeduled interest payments.

Future commitment fees are estimated based omtbarst of unused credit under our revolving crealiility at December 31, 2012 and
assuming no extension of terms beyond the curremanity date of our revolving credit facility whigh September of 2016.

Except for the variable cash contribution to be endthe first quarter of 2013 with respect to #8042 calendar year and the annual
administration fees to the VEBAS, total contractlaligations exclude future annual variable casftriloutions to the VEBAS, which
cannot be determined at this time. See “Off-BalabBlseet and Other Arrangements” below for a desorigif our annual variable cash
obligations to the VEBAs.

Of the $8.3 million of standby letters of credit,.4 million represents cash collateralized and $6ilBon represents letters of credit issued
under our revolving credit facility. The lettersagdit provide financial assurance of our payment
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of obligations, primarily related to workers' compation and environmental compliance, for whichcHetiming of such payments is
uncertain. The letters of credit generally autonzly renew every 12 months and terminate wherutiterlying obligations no longer
require assurance or upon the maturity of our rémglcredit facility in September 2016 (for thosétérs of credit issued under the
facility).

8 At December 31, 2012 , we had uncertain tax pastighich ultimately could result in tax payments.tAe amount of ultimate tax
payments beyond 2013 is contingent on the tax aitite assessment, it is not practical to presemual payment information.

®  The amount represents liability relating to ouredefd compensation plan for certain key employasghe distribution amount is
contingent upon vesting and other eligibility reganents, it is not practical to present annual gEytnmformation.

Obligations for Operating Activities

Cash outlays for operating activities primarily st of purchase obligations with respect to primeduminum, other raw materials and
electricity, and payment obligations under operptaases.

We have various contracts with suppliers of alummirthat require us to purchase minimum quantitieslwhinum in future years at a price
to be determined at the time of purchase basedapiinon the underlying metal price at that timenéunts included in the table are based on
minimum quantities at the metal price at Decemter2B12 . We believe the minimum quantities arediothian our current requirements for
aluminum. Actual quantities and actual metal prigethe time of purchase could be different.

Operating leases represent multi-year obligationgértain manufacturing facilities, warehouseficefspace and equipment.

Deferred revenue arrangements relate to fees egt@&iom customers for future delivery of producterthe specified contract period.
While these obligations are not expected to rasulash payments, they represent contractual dldiggfor which we would be obligated if 1
specified product deliveries could not be made.

Obligations for Investing Activities

Capital project spending included in the precedaige represents non-cancelable capital commitneentd December 31, 2012 . We
expect capital projects to be funded through alildlaash generated from our operations, cash atderguivalents, short-term investments,
borrowings under our revolving credit facility andbther third-party financing arrangements.

Obligations for Financing Activities

Cash outlays for financing activities consist of ptincipal obligations under long-term debt, salled interest payment on the Convertible
Notes and Senior Notes and commitment fees underewalving credit facility. No borrowings were stiinding under our revolving cre:
facility either throughout the year or as of Decem®1, 2012 .

Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangements

* See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financialéstents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemami$ Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our employee bén#éns, including defined contribution plans atefined benefit plans.

* See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financialéstents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemamni$ Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our participationmulti-employer pension plans.

* See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Finandetenents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemamid Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our employee irteanplans. Additional equity awards are expectetd made to employees and
directors in 2013 and future years.

« Our financial obligations to the VEBAs are (iyariable cash contribution payable to the UniorB¥AEand the Salaried VEBA and
(i) an obligation to pay the administrative expessf the VEBAS, up to $0.3 million per year. Thigation to the Union
VEBA with respect to the variable cash contributésttends through September 30, 2017, while theyatitin to the Salaried
VEBA has no termination date. The amount to berdautied to the VEBAS through September 2017 pursteaaur obligation i:
10% of the first $20.0 million of annual cash fl¢as defined; in general terms, the principal elemefcash flow are earnings
before interest expense, provision for income taaed depreciation and amortization less cash patgrier, among other thing
interest, income taxes, and capital expenditupds}, 20% of annual cash flow, as defined, in exo£§20.0 million . Such
annual payments may not exceed $20.0 million aadio limited (with no carryover to future yeaxsthe extent that the
payments would
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cause our liquidity to be less than $50.0 milligks.of December 31, 2012 , we determined that #vekle contribution for 2012 was
$20.0 million . See Note 8 of Notes to Consoliddtathncial Statements included in Item 8. “Finah8i@tements and Supplementary
Data” of this Report for additional information eeding the effect that the VEBAs had on the conlstéd financial statements.

e In March 2010, we issued the Convertible Notes the Warrants, and purchased the Call OptioresNate 3of Notes to Consolidatt
Financial Statements included in Item 8. “Finan&8tdtements and Supplementary Data” of this Repastpf December 31, 2012 ,
the Convertible Notes were not convertible. We dbaxpect the Convertible Notes to be convertethbgstors until close to their
maturity date, if at all. It is possible to have tBonvertible Notes converted prior to their mayudiate if, for example, the market
price for our common stock exceeds 130% of the emion price of the Convertible Notes for 20 trgditays during a period of 30
consecutive trading days at the end of a calendanter or a holder perceives (and market data at@githe perception) the market for
the Convertible Notes to be weaker than the mddkedur common stock. Upon an investor’s electiocanvert, we are required to
pay the conversion value in cash. We expect thapagment above the principal amount would be #ffely offset by payments we
would be entitled to receive from exercise of thal Options.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with GAAP. In connection with thegamation of our financial statemer
we are required to make assumptions and estimbtes &uture events, and apply judgments that atfesreported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses and the relatodures. We base our assumptions, estimatejgidgohents on historical experience, curren
trends and other factors that management believes televant at the time our consolidated findrst@tements are prepared. On a regular
basis, management reviews the accounting poliagsjmptions, estimates and judgments to ensureuhéinancial statements are presented
fairly and in accordance with GAAP. However, be@figure events and their effects cannot be deterdhwith certainty, actual results could
differ from our assumptions and estimates, and difédérences could be material.

Our significant accounting policies are discusseNdte 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgsacluded in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Reptahagement believes that the following accountistimeates are the most critical to aid in

fully understanding and evaluating our reportedrficial results, and require management’s mostdiffisubjective or complex judgments,
resulting from the need to make estimates aboutffleets of matters that are inherently uncertilianagement has reviewed these critical
accounting estimates and related disclosures WwitAudit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to
commitments and contingencies.

Valuation of legal and other contingent claimstibjsect to a
great deal of judgment and substantial uncertalsihder
GAAP, companies are required to accrue for loss
contingencies in their financial statements onlydth (i) the
potential loss is “probable” and (ii) the amount &érange)
of probable loss is “estimable.” In reaching a daiaation
of the probability of an adverse ruling in respafca matter,
we typically consult outside experts. However, angh
judgments reached regarding probability are sultgect
significant uncertainty. We may, in fact, obtainadverse
ruling in a matter that we did not consider a “@ble” loss
or “estimable” and which, therefore, was not acdrigr in
our financial statements. Additionally, facts and
circumstances in respect of a matter can changsrcpkey
assumptions that were used in previous assessofemts
matter to change.

In estimating the amount of any lo

in many instances a single
estimation of the loss may not be
possible. Rather, we may only be
able to estimate a range for possible
losses. In such event, GAAP
requires that a liability be
established for at least the minimum
end of the range assuming that there
is no other amount which is more
likely to occur.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals. To the extent we
prevail in matters for which
reserves have been established
or are required to pay amounts
in excess of our reserves, our
future results from operations
could be materially affected.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates in respect of defineddmefit
plans.

At December 31, 2012, our financial statementsigkeltwo
defined benefit postretirement medical plans the.
postretirement medical plans maintained by the VEBA
which we are required to reflect on our financtakesments
despite our limited legal obligations to the VEBiAgegard
to those plans) and a pension plan for our Cangaéart.
Liabilities and expenses for pension and otherrptisEment
benefits are determined using actuarial methodetognd
incorporate significant assumptions, including e used
to discount the future estimated liability, thedeterm rate o
return on plan assets, and several assumptiortgiceta the
employee workforce (i.e., salary increases, mediosis,
retirement age, and mortality). The most signiftcan
assumptions used in determining the estimated gedr-
obligations were the assumed discount rate, long-tate of
return (“LTRR”") and the assumptions regarding fatur
medical cost increases.

In addition to the above assumptions used in theasial
valuation, changes in plan provisions could alseerea
material impact on the net funded status of the X&EBOur
only obligation to the VEBAs is to pay the annuatiable
contribution amount based on the level of our dash. We
have no control over any aspect of the plans. Weergirely
on information provided to us by the VEBA adminéstrs
with respect to specific plan provisions such asuah
benefits paid.

See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs
included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Sepntary
Data” of this Report for additional informationtiespect of
the benefit plans.

Since recorded obligations represent
the present value of expected
pension and postretirement benefit
payments over the life of the plans,
decreases in the discount rate (used
to compute the present value of the
payments) would cause the
estimated obligations to increase.
Conversely, an increase in the
discount rate would cause the
estimated present value of the
obligations to decline.

The LTRR on plan assets reflects an
assumption regarding what the
amount of earnings would be on
existing plan assets (before
considering any future contributions
to the plans). Increases in the
assumed LTRR would cause the
projected value of plan assets
available to satisfy pension and
postretirement obligations to
increase, yielding a reduced net
expense in respect of these
obligations. A reduction in the
LTRR would reduce the amount of
projected net assets available to
satisfy pension and postretirement
obligations and, thus, cause the net
expense in respect of these
obligations to increase.

As the assumed rate of increase in
medical costs goes up, so does the
net projected obligation. Converse
if the rate of increase was assumed
to be lower, the projected obligation
would decline.

A change in plan provisions could
cause the estimate obligations to
change. An increase in annual paid
benefits would increase the
estimated present value of the
obligations and conversely, a
decrease in annual paid benefits
would decrease the present value of
the obligations.
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The rate used to discount future
estimated liabilities is
determined considering the ra
available at year end on debt
instruments that could be used
to settle the obligations of the
plan. An increase/decrease in
the discount rate of 1/4 of 1%
would impact the projected
benefit obligation by
approximately $6.7 million to
$7.2 million in relation to the
Canadian pension plan, and
impact 2013 expense by $0.5
million. An increase/decrease in
the discount rate of 1/4 of 1%
would impact the accumulated
pension benefit obligation by
approximately $11.4 million to
$12.0 million in relation to the
VEBASs, impact service and
interest costs by $0.3 million
and impact 2013 expense by
approximately $0.2 million.
The LTRR on plan assets is
estimated by considering
historical returns and expected
returns on current and projected
asset allocations. A change in
the assumption for LTRR on
plan assets of 1/4 of 1% would
impact expense by
approximately $1.8 million in
2013 in relation to the VEBAs.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates in respect to environneal
commitments and contingencies

We are subject to a number of environmental lavas an
regulations, to potential fines or penalties asdésr
alleged breaches of such laws and regulationsand t
potential claims and litigation based upon suctslawd
regulations. Based on our evaluation of environient
matters, we have established environmental acgruals
primarily related to potential solid waste dispoaadl soil
and groundwater remediation matters. These envienitah
accruals represent our estimate of costs reasoeapbcted
to be incurred on a going concern basis in thenargi cours:
of business based on presently enacted laws anthtiegs,
currently available facts, existing technology @l
assessment of the likely remediation action toalken.

See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants
included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Seppntary
Data” of this Report for additional informationtiespect of
environmental contingencies.

Our judgments and estimates in respect of conditicad
asset retirement obligations.

We recognize conditional asset retirement obligestio
(“CAROSs") related to legal obligations associateithvthe
normal operations of certain of our facilities. $BeCAROs
consist primarily of incremental costs that wouéd b
associated with the removal and disposal of asbdatbof
which is believed to be fully contained and encégisd
within walls, floors, ceilings or piping) of certaof our older
facilities if such facilities were to undergo majenovation
or be demolished. There are currently plans fohsuc
renovation or demolition at one facility and manageat’'s
current assessment is that certain immaterial CAR®g be
triggered during the next four years. For locatiaere
there are no current plans for renovations or detimio, the
most probable scenario is such CAROs would not be
triggered for 20 or more years, if at all.

Under current accounting guidelines, liabilitieslawosts for
CAROs must be recognized in a company’s financial
statements even if it is unclear when or if the @ARIll be
triggered. If it is unclear when or if a CARO wlilé
triggered, companies are required to use probwbilit
weighting for possible timing scenarios to deterertine
probability-weighted amounts that should be recoeghin
the company’s financial statements.

Making estimates of possible
incremental environmental
remediation costs is subject to
inherent uncertainties. As additional
facts are developed and definitive
remediation plans and necessary
regulatory approvals for
implementation of remediation are
established or alternative
technologies are developed, changes
in these and other factors may result
in actual costs exceeding the current
environmental accruals.

The estimation of CAROs is subject
to a number of inherent uncertaint
including: (1) the timing of when
any such CARO may be incurred,
(2) the ability to accurately identify
all materials that may require spec
handling or treatment, (3) the ability
to reasonably estimate the total
incremental special handling and
other costs, (4) the ability to assess
the relative probability of different
scenarios which could give rise to a
CARO, and (5) other factors outside
a company’s control including
changes in regulations, costs and
interest rates. As such, actual costs
and the timing of such costs may
vary significantly from the
estimates, judgments and probable
scenarios we considered, which
could, in turn, have a material
impact on our future financial
statements.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals.

To the extent we prevail in
matters for which reserves have
been established, or are requirec
to pay amounts in excess of our
reserves, our future results from
operations could be materially
affected.

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates in respect of self insance
workers' compensation liabilities.

We are primarily self-insured for workers compeitsat
benefits provided to employees. Self insuranceliieds are
estimated for incurred-but-not-paid claims based on
judgment, using our historical claim data and infation
and analysis provided by actuarial and claim adsisour
insurance carriers and other professionals. Weuaxtdor
accrued liability relating to workers' compensatateims on
a discounted basis.

The accounting for our self-insured
workers' compensation plan involy
estimates and judgments to
determine our ultimate liability
related to reported claims and clai
incurred but not reported. We
consider our historical experience,
severity factors, actuarial analysis
and existing stop loss insurance in
estimating our ultimate insurance
liability. In addition, since recorded
obligations represent the present
value of expected payments over the
life of the claims, decreases in the
discount rate (used to compute the
present value of the payments)
would cause the estimated
obligations to increase. Conversely,
an increase in the discount rate
would cause the estimated present
value of expected payments to
decrease. If our insurance claim
trends were to differ significantly
from our historic claim experience

and as the discount rate changes, we

would make a corresponding
adjustment to our insurance
reserves.

49

The rate used to discount future
estimated workers'
compensation liabilities is
determined based on the U.S.
Treasury bond rate with a five-
year maturity date which
resembles the remaining
estimated life of the workers'
compensation claims. A change
in the discount rate of 1/4 of 1%
would impact the workers'
compensation liability and
operating income by
approximately $0.3 million.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Long Lived Assets.

Long-lived assets other than goodwill and indefifived
intangible assets, which are separately testenrfoairment,
are evaluated for impairment whenever events ongésin
circumstances indicate that the carrying value natybe
recoverable. When evaluating long-lived assetpé&bential
impairment, we first compare the carrying value¢haf asset
to the asset’s estimated future cash flows (undistes and
without interest charges). If the estimated fuash flows
are less than the carrying value of the assetaleeilate an
impairment loss. The impairment loss calculatiompares
the fair value, which may be based on estimatadtéutash
flows (discounted and with interest charges) toasset's
carrying value. We recognize an impairment logkef
amount of the asset’s carrying value exceeds thetas
estimated fair value. If we recognize an impairmess, the
adjusted carrying amount of the asset becomegvtscost
basis. For a depreciable long-lived asset, the sustbasis
will be depreciated (amortized) over the remainisgful life
of that asset.

Our impairment loss calculations
contain uncertainties because they
require management to make
assumptions and apply judgment to
estimate future cash flows and asset
fair values, including forecasting
useful lives of the assets and
selecting the discount rate that
reflects the risk inherent in future
cash flows.
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We have not made any material
changes in our impairment loss
assessment methodology.

We do not believe there is a
reasonable likelihood that there
will be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we
to calculate long-lived asset
impairment losses. However, if
actual results are not consistent
with our estimates and
assumptions used in estimating
future cash flows and asset fair
values, we may be exposed to
further losses from impairment
charges that could be material.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Income Tax.

We have substantial tax attributes available teaifthe
impact of future income taxes. We have a processs fo
determining the need for a valuation allowance wéitpect
to these attributes. The process includes an extereview
of both positive and negative evidence includingearnings
history, future earnings, adverse recent occurignce
carryforward periods, an assessment of the indasttythe
impact of the timing differences.

We expect to record a full statutory tax provisiotiuture
periods and, therefore, the benefit of any taxiattes
realized will only affect future balance sheets atadlements
of cash flows.

In accordance with GAAP, financial statements faefim
periods include an income tax provision based en th
effective tax rate expected to be incurred in tineent year.

Inherent within the completion of
our assessment of the need for a
valuation allowance, we made
significant judgments and estimates
with respect to future operating
results, timing of the reversal of
deferred tax assets and our
assessment of current market and
industry factors. In order to
determine the effective tax rate to
apply to interim periods, estimates
and judgments are made (by taxable
jurisdiction) as to the amount of
taxable income that may be
generated, the availability of
deductions and credits expected and
the availability of net operating loss
carryforwards or other tax attributes
to offset taxable income.

Making such estimates and
judgments is subject to inherent
uncertainties given the difficulty
predicting such factors as future
market conditions, customer
requirements, the cost for key inputs
such as energy and primary
aluminum, overall operating
efficiency and many other items.
However, if among other things,

(1) actual results vary from our
forecasts due to one or more of the
factors cited above or elsewhere in
this Report, (2) income is distributed
differently than expected among tax
jurisdictions, (3) one or more
material events or transactions occur
which were not contemplated, or

(4) certain expected deductions,
credits or carryforwards are not
available, it is possible that the
effective tax rate for a year could
vary materially from the assessme
used to prepare the interim
consolidated financial statements.
See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in
Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Report
for additional discussion of these
matters.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material.

A change in our effective tax
rate by 1% would have had an
impact of approximately

$1.4 million to net income for
the year ended December 31,
2012.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Tax Contingencies.

We use a “more likely than not” threshold for regibign of
tax attributes that are subject to uncertaintiesrapasure
reserves in respect of such expected benefits lmasdteir
probability. A number of years may elapse befopauicular
matter, for which we have established a resenaydsted
and fully resolved or clarified. We adjust our taserve and
income tax provision in the period in which actiegults of
a settlement with tax authorities differs from egtablished
reserve, the statute of limitations expires forrlevant tax
authority to examine the tax position or when more
information becomes available. See Note 7 of Ntes
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8em
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isf th
Report for additional information in respect of the
recognition of tax attributes.

Inventory Valuation.

We value our inventories at the lower of cost orkat
value. For the Fabricated Products segment, fidishe
products, work-in-process and raw material invaatoare
stated on LIFO basis, and other inventories, ppiaity
operating supplies and repair and maintenance, [zags
stated at average cost.

Inventory costs consist of material, labor and nfiacturing
overhead, including depreciation. Abnormal cosishsas
idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs apdilage,
are accounted for as current period charges. Wsardate
the market value of our inventories based on theeat
replacement cost, by purchase or by reproductixece that
it does not exceed the net realizable value aischivt less
than net realizable value reduced by an approximatenal
profit margin.

Our reserve for contingent tax
liabilities reflects uncertainties
because management is required to
make assumptions and to apply
judgment to estimate the exposures
associated with our various filing
positions.

Our effective income tax rate is also
affected by changes in tax law, the
tax jurisdiction of new plants or
business ventures, the level of
earnings and the results of tax
audits.

Our estimate of market value of our
inventories contains uncertainties
because management is required to
make assumptions and to apply
judgment to estimate the selling
price of our inventories, costs to
complete our inventories and normal
profit margin.

Making such estimates and
judgments is subject to inherent
uncertainties given the difficulty
predicting such factors as future
commaodity prices and market
conditions.

52

Although management believes
that the judgments and estime
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material.

To the extent we prevail in
matters for which reserves have
been established, or are requirec
to pay amounts in excess of our
reserves, our effective income
tax rate in a given financial
statement period could be
materially affected. An
unfavorable tax settlement cot
require use of our cash and
would result in an increase in
our effective income tax rate in
the period of resolution. A
favorable tax settlement would
be recognized as a reduction in
our effective income tax rate in
the period of resolution.

Our liability related to uncertain
tax positions at December 31,
2012 was $15.1 million.

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Convertible Notes and Call Options.

The cash conversion feature of the Convertible dlated the
Call Options are accounted for as derivative imatrats. We
measure the value of the cash conversion featutteeas
difference between the estimated fair value of the
Convertible Notes and the estimated fair valuénhef t
Convertible Notes without the cash conversion fieatWe
value the Convertible Notes based on the tradirog mf the
Convertible Notes and we value the Convertible Nlote
without the cash conversion feature based on theepit
value of the series of fixed income cash flows uribe
Convertible Notes, with a mandatory redemption0a%
We value the Call Options using a binomial lattieduation
model.

Acquisition, Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

We accounted for acquisitions using the purchasbadeof
accounting, which requires that the assets acqained
liabilities assumed to be recorded at the dategbigition at
their respective estimated fair values.

We recognize goodwill as of the acquisition dateaa
residual over the fair values of the identifiabt assets
acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at te@s an
annual basis, as well as on an interim basis asan&d, at
the time of events and changes in circumstances.

Definite-lived intangible assets acquired will baatized
over the estimated useful lives of the respectbaets, to
reflect the pattern in which the economic benefftthe
intangible assets are consumed. In the event tierpa
cannot be reliably determined, we use a straiget-li
amortization method. Whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouthef
intangible assets may not be recoverable, the gitiémn
assets will be reviewed for impairment.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Significant inputs to the model
include our stock price, risk-free
rate, credit spread, dividend yield,
expected volatility of our stock

price, and probability of certain
corporate events, all of which are
observable inputs by market
participants. Our estimates of fair
value of the cash conversion feature
of the Convertible Notes and the
Call Options contain uncertainties
given the difficulty in predicting
factors such as the expected
volatility of our stock price and the
probability of certain corporate
events. The primary driver of fair
values of both the cash conversion
feature of the Convertible Notes and
the Call Option is our stock price.

The judgments made in determining
the estimated fair value assigned to
each class of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, as well as asset
lives, can significantly impact our
results of operations. Fair values and
useful lives are determined based
among other factors, the expected
future period of benefit of the asset,
the various characteristics of the
asset and projected cash flows. As
the determination of an asset’s fair
value and useful life involves
management making certain
estimates and because these
estimates form the basis for the
determination of whether or not an
impairment charge should be
recorded, these estimates are
considered to be critical accounting
estimates.

An increase of $10 in our stock
price would cause the net
estimated fair values of the cash
conversion feature and the Call
Options to decrease by
approximately $1.4 million. A
decrease of $10 in our stock
price would cause the net
estimated fair values of the cash
conversion feature and the Call
Options to increase by
approximately $2.0 million. We
do not expect the net change in
the fair value of these
derivatives to have a material
impact to our financial
statements, over time.

We do not believe there is a
reasonable likelihood that there
will be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we

to calculate goodwill and
intangible assets. However, if
actual results are not consistent
with our estimates and
assumptions used in estimating
future cash flows and fair valu
assigned to each class of assets
acquired and liabilities assumt
we may be exposed to losses
from impairment charges that
could be material.

For a discussion of all recently adopted and régésgued but not yet adopted accounting pronoueces) see the section “New
Accounting Pronouncements” from Note 1 of Note€tmsolidated Financial Statements included in iBerfFinancial Statements and

Supplementary Data” of this Report.

Available Information
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We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Repmn Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, RPr8tatements, and other
information with the SEC. You may inspect and,ddee, copy any document that we file with the SE@e SEC's Public Reference Room at
100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Pleafieghe SEC at 1-800-SEQ330 for further information on the Public Refererfoom. Yo
may also obtain the documents that we file eleatedly from the SEC's website at http://www.sec.g@uir filings with the SEC, as well as
news releases, announcements of upcoming earrdtigsanod events in which management participatémsts with members of the
investment community, and an archive of webcaswioh earnings calls and investor events, ancecklavestor presentations, are also
available on our website at http://www.kaiseraluammcom. Information on our website is not incorporatetbithis Report.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarkRisk

Our operating results are sensitive to changédsdiptices of primary aluminum and fabricated alumirproducts, and also depend to a
significant degree upon the volume and mix of atiducts sold. As discussed more fully in Note 1ofes to Interim Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statermamtd Supplementary Data” of this Report, we hastically utilized hedging transactions
to lock in a specified price or range of pricesdertain products which we sell or consume in godpction process and to mitigate our
exposure to changes in energy prices and foreigemrecy exchange rates.

Sensitivity

Aluminum Our pricing of fabricated aluminum products is gatlg intended to lock in a conversion margin (es@nting the value added
from the fabrication process(es)) and to pass npeie fluctuations to our customers. However,énain instances we enter into firm-price
arrangements with our customers and incur pri¢eamsour anticipated primary aluminum purchase®gpect of such customer orders. We
third-party hedging instruments to limit exposurertetal price risks related to firm-price custorsales contracts.

Total fabricated products shipments during 201@1,12and 2010 that contained firm-price terms waren(llions of pounds) 178.8 , 157.0
and 97.0 , respectively. At December 31, 2012 hac sales contracts for the delivery of fabricatkmninum products that have the effect of
creating price risk on anticipated purchases ahaium for 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , totaling approxaha(in millions of pounds) 56.9 , Odhd
0.8, respectively.

Foreign CurrencyWe, from time to time, enter into forward exchagatracts to hedge material exposures for foreigreacies. Our
primary foreign exchange exposure is our operatogls of our London, Ontario facility and for castmmitments for equipment purchases.

Energy.We are exposed to energy price risk from fluctugprices for natural gas and electricity. We estanthat, before consideration of
any hedging activities and the potential to passutjh higher natural gas prices to customers, $4d0 change in natural gas prices (per
mmBtu) impacts our annual operating costs by apprately $4.0 million . We estimate that the enepgge risk from fluctuations in
electricity prices, net of the impact of our el@gsty-related hedging agreements, impacts our anoperating costs by approximately $0.3
million for each $1.00 change in electricity pri¢gpsr mwh).

We, from time to time, in the ordinary course ofimess, enter into hedging transactions with msjpipliers of energy and energy-related
financial investments. As of December 31, 2012r,eoqposure to fluctuations in natural gas prices en substantially reduced for
approximately 82% , 75% and 46% of the expectedrahgas purchases for 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , ctgply.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation
Foothill Ranch, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and suasas (the “Company”as of December 3.
2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statsméincome, comprehensive income (loss), stolddns' equity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20k2also have audited the Company's internal cootret financial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on criteria established in Internalt@bn Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteBponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company's management is resporisitikese financial statements, for maintaininfige&fve internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectégsrof internal control over financial reportinggluded in the accompanying Management's Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporti®gr responsibility is to express an opinion ogsthfinancial statements and an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reportbagsed on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBiqUnited States). Those standards requir
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmnassurance about whether the financial statsraes free of material misstatement and whether
effective internal control over financial reportingis maintained in all material respects. Our augfithe financial statements included examinimga
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts actbdiges in the financial statements, assessingdbeunting principles used and significant estas
made by management, and evaluating the overalidinhstatement presentation. Our audit of intecaaltrol over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugsncial reporting, assessing the risk that aemi@tweakness exists, and testing and evaluatiag t
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobbiased on the assessed risk. Our audits alaaded performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audits provide a reasonable basisubopinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supenvii the company's principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performisignilar functions, and effected by the compangar of directors, management, and other personn
to provide reasonable assurance regarding thdildlieof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipleez A company's internal control over finaneggborting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly ietftbe transactions and dispositions of the asdete
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatactions are recorded as necessary to permit pitegraof financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andrégipts and expenditures of the company are beaxdg only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (®jge reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets thdtidmve a material effect on the financial statetsie

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolnover financial reporting, including the pogktp of collusion or improper management override
of controls, material misstatements due to errdraard may not be prevented or detected on a tifpadys. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over finahoggorting to future periods are subject to tts& that the controls may become inadequate becduse
changes in conditions, or that the degree of canpék with the policies or procedures may detegorat

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all mategapects, the financial position of Kaiser Alunmin
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 312 208 2011, and the results of their operationstlagid cash flows for each of the three years @ th
period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity witbounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hBtates of America. Also, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, ¢éffednternal control over financial reporting dslrecember 31, 2012, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitimatof the Treadway Commission.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
February 21, 2013
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2012 December 31, 2011

(In millions of dollars, except share and per
share amounts)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2732 % 49.¢
Short-term investments 85.C —
Receivables:

Trade, less allowance for doubtful receivables@8%t December 31, 2012 and $0.9 at December031l, 2

respectively 123.¢ 98.¢

Other 34 1.2
Inventories 186.( 205.7
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 70.1 78.€

Total current assets 7417 434.%
Property, plant, and equipment — net 384.c 367.¢
Net asset in respect of VEBA 365.¢ 1445
Deferred tax assets — net (including deferred igbillty relating to the VEBAs of $136.9 at Decemi3d, 2012
and $47.6 at December 31, 2011 - see Note 7) 102.( 226.¢
Intangible assets — net 35.4 37.2
Goodwill 37.2 37.2
Other assets 86.C 72.%

Total $ 1,752 % 1,320.¢

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 625 % 62.2
Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses 39.2 30.¢
Other accrued liabilities 51.¢ 41.C
Payable to affiliate 7.6 14.4
Long-term debt-current portion — 1.3
Total current liabilities 161.€ 149.¢
Net liability in respect of VEBA 3 20.€
Long-term liabilities 134.F 126.(
Long-term debt 380.: 151.¢
Total liabilities 681.7 447.¢

Commitments and contingencies — Note 11
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized htbetember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011; nosshane
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 anelniier 31, 2011 — —

Common stock, par value $0.01, 90,000,000 sharthe@zed at both December 31, 2012 and at DeceBiher
2011; 21,037,841 shares issued and 19,313,235sshiatstanding at December 31, 2012; 20,977,79%kshar

issued and 19,253,185 shares outstanding at Dec&hp2011 0.2 0.2
Additional paid in capital 1,017 998.4
Retained earnings 151.2 84.4
Common stock owned by Union VEBA subject to transéstrictions, at reorganization value, none at
December 31, 2012 and 2,202,495 shares at Dec&hp2011 — (52.9
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,724,606 shares at Deme®ih 2012 and December 31, 2011 (72.9) (72.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (26.0) (85.0
Total stockholders’ equity 1,070.¢ 872.¢
Total $ 1,752t % 1,320.¢

The accompanying notes to consolidated financééstents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts)
Net sales $ 1,360.. $ 1,301.: $ 1,079.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation amdrization and other

items 1,116.: 1,129.( 946.]
Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments (15.2) 29.¢ 0.7
Restructuring benefits — (0.3 0.3
Depreciation and amortization 26.t 25.2 19.¢
Selling, administrative, research and developneamd,general 62.2 62.7 67.7
Other operating charges (benefits), net 4.5 (0.2 4.C
Total costs and expenses 1,194. 1,246.: 1,038.(
Operating income 165.¢ 55.C 41.1
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (29.7) (18.0 (11.9)
Other income (expense), net 2.8 4.3 (4.9)
Income before income taxes 139.¢ 41.: 25.1
Income tax provision (53.9) (16.2) (3.7
Net income $ 85.6 % 251 % 12.C

Earnings per common share, Basic:

Net income per share $ 44¢ 3 132 $ 0.61
Earnings per common share, Diluted:

Net income per sharfe $ 4.4t % 132 $ 0.61
Weighted-average number of common shares outstgufidithousands):

Basic 19,11¢ 18,97¢ 19,37%

Diluted?® 19,27¢ 18,97¢ 19,377

! Diluted weighted-average number of common sharestanding and diluted earnings per share for 26 #sed on the treasury method.
Diluted weighted-average number of common sharestanding and diluted earnings per share for 2012810 are based on the telas:
method (see Note 1 and Note 14 ).

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékgstents are an integral part of these statements.

58




Table of Contents

KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts)

Net income $ 85.t $ 251 $ 12.C

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs

Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the peéri 87.¢ (110.6 25.F
Reclassification adjustments relating to VEBASs:
Amortization of net actuarial loss 3.1 0.€ 0.7
Amortization of prior service cost 4.2 4.2 4.2
Other comprehensive income (loss) relating to @efibenefit pension plan anc
VEBASs 95.1 (105.9) 30.4
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale se¢iei 0.€ (0.7 0.1
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.2 0.2 (0.5
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax 95.t (105.9) 30.C
Income tax (expense) benefit related to items loéotomprehensive income
(loss) (36.5) 40.4 (11.5)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 59.C (65.9) 18.t
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 144.6  $ (40.9 $ 30.

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékstents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

BALANCE, December 31, 2009

Net income

Other comprehensive income, net
tax

Release of restriction on Union
VEBA shares, net of tax of $19.6

Issuance of warrants

Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees

Issuance of common shares to
directors

Issuance of common shares to
employees upon vesting of restricted
stock units and performance shares

Cancellation of employee non-
vested shares

Cancellation of shares to cover
employees’ tax withholdings upon
vesting of non-vested shares

Repurchase of common stock

Cash dividends on common stock
($0.96 per share)

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation

BALANCE, December 31, 2010

Net income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Release of restriction on Union
VEBA shares, net of tax of $25.0

Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees

Issuance of common shares to
directors

Issuance of common shares to
employees upon vesting of restricted
stock units and performance shares

Cancellation of employee non-
vested shares

Cancellation of shares to cover
employees’ tax withholdings upon
vesting of non-vested shares

Cash dividends on common stock
($0.96 per share)

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of
non-vested shares and dividend
payment on unvested shares
expected to vest

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation

Reclassification relating to dividen
on unvested equity awards

BALANCE, December 31, 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive income, net
tax

Release of restriction on Union
VEBA shares, net of tax of $41.3

Common
Stock
Owned by
Union
VEBA Accumulated
Common Subject to Other
Shares Common Additional Retained Transfer Treasury Comprehensive
Outstanding Stock Capital Earnings Restriction Stock Income (Loss) Total
(In millions of dollars, except for shares)
20,276,57 $ 02 $ 967.¢ 85.C § (1169 $ (28.)) $ (38.2) $ 870.5
— — 12.C — — — 12.C
— — — — — — 18.t 18.t
— — 0.7 — 31.€ — — 32t
— — 14.: — — — — 14.:
97,93: — — — — — — —
4,61z — 0.2 — — — — 0.2
4,93¢ — — — — — — —
(5,96¢) — — — — — — —
(11,729 — (0.4) — — — — (0.9)
(2,151,901 — — — — (44.2) — (44.2)
— — — (29.0 — — — (29.0
— — 4.t — — — — 4.t
19,214,45 % 02 $ 987.] 78.C % (8460 $ (723 % (29.9) $ 888.7
— —  $ = 251 % —  $ = = $ 25.1
— — — — — — (65.9) (65.9)
— — 8.8 — 31.7 — — 40.5
83,06¢ — — — — — — —
3,75( — 0.2 — — — — 0.2
17,44. — — — — — — —
(2,889 — — — — — — —
(62,637) — (3.1 — — — — 3.3
— — — (18.9) — — — (18.9)
— — 0.2 — — — — 0.2
— — 5.2 — — — — 5.2
— — — 0.2 — — — 0.2
19,253,18 % 02 $ 998.4 844 § (529 $ (729 ¢ (85.0 $ 872.¢
— 3 — — 85.6 $ — % — 3 — 85.¢
— — — — — — 59.( 59.C
— — 14.¢ — 52.¢ — — 67.2



employees

Issuance of common shares to
directors

Issuance of common shares to
employees upon vesting of restrict
stock units and performance share

Cancellation of employee non-
vested shares

Cancellation of shares to cover
employees’ tax withholdings upon
vesting of non-vested shares
Cash dividends on common stock
(%$1.00 per share)

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of
non-vested shares and dividend
payment on unvested shares
expected to vest

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation

Reclassification relating to dividen
on unvested equity awards

BALANCE, December 31, 2012

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékstents are an integral part of these statements.

92,94¢

3,93( — 0.2 — — — 0.2
11,32] = = = = = =
(2,35¢) — — — — — —

(45,807) = (2.2 — — — (2.2

— — — (19.6) — — (19.6)

= = 1.2 = = = 1.2

— — 5.€ — — — 5.€

= = = 0. = = 0.€
19,313,23 02 $ 1017. $ 151: $ (729 $ (26.0 $ 1,070
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In millions of dollars)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 856 $ 251 §$ 12.C
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 24.7 23.C 19.t
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 1.8 2.2 0.3
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuancéscos 9.8 8.€ 4.5
Deferred income taxes 52.C 17.€ 13.5
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested stemd dividend payment on unvested
shares expected to vest 1.9 (0.2 —
Non-cash equity compensation 5.8 5.4 4.7
Net non-cash LIFO (benefit) charges (4.9 (7.3 16.5
Non-cash unrealized (gains) losses on derivatisguments (16.0 25.¢ 55
Amortization of option premiums paid (received)t ne 0.2 1.2 1.8
Non-cash impairment charges 4.4 — 4.€
(Gain) losses on disposition of property, plant agdipment 0.3 0.2 0.1
Non-cash net periodic benefit (income) costs (11.5) (5.7) 5.1
Long-term assets and liabilities, net 1.2 0.4 (0.7)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisition:
Trade and other receivables (27.) (8.3 (1.2
Receivable from affiliate — — 0.2
Inventories (excluding LIFO adjustments) 24.€ (24.5) (56.9)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14 (2.9) (0.9)
Accounts payable 1.9 10.¢ 4.2
Accrued liabilities 10.4 1.5 04
Payable to affiliate (6.5) 2.7 8.1
Long-term assets and liabilities, net (2.2 (2.9 24.€
Net cash provided by operating activities 152.¢ 62.€ 66.2
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (44.7) (32.5) (38.9
Purchase of available for sale securities (85.0 0.3 (4.9)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and egeipt 0.2 0.7 4.8
Cash payment for acquisition of manufacturing facénd related assets (net of $4.9 o
cash received in connection with the acquisitiog0t1) — (83.2) (9.0
Change in restricted cash 6.9 (2.0 11
Net cash used in investing activities (121.9 (116.9 (46.4)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes 225.( — —
Proceeds from issuance of Convertible Notes — — 175.C
Purchase of call option in connection with issuanfceash convertible senior notes — — (31.9
Proceeds from issuance of warrants — — 14.:
Repayment of capital lease (0.2) (0.2) —
Repayment of promissory notes 4.7 (8.9 (0.7)
Cash paid for financing costs (6.€) (2.3 (8.6€)
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested stemd dividend payment on unvested
shares expected to vest 1.3 0.2 —

Repurchase of common stock to cover employeesvithkoldings upon vesting of non-
vested shares (2.2) (3.2 —



Repurchase of common stock

(44.2)

Cash dividend paid to stockholders (29.6) (18.9) (19.0
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 193.1 (32.9) 85.4

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalenng the period 223.¢ (85.¢) 105.:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 49.¢ 135.¢ 30.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 2732  $ 49.¢ % 135.¢

The accompanying notes to consolidated financéésatents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Nature of Operatiori§aiser Aluminum Corporation (together with its sigligries, unless the context otherwise requires
the “Company”) specializes in the production of séabricated specialty aluminum products, suchlamamum sheet and plate and extruded
and drawn products, primarily used in aerospack/sigength, general engineering, automotive, ahdrahdustrial end market applications.
The Company has one operating segment, Fabricatelli€ts. See Note 15 for additional informationareing the Company's reportable
segment and its other business units.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of PresemtatiThe consolidated financial statements include tiw@ants of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, and are prepared inm@zswe with United States generally accepted adoayprinciples (“GAAP”) and the rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Gesiom (the “SEC”). Intercompany balances and @atisns are eliminated. The
consolidated financial statements include the tesaflmanufacturing facilities acquired by the Camyp from the effective date of each
acquisition.

The Company has suspended the use of the equibpthef accounting with respect to its 49% non-aallitrg ownership interest in
Anglesey Aluminium Limited ("Anglesey"), which ow&d operates a secondary aluminum remelt anchgdsitility in Holyhead, Wales. As
a result, the Company did not record equity in medrom Anglesey for any of the periods presentsein. The carrying amount of the
Company's investment in Anglesey was zero at bettenber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 . The Contmas not anticipate resuming
the use of the equity method of accounting witlpees to its investment in Anglesey during the rigkimonths .

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financialt&mentsThe preparation of financial statements in accardamith GAAP requires the
use of estimates and assumptions that affect thertesl amounts of assets and liabilities, disclesidircontingent assets and liabilities known tc
exist as of the date the financial statements abdighed, and the reported amounts of revenueggpehses during the reporting period.
Uncertainties with respect to such estimates asdmagtions are inherent in the preparation of then@any’s consolidated financial statements
accordingly, it is possible that the actual resotisld differ from these estimates and assumptiwhgh could have a material effect on the
reported amounts of the Company’s consolidatedhiiz position and results of operations.

Recognition of SaleSales are generally recognized on a gross basis tittee ownership and risk of loss pass to thedswand
collectability is reasonably assured. A provisiondstimated sales returns from, and allowancesugipmers is made in the same period as tt
related revenues are recognized, based on hidtexiparience or the specific identification of areet necessitating a reserve.

From time to time, in the ordinary course of busi@he Company may enter into agreements witloowess in which the Company, in
return for a fee, agrees to reserve certain amanirits existing production capacity for the cuswndefer an existing customer purchase
commitment into future periods and reserve ceranounts of its expected production capacity inehmeriods for the customer, or cancel or
reduce existing commitments under existing congtalhese agreements may have terms or impact gexiageding one year.

Certain of the capacity reservation and commitnaeférral agreements provide for periodic, suchuasterly or annual, billing for the
duration of the contract. For capacity reservatigreements, the Company recognizes revenue ratadhthe period of the capacity
reservation. Accordingly, the Company may recogn&enue prior to billing reservation fees. Unllieceivables are included within Trade
receivables on the Company's Consolidated BalaheetS (see Note 2 ). For commitment deferral agea&snthe Company recognizes
revenue upon the earlier occurrence of the relsadzlof product or the end of the commitment perilmdtonnection with other agreements, the
Company may collect funds from customers in advari¢be periods for which (i) the production cappés reserved, (i) commitments are
deferred, (iii) commitments are reduced or (iv)fpenance is completed, in which event the recognibf revenue is deferred until the fee is
earned. Any unearned fees are included within Ciaherued liabilities or Long-term liabilities, agpaopriate, on the Company's Consolidated
Balance Sheets (see Note 2).

Stock-Based Compensati@tock-based compensation in the form of servicedbasvards is provided to executive officers, cartai
employees and directors, and is accounted foriratdbue. The Company measures the cost of servamasved in exchange for an award of
equity instruments based on the grant-date faureraf the award and the number of awards expeotatfitnately vest. The cost of an award is
recognized as an expense over the requisite sepeited of the award on a straight-line basis. Tohenpany has elected to amortize
compensation expense for equity awards with gragsting using the straight-line method (see Not¢. 10
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

The Company also grants performance-based awasdetutive officers and other key employees. Tlagszrds are subject to
performance requirements pertaining to the Comgaggonomic value added (“EVA”) performance, measdoneer specified three -year
performance periods. The EVA is a measure of tresexof the Company's adjusted pre-tax operatoae for a particular year over a pre-
determined percentage of the adjusted net ass#ie ahmediately preceding year, as defined inGbmpany's annual long-term incentive
(“LTI") programs. The number of performance shaikany, that will ultimately vest and result inetissuance of common shares depends on
the average annual EVA achieved for the specifieekt -year performance periods. The fair valuesofgpmance-based awards is measured
based on the most probable outcome of the perfareneondition, which is estimated quarterly using @ompany's forecast and actual results
The Company expenses the fair value, after assuanirgstimated forfeiture rate, over the specifiede year performance periods on a rat:
basis (see Note 10).

Shipping and Handling CostShipping and handling costs are recorded as a coemp@f Cost of products sold excluding deprecigtio
amortization and other items.

Advertising CostsAdvertising costs, which are included in Sellindmanistrative, research and development, and geraeexpensed as
incurred. Advertising costs for 2012 , 2011 and®@kre $0.4 , $0.4 , and $0.3 , respectively.

Research and Development Co&ssearch and development costs, which are includ8dlling, research and development, and general,
are expensed as incurred. Research and developosatfor 2012 , 2011 and 2010 were $6.4 , $6ntl $4.9 , respectively.

Major Maintenance ActivitieAll of the major maintenance costs are accountedi$ong the direct expensing method.

Cash and Cash EquivaleniBhe Company considers only those short-term, hiilyd investments with original maturities of @@ys or
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The@&uyis cash equivalents consist primarily of fuimdsommercial paper, savings accounts,
demand notes, money market funds and other higiuydl investments, which are classified within LeVeof the fair value hierarchy with the
exception of commercial paper, which is classifiethin Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Restricted CashiThe Company is required to keep certain amounteposit relating to workers’ compensation and o#lggeements. The
Company accounts for such deposits as restricted (s@e Note 2 ).

Trade Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Actedirade receivables primarily consist of amountselillo customers for products
sold. Accounts receivable are generally due wigfirio 60 days . For the majority of its receivaptee Company establishes an allowance for
doubtful accounts based upon collection experiemckother factors. On certain other receivablegavtiee Company is aware of a specific
customer’s inability or reluctance to pay, an abmwe for doubtful accounts is established agamstuats due, to reduce the net receivable
balance to the amount the Company reasonably exfecbllect. However, if circumstances change Qbmpany’s estimate of the
recoverability of accounts receivable could beat#ht. Circumstances that could affect the Comgaestimates include, but are not limited to
customer credit issues and general economic conditiAccounts are written off once deemed to belleatible. Any subsequent cash
collections relating to accounts that have beewripusly written off are typically recorded as awetion to total bad debt expense in the perioc
of payment.

Inventorieslnventories are stated at the lower of cost or miavklue. Finished products, work-in-process amdmeaterial inventories are
stated on the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis. & ompany recorded net non-cash LIFO inventorydfies) charges of approximately $(4.9) ,
$(7.1) and $16.5 during 2012 , 2011 and 2010 eesgely. These amounts are primarily a resultt@Enges in metal prices and changes in
inventory volumes. The excesses of current cost iivestated LIFO value of inventory at DecemberZl2 and December 31, 2011 were
$24.5 and $29.4 , respectively. Inventory volumereased during the year ended December 31, 20&2efflect from the liquidation of the
2011 LIFO layer was $22.3 . Other inventories, gpally operating supplies and repair and mainteagrarts, are stated at average cost.
Inventory costs consist of material, labor and nfiacturing overhead, including depreciation. Abnarowsts, such as idle facility expenses,
freight, handling costs and spoilage, are accoufateds current period charges. All of the Compaiywentories at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 were included in the FabricatedRts segment (see Note 2 for the componentsvehtories).

Property, Plant, and Equipment - N€troperty, plant and equipment is recorded at cest Note 2 ). Construction in progress is included
within Property, plant, and equipment - net in @@nsolidated Balance Sheets. Interest relatedetadhstruction of qualifying assets is
capitalized as part of the construction costs. ddgregate amount of interest capitalized is limttethe interest expense incurred in the perioc
The amount of interest expense capitalized as rarigin in progress was $1.7 , $1.3 and $2.8 du2bitp , 2011 and 2010 , respectively.
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Depreciation is computed using the straight-linehod at rates based on the estimated useful liv#geosarious classes of assets. Capital
lease assets and leasehold improvements are depreon a straight-line basis over the shortehefstimated useful lives of the assets or the
lease term. The principal estimated useful livesaar follows:

Range (in years)

Land improvements 3- 25
Buildings and leasehold improvements 15- 45
Machinery and equipment 1- 24
Capital lease assets 3- 5

Depreciation expense is not included in Cost ofipots sold, excluding depreciation and amortizasiod other items, but is included in
Depreciation and amortization on the Statemen@arfsolidated Income. For 2012 , 2011 and 2010 Ctrapany recorded depreciation
expense of $24.2 , $22.7 and $19.4 , respectivelgting to the Company's operating facilitiestimkabricated Products segment. An
immaterial amount of depreciation expense wasrasorded in the Company's Corporate and Otherlifpedods presented herein.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impent whenever events or changes in circumstaincésate that the carrying amount
of the asset or group of assets may not be recoleerBhe Company regularly assesses whether eaadtsircumstances with the potential to
trigger impairment have occurred and relies onraber of factors, including operating results, bassplans, economic projections, and
anticipated future cash flow, to make such assestsm€he Company uses an estimate of the futurescmghted cash flows of the related asse
or asset group over the estimated remaining lifsuch asset(s) in measuring whether the assef(s¢eoverable. Measurement of the amount
of impairment, if any, is based on the differeneéneen the carrying value of the asset(s) anddtimated fair value of such asset(s). Fair
value is determined through a series of standdrdhtian techniques.

During 2010, the Company recorded a $2.0 impairrobatge to write down the carrying amount of iddgglipment to represent its
estimated fair value, a $1.9 impairment chargeoimection with the sale of its Greenwood, Soutro@aa facility and a $0.7 impairment
charge relating to certain Construction in progissets in connection with our restructuring efant2009. There were no impairment charge
in 2011 . During 2012 , the Company determinedtoateploy a portion of the idled assets for futuse and recorded an impairment charge o
$4.4 to reflect the scrap value of such assetsetAsgpairment charges are included in Other opagatharges (benefits), net in the Statements
of Consolidated Income and are included in the ieated Products segment.

Property, plant and equipment held for future depelent are presented as idled assets. Such assetgtuated for impairment on a held-
and-used basis. Depreciation expense is not adjudien assets are temporarily idled.

Available for Sale Securitieshe Company accounts for investments in certairkaetable debt and equity securities as availablsdte
securities. Such securities are recorded at fairevgee “Fair Values of Financial Assets and Litie$ - Available for Sale Securitiesh Note
13), with net unrealized gains and losses, netafme taxes, reflected in other comprehensiveiggsras a component of Stockholders'
equity. The Company's available for sale securitiekide securities invested in various investnfantls and managed by a third-party trust in
connection with the Company's deferred compensatiogram (see Note 8 ) as well as sherth commercial paper. Commercial paper wit
original maturity of 90 days or less is classif&xiCash and cash equivalents (see Note 2 ). Conatgaiper with an original maturity of
greater than 90 days is presented as Short-terestiments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 8esumvested in various investment funds
are included in Other assets (see Note 2 ).

Deferred Financing Cost€osts incurred in connection with debt financing deferred and amortized over the estimated terteofelate
borrowing. Such amortization is included in Intérespense and may be capitalized as part of cariitruin progress (see Note 2 and Note 3)

Goodwill and Intangible Asset&oodwill is tested for impairment on an annual §aas well as on an interim basis, as warrantettieat
time of relevant events and changes in circumstnntangible assets with definite lives are iflifisecognized at fair value and subsequently
amortized over the estimated useful lives to rétlee pattern in which the economic benefits ofititangible assets are consumed. In the eve
the pattern cannot be reliably determined, the Gompses a straight-line amortization method. Whenevents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the intangémdsets may not be recoverable, the intangiblésaaee reviewed for impairment. Beginning
fourth quarter of 2011, the Company's accountiriggpavas to perform its annual goodwill impairmeaest during the fourth quarter. The
Company concluded there was no impairment of theyice value of goodwill at December 31, 2012 occBmber 31, 2011 .
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Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (“CAROs'he Company has CAROs at several of its fabricateducts facilities. The vast
majority of such CAROs consist of incremental cdlsts would be associated with the removal andadiapof asbestos (all of which is belie
to be fully contained and encapsulated within wdliors, roofs, ceilings or piping) at certaintbé Company’s older facilities if such facilities
were to undergo major renovation or be demolisfibé. Company, in accordance with Accounting Starsl&@aldification ("ASC") Topic 410,
Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligati, estimates incremental costs for special handtemgoval and disposal costs of materials that
may or will give rise to CAROs and then discouhis éxpected costs back to the current year usingdit-adjusted, risk-free rate. The
Company recognizes liabilities and costs for CAR®@an if it is unclear when or if CAROs will be tggred. When it is unclear when or if
CAROs will be triggered, the Company uses probighilieighting for possible timing scenarios to detere the probability-weighted amounts
that should be recognized in the Company’s conatdidifinancial statements (see Note 13 ).

Self Insurance of Employee Health and Workers' Gorsgtion Liabilities The Company is primarily self-insured for grougatth
insurance and workers' compensation benefits pedvid employees. Self insurance liabilities ar@vesed for incurred-but-not-paid claims
based on judgment, using the Company's historleahalata and information and analysis providecbtyarial and claim advisors, the
Company's insurance carriers and other professioiak Company accounts for accrued liability retato workers' compensation claims o
discounted basis. The discount rates used in eitigne liabilities were 0.75% and 1.00% and thdiscounted workers' compensation
liabilities were $27.3 and $24.3 at December 31.228nd December 31, 2011 , respectively. The addrakilities for health insurance and
workers' compensation is included in Other acctiggilities or Long-term liabilities, as appropratsee Note 2 ).

Environmental Contingencie¥/ith respect to environmental loss contingencies,Gompany records a loss contingency whenever a
contingency is probable and reasonably estimalderuals for estimated losses from environmentakgiation obligations are generally
recognized at no later than the completion of #meadial feasibility study. Such accruals are adjlists information develops or circumstance:
change. Costs of future expenditures for envirortaleemediation obligations are not discountech&irtpresent value. Accruals for expected
environmental costs are included in Other accrigdddlities or Long-term liabilities, as approprigee Note 2 ). Environmental expense
relating to continuing operations is included ins€of products sold, excluding depreciation and rizegion and other items in the Statements
of Consolidated Income. Environmental expenseingdb non-operating locations is included in $wgliadministrative, research and
development, and general in the Statements of didased Income.

Derivative Financial Instrument$ledging transactions using derivative financiatimsients are primarily designed to mitigate the
Company's exposure to changes in prices for cepraiducts sold and consumed by the Company arallgsser extent, to mitigate the
Company's exposure to changes in foreign currerclyamge rates. From time to time, the Companyaiders into hedging arrangements in
connection with financing transactions to mitigéancial risks.

The Company does not utilize derivative finanamstiuments for trading or other speculative purpo¥ee Company's derivative activities
are initiated within guidelines established by ngeraent and approved by the Company's Board of irecHedging transactions are
executed centrally on behalf of all of the Comparglsiness units to minimize transaction costs,itmooonsolidated net exposures and allow
for increased responsiveness to changes in ma&eeirs.

The Company recognizes all derivative instrumeatassets or liabilities in its Consolidated BalaSbeets and measures these instrumen
at fair value by “marking-to-market” all of its hgitig positions at each period's end (see Note B8gause the Company does not meet the
documentation requirements for hedge (deferralp@acting, unrealized and realized gains and lossescéated with hedges of operational ri
are reflected as a reduction or increase, resgdgtiln Cost of products sold (Unrealized (gairmsskes on derivative instruments), and
unrealized and realized gains and losses relatilmgdges of financing transactions are reflecteal @smponent of Other income (expense)
Note 17). See Note 12 for additional information aboutizea and unrealized gains and losses relatinggdompany's derivative financial
instruments.

Fair Value Measurementhe Company applies the provisions of Accountirgn8ards Update (“ASU”) Topic 82Bair Value
Measurements and Disclosul, in measuring the fair value of its derivative tants and plan assets invested by certain of trepgany’s
employee benefit plans (see Note 13).

Fair value is defined as the price that would leeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitgin an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The faireviaierarchy consists of three broad levels andleseribed below:

« Level 1— Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets thahecessible at the measurement date for identinedstricted assets or
liabilities.

* Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices included withinélelvthat are observable for the asset or liahiétther directly or
indirectly, including quoted prices for similar assor liabilities in active markets and quoteagsifor
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identical or similar assets or liabilities in matdkéhat are not active; inputs other than quotétkeprthat are observable for the asset or
liability (e.g., interest rates); and inputs thed derived principally from or corroborated by olvsdle market data by correlation or
other means.

» Level 3— Inputs that are both significant to the fair valneasurement and unobserva

Income Taxedeferred income taxes reflect the future tax eftddemporary differences between the carrying amotiassets and
liabilities for financial and income tax reportiagd are measured by applying statutory tax rate$féct for the year during which the
differences are expected to reverse. In accordaitbeASC Topic 740Jncome Taxesthe Company uses a “more likely than not” thrédiior
recognition of tax attributes that are subjectrioartainties and measures any reserves in respgetio expected benefits based on their
probability. Deferred tax assets are reduced bglaation allowance to the extent it is more likdgn not that the deferred tax assets will not
be realized (see Note 7).

Earnings per ShareBasic earnings per share is computed by dividisgriduted and undistributed earnings allocableotmmon shares by
the weighted-average number of common shares adistgduring the applicable period. The basic wiidkaverage number of common
shares outstanding during the period excludes tedehare-based payment awards. The shares owrseddbyntary employee’s beneficiary
association (“WEBA”") for the benefit of certain @mi retirees, their surviving spouses and eligildpethdents (the “Union VEBA”) that were
previously subject to transfer restrictions, whiteated in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as B#nitgr to treasury stock (i.e., as a reduction
in Stockholders’ equity), are included in the congpion of basic weighted-average humber of comniamess outstanding because such share
were irrevocably issued and have full dividend aoting rights. Diluted earnings per share is cated as the more dilutive result of
computing earnings per share under: (i) the trgestoack method or (ii) the two-class method. Dithigarnings per share for 2012 was
calculated under the treasury stock method. Dileguhings per share for 2011 and 2010 was calcllatder the two-class method (see Note
14).

Concentration of Credit Rislkinancial arrangements which potentially subjeet@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consiist
metal, currency, electricity and natural gas deiweacontracts, certain cash-settled call optidrad the Company purchased in March 2010 (th
“Call Options”) (see Note 3 ), and arrangementatesl to the Company's cash equivalents and saontinvestments. If the market value of
Company's net commodity and currency derivativatjpos with certain counterparties exceeds theiapble threshold, if any, the
counterparty is required to post margin by transigrcash collateral in excess of the thresholdhéoCompany. Conversely, if the market value
of these net derivative positions falls below ac#jed threshold, the Company is required to poatgim by transferring cash collateral below
the threshold to certain counterparties. At botiedbeber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , the Contmahyo margin deposits with or from
its counterparties.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esEnbnperformance by counterparties on derivativetracts used in hedging activities as
well as failure of counterparties to return cashateral previously transferred to the countergatiThe counterparties to the Company's
derivative contracts are major financial institaspand the Company does not expect nonperforntanaay of its counterparties.

The Company places its cash in commercial papeingsaaccounts, demand notes and money market f@utt money market funds are
with high credit quality financial institutions wdh invest primarily in commercial paper and timgasts of prime quality, short-term
repurchase agreements, and U.S. government agetey. n

LeasesFor leases that contain predetermined fixed esoakbf the minimum rent, the Company recognizes #hated rent expense on a
straight-line basis from the date it takes possessi the property to the end of the initial leéesen. The Company records any difference
between the straight-line rent amounts and the atayable under the lease as part of deferredire@ther accrued liabilities or Long-term
liabilities, as appropriate. Deferred rent for@driods presented was not material.

Foreign CurrencyCertain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries igeldcal currency as its functional currency; gseds and liabilities
are translated at exchange rates in effect atdlabe sheet date; and its statement of operdtidranslated at weighted-average monthly rate
of exchange prevailing during the year. Resultiagdlation adjustments are recorded directly tepasate component of stockholders’ equity
in accordance with ASC Topic 83Boreign Currency MattersWhere the U.S. dollar is the functional currenéw foreign facility or
subsidiary, re-measurement adjustments are recand@ther income (expense). At both December 31226hd December 31, 2011 , the
amount of translation adjustment relating to theifgn subsidiary using local currency as its fumtal currency was immaterial.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

ASU No. 2011-04Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasureamenDisclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSU
2011-04"), was issued in May 2011. This ASU repnés¢he converged guidance of the Financial Acdogri$tandards Board and the
International Accounting Standards Board on faluganeasurement. ASU 2011-04 sets forth commorinegents for measuring fair value
and for disclosing information about fair value m@@ments, including a consistent meaning of tire téir value.” The provisions in this
ASU are to be applied prospectively. For publidtass, this ASU became effective for interim anchaal periods beginning after December
2011. The Company adopted the provisions of ASULAW during the interim period ended March 31, 201 adoption of this ASU did not
have a material impact on the consolidated findrsté@ements.

ASU No. 2011-11Balance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures about GffapAssets and Liabilitie€ASU 2011-11"), was issued in
November 2011. This ASU requires an entity to diselinformation about offsetting and related aresngnts to enable users of its finan
statements to understand the effect of those agraagts on its financial position. An entity is regqd to adopt ASU 2011-11 for reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Cbmpany does not expect the adoption of ASU 201fio thve a material impact on its
financial statements.

ASU No. 2012-02|ntangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testimglefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairm@msSu 201202"),
was issued in July 2012. This ASU states that ditydras the option to assess qualitative factordetermine whether the existence of events
and circumstances indicates that it is more likkein not that the indefinite-lived intangible adsdtnpaired. If, after assessing the totality of
events and circumstances, an entity concludesttisanot more likely than not that the indefinlteed intangible asset is impaired, then the
entity is not required to take further action. Heee if an entity concludes otherwise, then itdgquired to determine the fair value of the
indefinitedived intangible asset and perform the quantitatimpairment test by comparing the fair value whb tarrying amount in accordal
with Codification Subtopic 350-30ptangibles-Goodwill and Other, General Intangib@ther than Goodwill Under the guidance in this
ASU, an entity also has the option to bypass tteditgtive assessment for any indefinite-lived irmgfitate asset in any period and proceed
directly to performing the quantitative impairméast. An entity will be able to resume performihg gualitative assessment in any subseque
period. An entity is required to adopt ASU 2002 for annual and interim impairment tests perfairfoe fiscal years beginning after Septen
15, 2012. The Company does not expect the adopfid®U 2012-02 to have any impact on its finanstatements.

ASU No. 2013-02Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of Art®Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprsikien
Income("ASU 2013-02"), was issued in February 2013. B does not change the current requirements firtig net income or other
comprehensive income in financial statements. Hawnehe ASU requires an entity to provide inforraatabout the amounts reclassified ot
accumulated other comprehensive income by compohreatidition, an entity is required to presentei on the face of the statement where
net income is presented or in the notes, signifieamounts reclassified out of accumulated otherprefrensive income by the respective line
items of net income but only if the amount reclisdiis required under GAAP to be reclassified éb income in its entirety in the same
reporting period. For other amounts that are nguired under GAAP to be reclassified in their eztjirto net income, an entity is required to
cross-reference to other disclosures required uBdexP that provide additional detail about thoseoants. ASU 2013-02 is effective
prospectively for reporting periods beginning aflecember 15, 2012 for public entities. The Compadmgs not expect the adoption of this
ASU to have a material impact on the consolidateahfcial statements.

2. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Cash and Cash Equivalents.

Cash and money market funds $ 107.¢ $ 49.¢
Commercial paper 165.t —
Total $ 273.¢  $ 49.¢
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Trade Receivables.

Billed trade receivables

Unbilled trade receivables — Note 1
Trade receivables, gross

Allowance for doubtful receivables

Trade receivables, net

Inventories

Finished products

Work-in-process

Raw materials

Operating supplies and repairs and maintenance part

Total

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Ass

Current derivative assets — Notes 12 and 13

Current deferred tax assets

Current portion of option premiums paid - Notesah?l 13
Short-term restricted cash

Prepaid taxes

Prepaid expenses

Total

Property, Plant, and Equipme- Net.

Land and improvements

Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment

Construction in progress

Active property, plant, and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation

Active property, plant, and equipment, net
Idled equipment

Property, plant, and equipment, net

Other Assets.

Derivative assets — Notes 12 and 13
Option premiums paid — Notes 12 and 13
Restricted cash

Long-term income tax receivable

Deferred financing costs

Available for sale securities

Other

Total

68

$ 124.¢ 98.¢
0.2 0.

124.¢ 99.

(0.9) 0.9)

$ 123. 98.¢
$ 59.¢ 75.¢
55. 57.

53.¢ 58.1

16.7 14.2

$ 186.( 205.7
$ 3. —
59. 63.C

0.1 0.4

1.3 7.8

2.1 3.8

4.1 3.

$ 70.1 78.¢
$ 22.€ 22.€
50.¢ 45.¢

400.2 356.

20.€ 24.1

4947 449.:

(111.9) (86.9)

383.: 362.4

1.0 5.4

$ 384.: 367.¢
$ 55.E 46.:
— 0.1

10.C 10.2

2.9 2.6

11.7 7.8

5.6 4.¢

0.3 0.1

$ 86.C 72.%
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Other Accrued Liabilities.

Current derivative liabilities — Notes 12 and 13 $ 31 $ 14.¢
Current portion of option premiums received — Ndt@sand 13 0.1 0.1
Accrued book overdraft (uncleared cash disbursement 4.7 —
Accrued income taxes and taxes payable 3.1 2.€
Accrued annual VEBA contribution 20.C —
Accrued freight 2.2 2.4
Short-term environmental accrual — Note 11 3.0 1.2
Accrued interest 3.7 2.3
Short-term deferred revenue — Note 1 6.7 13.t
Other 5.3 41
Total $ 51.¢ $ 41.C

Long-term Liabilities.

Derivative liabilities — Notes 12 and 13 $ 63.5 $ 55.t
Option premiums received — Notes 12 and 13 — 0.1
Income tax liabilities 15.1 13.4
Workers' compensation accruals 24.C 20.¢
Long-term environmental accrual — Note 11 18.7 20.¢
Long-term asset retirement obligations 3.8 3.8
Long-term deferred revenue - Note 1 — .3
Deferred compensation liability 5.8 5.1
Other long-term liabilities 3.6 3.2
Total $ 1345 ¢ 126.(

Long-term Debt. — Note 3

Senior notes $ 225.C $ —
Cash convertible senior notes 155.2 148.(
Other notes payable — 3.4
Total $ 380.5 % 151.¢

3. Long-Term Debt
Senior Notes

On May 23, 2012, the Company issued $225.0 prihaipeount of 8.250% Senior Notes due June 1, 2020“@enior Notes”) at par.
Transaction fees of $6.6 were capitalized as dedefinancing costs and will be amortized on a ghialine basis over the term of the Senior
Notes. Interest expense relating to the Senior News$11.8 for 2012 of which $0.Was related to the amortization of deferred finagaosts
The effective interest rate of the Senior Notegpigroximately 8.6%er annum, taking into account the amortizatiodeferred financing cos

The Senior Notes are unsecured obligations anduarnteed by existing and future direct and imtliseibsidiaries of the Company that
borrowers or guarantors under the Company's rewgleiedit facility, as amended and replaced. ThHerniture governing the Senior Notes
places limitations on the ability of the Companyl @ertain of its subsidiaries to, among other thjrgcur liens, consolidate, merge or sell all
or substantially all of the Company's and certdiitsosubsidiaries' assets, incur or guaranteetiaddi indebtedness, prepay, redeem or
repurchase certain indebtedness, make loans and
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investments, enter into transactions with affikateay dividends and repurchase shares. In ligtitesfe restrictions, the Company has no
additional material restrictions on the consolidatetained earnings or net income.

The Senior Notes are redeemable at the optioneo€tmpany in whole or part at any time on or aftere 1, 2016 at an initial redemption
price of 104.125% of the principal amount plus angrued and unpaid interest, declining to a redempirice of par plus any accrued and
unpaid interest on or after June 1, 2018. At amgtprior to June 1, 2015, the Company may redeeta 86% of the original principal amount
of the Senior Notes with the proceeds of certauntgafferings at a redemption price of 108.250%h#f principal amount, plus any accrued
and unpaid interest. At any time prior to Junel& the Company may also redeem some or all cbé&mgor Notes at a redemption price e
to 100% of the principal amount, together with aegrued and unpaid interest, plus a “make-wholspne.”

Holders of the Senior Notes have the right to nexjtiie Company to repurchase the Senior Notepat@equal to 101% of the principal
amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest foligwi change of control. A change of control incl(ifleertain ownership changes,
(ii) certain recapitalizations, mergers and disposs, (iii) certain changes in the compositiortteg Board of Directors of the Company, and
(iv) shareholders' approval of any plan or propésathe liquidation or dissolution of the Compafijnie Company may also be required to ¢
to repurchase the Senior Notes at a price of pérte proceeds of certain asset sales.

See “Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities I} @ther Financial Assets and Liabilitiesn Note 13 for information relating to the
estimated fair value of the Senior Notes.

Cash Convertible Senior Notes

Convertible NotesIn March 2010, the Company issued $175.0 prin@p#ount of 4.5% Cash Convertible Senior NotesApi! 1, 2015
(the "Convertible Notes"). The Convertible Notes ansecured obligations of the Company. The Compangunts for the cash conversion
feature of the Convertible Notes (the “Bifurcateoh@ersion Feature”) as a separate derivative imsni with the fair value on the issuance
date equaling the original issue discount for pagsoof accounting for the debt component of thevExible Notes. Additionally, the initial
purchasers' discounts and transaction fees of&r8 capitalized as deferred financing costs. Theetve interest rate of the Convertible
Notes is approximatel11% per annum, taking into account the amortizatiotine original issuance discount and deferredrfaing costs.

The following tables provide additional informaticggarding the Convertible Notes:

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Principal amount $ 175.C $ 175.(
Less: unamortized issuance discount (29.9) (27.0
Carrying amount, net of discount $ 1555 § 148.(

! The remaining unamortized issuance discount atm@bee 31, 2012 will be amortized over the next Z28rg assuming no early conversion.

See “Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities f @ther Financial Assets and Liabiliti€sn Note 13 for information
relating to the estimated fair value of the ConbégtNotes.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Contractual coupon interest $ 7¢ % 84 $ 6.C
Amortization of discount and deferred financingtsos 8.5 7.8 5.2
Total interest expenge $ 16.4 $ 16z $ 11.

1 A portion of the interest relating to the Convdriblotes is capitalized as Construction in prog

Holders may convert their Convertible Notes at amg on or after January 1, 2015. The Convertilib¢eld' conversion rate is subject to
adjustment based on the occurrence of certain gyviectuding, but not limited to, (i) the paymeritquarterly
cash dividends on the Company's common stock iassxof $0.24 per share, (ii) certain other stookash dividends, (iii) the

70




Table of Contents
KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

issuance of certain rights, options or warrantg,tfie effectuation of share splits or combinatjqm} certain distributions of

property, and (vi) certain issuer tender or excleaoffers. As of December 31, 2012 , the conversa@ was 20.7111 shares

per $1,000 principal amount of the Convertible [daded the equivalent conversion price was appraeiyn$48.28 per share, reflecting
cumulative adjustments for quarterly dividends paidxcess of $0.24 per share.

Holders of the Convertible Notes can require then@any to repurchase the Convertible Notes at & gugial to 100% of the principal
amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest foligwi fundamental change. Fundamental changes edbud are not limited to, (i) certain
ownership changes, (i) certain recapitalizationsrgers and dispositions, (iii) shareholders' apgdrof any plan or proposal for the liquidation
or dissolution of the Company, and (iv) failuretié Company's common stock to be listed on cestaick exchanges. Additionally, holders
may convert their Convertible Notes before Janda3015, only in certain limited circumstances daiaed by (i) the trading price of the
Convertible Notes, (ii) the occurrence of specifietporate events, or (iii) the market price of @@mpany's common stock. For example, if
the Company's closing stock price exceeds 130%eotdnversion price for 20 trading days during r@ogleof 30 consecutive trading days at
the end of a calendar quarter, the Convertible &lotay be converted by one or more holders. The @aognpelieves in this circumstance, the
market value of the Convertible Notes will exceleel value of shares into which they can convert,ingaguch an early conversion unlikely.
fundamental changes nor circumstances that colaa &arly conversion existed as of December 3122§f1the date hereof. The Convertible
Notes are not convertible into the Comp’s common stock or any other securities under amyimstances, but instead will be settled in cash

Convertible Note Hedge Transactions March 2010, the Company purchased Call Optibashave an exercise price equal to the
conversion price of the Convertible Notes and grirakion date that is the same as the maturityadiex conversion date of the Convertible
Notes. The Call Options and the Convertible Notgethsubstantially similar a-dilution adjustment provisions. At December 31120 the
Call Options' exercise price was $48.28 per shaflecting cumulative adjustments for quarterlyidends paid in excess of $0.24 per share.
The Call Options are settled in cash. Accordiniflthe Company exercises the Call Options, the egage amount of cash it would receive
from the counterparties to the Call Options woudda the aggregate amount of cash that the Companid be required to pay to the holders
of the converted Convertible Notes, less the ppalcamount thereof.

In March 2010, the Company also sold net-sharéesettarrants (the “Warrants”) relating to approxieia 3.6 million
shares of the Company's common stock. The Warcamtsot be exercised prior to the expiration datéudf 1, 2015 and are subject to certain
anti-dilution adjustments. At December 31, 2012, Warrants' exercise price was $61.31 per sheftecting cumulative adjustments for
quarterly dividends paid in excess of $0.24 peresh@t expiration, if the market price per shareéh® Company's common stock exceeds the
exercise price of the Warrants, the Company wilbbkgated to issue shares of the Company's constomk having a value equal to such
excess. The Warrants meet the definition of dekieatbut are not subject to fair value accountiagduse they are indexed to the Company's
common stock and meet the requirement to be cladsif equity instruments.

The Call Options and Warrant transactions are séparansactions and are not part of the termseo€onvertible Notes and do not affect
the rights of holders under the Convertible Notes.

Other Notes Payable

Part of the consideration paid by the Companysmadquisition of the Florence, Alabama facilityg$¢ote 5 ) was a promissory note in the
original amount of $6.7 of which the $4.7 of prip&i balance that remained outstanding at Decenthe2®.1 was fully repaid in 2012 .

4. Revolving Credit Facility

The credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank,,Mg\administrative agent, and the other finanoaltutions party
thereto (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), providédse Company with a $300.0 funding commitment tigtoGeptember 30,
2016. The Revolving Credit Facility is secured Hyrst priority lien on substantially all of the emunts receivable, inventory
and certain other related assets and proceeds @fdmpany and certain of its domestic operatingislidries as well as certain machinery and
equipment. Under the Revolving Credit Facility, tbempany is able to borrow from time to time anraggte commitment amount equal to
lesser of $300.0 and a borrowing base compris€i) 86% of eligible accounts receivable, (ii) tlesser of (a) 65%f eligible inventory and (I
85% of the net orderly liquidation value of eligghhventory as determined in the most recent irorgrdppraisal ordered by the administrative
agent and (iii) 85% of certain eligible
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machinery and equipment, reduced by certain resealleas specified in the Revolving Credit Fagilidp to a maximum of $60.0 of
availability under the Revolving Credit Facility gnhe utilized for letters of credit.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility b&aerest at a rate equal to either a base priteeora IBOR, at the Company's option,
plus, in each case, a specified variable percertatgmined by reference to the then-remainingdvarrg availability under the Revolving
Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility masubject to certain conditions and the agreemelgnafers thereunder, be increased up to
$350.0 .

The Company had $266.7 of borrowing availabilitglenthe Revolving Credit Facility at December 3112, based on the borrowing base
determination then in effect. At December 31, 20tt#zre were no borrowings under the Revolving Ereakility, and $6.9 was being used to
support outstanding letters of credit, leaving $85% net borrowing availability. The interest ragplicable to any overnight borrowings under
the Revolving Credit Facility would have been 4.8#®ecember 31, 2012 .

Amounts owed under the Revolving Credit Facilityynbe accelerated upon the occurrence of varioustewd default including, without
limitation, the failure to make principal or intstgpayments when due and breaches of covenantssegiations and warranties set forth
therein. The Revolving Credit Facility places liatibns on the ability of the Company and certaiit$ubsidiaries to, among other things,
grant liens, engage in mergers, sell assets, thelir, make investments, undertake transactionsaffittates, pay dividends and repurchase
shares. In addition, the Company is required tantaai a fixed charge coverage ratio on a consaitibasis at or above 1.1:1.0 if borrowing
availability under the Revolving Credit Facilityless than $30.0 .

5. Acquisition

Alexco.Effective January 1, 2011, the Company completedattyjuisition of substantially all of the assetsleixco, a manufacturer of hard
alloy extrusions for the aerospace industry, basé&handler, Arizona.

The Company paid net cash consideration of $8&ith,existing cash on hand, and assumed certdiilitias totaling approximately $1.0 .
Total acquisition related costs were $0.5 , of Wl$0.4 was expensed in 2010 and $0.1 was expen28i 1 . Such expenses are included
within Selling, administrative, research and depaient, and general expenses.

The following table summarizes recognized amouhidemtifiable assets acquired and liabilities @ssd at the effective date of the
acquisition:

Allocation of purchase price:

Cash $ 4.¢
Accounts receivable, net 3.€
Inventory 6.€
Property, plant and equipment 4.t
Definite-lived intangible assets:

Customer relationships 347
Backlog 0.3
Trademark and trade name 0.4
Goodwill 34.1
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (1.0
Cash consideration paid $ 88.1

Goodwill arising from this transaction reflects t@mmmercial opportunity for the Company to sellospace extruded products
manufactured by the acquired operation as a congietn the Company's other products and is expéotbd deductible for tax purposes ovel
a period of 15 years.

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortizan for the Company summarizes the results of af@rs for the periods indicated a
the Alexco acquisition had been completed as afidanl, 2010. This pro forma financial informaticonsiders principally (i) the Company's
audited financial results, (ii) the unaudited higtal financial results of Alexco, as supplied be {Company, and (iii) select pro forma
adjustments to the historical financial result®\te#fxco which did not have a material impact on phe forma Net income, as presented below.
The combined results presented below for the yede@ December 31, 2011 are the actual resultsmisgsn the Statements of Consolidated
Income, as the operating results for the
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Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility were inclutlis the Company's consolidated results commentamgiary 1, 2011. The following pro
forma data does not purport to be indicative ofrésilts of future operations or of the results thauld have actually occurred had the
acquisition taken place at the beginning of 2010:

Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010
Net sales (combined) $ 1,301.. $ 1,110.°
Net income (combined) $ 251 % 16.¢
Basic earnings per share (combined) $ 132 % 0.8i
Diluted earnings per share (combined) $ 132 % 0.87

The following information presents select finandata relating to the Chandler, Arizona (Extrusifagjlity, as included within the
Company's consolidated operating results for ttze gaded December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 .

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011
Net sales $ 44t % 42.¢
Net income before income taxes $ 9C $ 10.t

Nichols.On August 9, 2010, the Company acquired the FlaeAtabama facility, which manufactures bare medwaralloy wire products
nails and aluminum rod for aerospace, general eeging, and automotive applications.

Consideration consisted of (i) $9.0 in cash, (§6a7 promissory note from the Company to Nicheée(Note 3, and (iii) the assumption
certain liabilities totaling approximately $2.1 ofél acquisition related costs of approximately8B80ere expensed through December 31, 201(
and included in Selling, administrative, reseancti development, and general expense in the Staterok@onsolidated Income. The
acquisition did not have a material impact on tlhengany's consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes recognized amouhidemtifiable assets acquired and liabilities ased at the acquisition date:

Allocation of purchase price:

Inventory $ 3.¢
Other current assets 2.3
Property, plant and equipment 4.2
Definite-lived intangible assets 4.2
Goodwill 3.1
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (2.2
Consideration paid $ 15.7

The goodwill arising from the acquisition represettite commercial opportunity for the Company to smlall-diameter rod, bar and wire
products, as a complement to its other productssaagpected to be deductible for income tax puepasser a period of 15 years.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill. The Company had goodwill of $37.2 at both Decen®ier2012 and December 31, 2011 . Such goodwidlated to the
Company's acquisitions of the Chandler, Arizonati({iision) facility and the Florence, Alabama fagiliind is included in the Fabricated
Products segment.

Intangible Assetddentifiable intangible assets at December 31, 2P December 31, 2011 are comprised of the fofigwi
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December 31, 2012 :

Accumulated Net book
Original cost amortization value
Customer relationships $ 38t $ 3.2 $ 35.c
Backlog 0.8 (0.9 —
Trademark and trade name 0.4 (0.3 0.1
Total $ 397 % 43 $ 35.4
December 31, 2011 :
Weighted
average Estimated Accumulated Net book
useful life Original cost amortization value
Customer relationships 25 % 38t % @7 % 36.¢
Backlog 2 0.8 (0.7) 0.1
Trademark and trade name 3 0.4 (0.7 0.2
Total 24 $ 39.7 % (25 $ 37.2

Amortization expense relating to definite-livedangible assets is recorded in the Fabricated Ptedegment. Such expense was $1.8 ,
$2.2 and $0.3 for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respdgtiVle expected amortization of intangible as§etshe next five calendar years is as
follows:

2013 $ 1.7
2014 1.€
2015 1.€
2016 1.€
2017 1.€
Thereafter 27.2
Total $ 35.4

7. Income Tax Matters

Tax provision Income before income taxes by geographic araa fellows:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Domestic $ 134 % 37.¢ $ 23.C
Foreign 5.1 3.4 2.1
Income before income taxes $ 139.¢ $ 41.: $ 25.1

Income taxes are classified as either domestioreign, based on whether payment is made or dtietonited States or a foreign country.
Certain income classified as foreign is also sukjedomestic income taxes.

The provision for income taxes consists of:
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Federal Foreign State Total
2012
Current $ — 23 $ 02 $ (2.1
Deferred (113.0 (0.2 (15.9 (128.5)
Benefit applied to decrease Additional capital/ €th
comprehensive income 67.4 0.2 9.2 76.8
Total $ (456 $ 23 % 59 $ (53.9)
2011
Current $ 14 $ 02 $ 01 $ 1.€
Deferred (2.3 (0.5 0.7 (2.2)
Benefit applied to increase Additional capital/ &th
comprehensive income (13.5) (0.9 (2.0 (15.9
Total $ (149 $ 06 $ 1.2 $ (16.2)
2010
Current $ — 3 01 % 05 $ (0.9
Deferred (34.9 0.2 (10.2) (44.9)
Benefit applied to decrease Additional capital/ &
comprehensive incon 27.¢ 0.4 3.4 31.7
Total $ (65) $ 0.7 $ (73) $ (13.])

A reconciliation between the provision for incoragds and the amount computed by applying the fediatory income tax rate to
income before income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Amount of federal income tax provision based onstagutory rate $ (48.9 $ (4.5 $ (8.
Decrease (increase) in federal valuation allowsnce 0.1 — (0.2)
Non-deductible compensation expense (0.4 (1.2 (0.6)
Non-deductible expense 0.3 (0.9 0.3
State income taxes, net of federal bengfit (3.9 (0.9 (4.7)
Foreign income tax benefit (0.5) 0.€ 1.t
Income tax provision $ (53.§) $ (16.2 $ (13.9)

! State income taxes of $0.8 in 2011 includes a 8&c2ease in the valuation allowance relating ttegeunused state net operating losses
expected to expire.

State income taxes of $4.7 in 2010 primarily cassi$ (i) a $1.9ncrease in the valuation allowance relating tdairrunused state r
operating losses expected to expire and (ii) a B@:@ase in the income tax provision from a reitucin the state deferred tax asset
relating to a decrease in state net operating $agseilting from lower state apportionment factorgarious states.

The table above reflects a full statutory U.S.geovision despite the fact that the Company is galying alternative minimum tax
(“AMT") in the U.S. and some state income taxese Skax Attributes” below.

Deferred Income TaxeBeferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying anmohassets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposedaamounts used for income tax purposes. The cormp®oéthe Company'’s net deferred
income tax assets are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011
Deferred income tax assets:
Loss and credit carryforwards $ 3422 % 375.¢
VEBAs 7.€ —
Other assets 35.2 39.€
Inventories and other 1.7 8.2
Valuation allowances (18.79) (18.9)
Total deferred income tax assets 368.1 404.
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property, plant, and equipment (69.7) (67.2)
VEBAs (136.9 (47.6)
Total deferred income tax liabilities (206.€) (114.9)
Net deferred income tax asséts $ 161% $ 289.¢

1 Of the total net deferred income tax assets of $6$59.5 was included in Prepaid expenses arat othrent assets and $102.0 was
presented as Deferred tax assets, net on the Gadatsal Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2012 .

2 Of the total net deferred income tax assets of $8963.0 was included in Prepaid expenses arat otlrrent assets and $226.9 was
presented as Deferred tax assets, net on the Gadatsal Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2011 .

Tax AttributesAt December 31, 2012 , the Company had $786.8 bdperating loss (“NOL"xarryforwards available to reduce future c
payments for income taxes in the United Statesh®%786.8 of NOL carryforwards at December 31,22081.7 represents excess tax benefit
related to the vesting of employee restricted stelich will result in an increase in equity if amthen such excess tax benefits are ultimately
realized. The NOL carryforwards expire periodicallyough 2030. The Company also had $29.8 of AMeEOitrcarryforwards with an
indefinite life, available to offset regular fedeirrcome tax requirements.

To preserve the NOL carryforwards available to@oenpany, the Company’s certificate of incorporafimeciudes certain restrictions on the
transfer of the Company’s common stock.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax sseanagement considers whether it is “more likle&n not” that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The altenrealization of deferred tax assets is depengwor the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary diffees become deductible. Management considers &akataime in carryback years, the
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, péaning strategies and projected future taxaiderme in making this assessment. Due to
uncertainties surrounding the realization of sofén® Companys deferred tax assets, primarily including statd_sl@ustained during the pr
years and expiring tax benefits, the Company haduamtion allowance against its deferred tax as¥eéken recognized, the tax benefits rela
to any reversal of this valuation allowance willfreeorded as a reduction of income tax expense(ddurease) increase in the valuation
allowance was $(0.1) , $(1.3) and $2.1 in 20121,128nd 2010 , respectively. The decrease in theatiah allowance for 2012 and 2011 was
primarily due to the projected utilization of st&d®©Ls. The increase in the valuation allowance(fh®was primarily due to the expiration of
projected state NOLs as a result of lower stat@dgmment in various state jurisdictions, of whibb.8reversed in the first quarter of 2011
to a change in tax law in the State of Illinois.

Other. The Company and its subsidiaries file incomerérns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and vasatates and foreign jurisdictions.
The Canada Revenue Agency audited the Companyigtarns for fiscal years 1998 through 2001 andedsassessment notices for which
Notices of Objection have been filed. During thartb quarter of 2011, an additior$1.3 of Canadian Provincial income tax assessment,
including interest, was paid resulting from theiofithe Company’s tax returns for fiscal year®2@hrough 2004. The Compasytax return
for certain past years are still subject to exatmnaby taxing authorities, and the use of NOL gfmwards in future periods could trigger a
review of attributes and other tax matters in ydlaas are not otherwise subject to examination.

The Company has gross unrecognized benefits rgltdinncertain tax positions. A reconciliation biages in the gross unrecognized tax
benefits is as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning dabder $ 137 $ 15C $ 15.€
Gross increases for tax positions of prior years 1.3 0.1 —
Gross decreases for tax positions of prior years (0.2) — —
Gross increases for tax positions of current years 0.4 0.4 0.4
Settlements — (0.5) —
Gross decrease for tax positions relating to lappsestatute of limitation — (0.9 (1.7
Foreign currency translation 0.4 (0.9) 0.7
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at end of period $ 157§ 137§ 15.C

If and when the $15.7 of gross unrecognized taefisnat December 31, 2012 is recognized, $14.bgeithrough the Company's income
tax provision and thus affect the effective taxeratfuture periods. For the years ended Decembe2@®L1 and December 31, 2010, if and
when the gross unrecognized tax benefits are ukiymaecognized, they will be reflected in the Camyp’'s income tax provision and affect the
effective tax rate in future periods.

The change during 2012 was primarily due to for@gmency fluctuations and change in tax positidie change during 2011 was
primarily due to a partial release of an unrecoguhitax benefit as a result of the expiration ofaéuse, settlements with taxing authorities,
foreign currency fluctuations and change in taxtpwss. The change during 2010 was primarily dua frartial release of an unrecognized tax
benefit as a result of the expiration of a statfidmign currency fluctuations and change in tasitians.

In addition, the Company recognizes interest amalpes related to unrecognized tax benefits inieme tax provision. The Company
had $7.5 and $6.6 accrued for interest and pesati®ecember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011ectragly. Of these amounts, none were
recorded as current liabilities and included in@thccrued liabilities on the Consolidated BalaBbeets at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 . The Company recognized anadseri interest and penalty of $0.9 , $0 and $0i#itax provision in 2012 , 2011 and
2010, respectively.

In connection with the gross unrecognized tax benghcluding interest and penalties) denominatefreign currency, the Company
incurred a foreign currency translation adjustmButring 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , the foreign curreingyact on such liabilities resulted in
$(0.5) , $0.3 and $(0.6) currency translation adjests, respectively, which (decreased) increasbdr@omprehensive income (loss).

The Company expects its gross unrecognized taxXitetebe reduced by $3.6 within the next 12 menth

8. Employee Benefits
Employee PlanEEmployee benefit plans include:

» A defined contribution 401(k) savings plan faunly bargaining unit employees at seven of the @amy’s production facilities based
on the specific collective bargaining agreemergaah facility. For active bargaining unit employagéshree of these production
facilities, the Company is required to make fixatercontributions. For active bargaining unit emypkes at one of these production
facilities, the Company is required to match ceremnployee contributions. For active bargaining employees at two of these
production facilities, the Company is required taka both fixed rate contributions and concurrenticines. For active bargaining unit
employees at the one remaining production facitiig, Company is not required to make any contrimgti Fixed rate contributions
either (i) range from (in whole dollars) $800 to420 per employee per year, depending on the eraplswge, or (ii) vary between
2% to 10% of the employeesbmpensation depending on their age and yearsvitedor employees hired prior to January 1, 26€
is a fixed 2% annual contribution for employee®tion or after January 1, 2004. The Company cuyrestimates that contributions
to such plans will range from $1.0 to $3.0 per year

» A defined contribution 401(k) savings plan fatasied and certain hourly employees providingd@oncurrent match of up to 4% of
certain contributions made by employees plus ananontribution of between 2% and 1@¥ttheir compensation depending on tt
age and years of service to employees hired midahuary 1, 2004. All new hires on or after Janda004 receive a fixed 2%
contribution annually. The Company currently estiesahat contributions to such plan will range fr$0 to $7.0 per year.

* A defined benefit plan for salaried employeethatCompany’s London, Ontario facility, with anhaantributions based on each
salaried employee’s age and years of service. AebBer 31, 2012 , approximately 62% of the plan
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assets were invested in equity securities, and @4kan assets were invested in debt securities.rémaining plan assets were
invested in short-term securities. The Companywgdtment committee reviews and evaluates the imargtportfolio. The asset mix
target allocation on the long-term investmentspisraximately 61% in equity securities, 36% in deé&turities and the remaining
assets in short-term securities. See Note 13 fditiadal information regarding the fair values bétCanadian pension plan assets.

* A non-qualified, unfunded, unsecured plan okdefd compensation for key employees who wouldratise suffer a loss of benefits
under the Company’s defined contribution plan essalt of the limitations imposed by the Internav@nue Code of 1986 (the
“Code”). Despite the plan being an unfunded plaa,Gompany makes an annual contribution to a bt to fulfill future funding
obligations, as contemplated by the terms of the.prhe assets in the trust are at all times stitggbe claims of the Company’s
general creditors, and no participant has a claianty assets of the trust. Plan participants agélkd to receive distributions from the
trust subject to vesting and other eligibility regments. Assets in the rabbi trust relating todbferred compensation plan are
accounted for as available for sale securitiesaadncluded as Other assets on the Consolidatesh&aSheets (see Note 2 ).
Liabilities relating to the deferred compensatidenpare included on the Consolidated Balance Staset®ng-term liabilities (see
Note 2).

* An employment agreement with the Company’s chiefcutive officer extending through July 6, 20Ibe Company also provides
certain members of senior management, including eéthe Company’s named executive officers, wighdfits related to
terminations of employment in specified circums&sdncluding in connection with a change in cantrg the Company without
cause and by the executive officer with good reason

VEBA Postretirement Medical Obligationthe Company terminated its postretirement medilgal ;n 2004. Certain eligible retirees
receive medical coverage, however, through pagtop in the Union VEBA or a VEBA that provides ledits for certain other eligible
retirees, their surviving spouse and eligible dejeeits (the “Salaried VEBA” and, together with theidh VEBA, the “VEBAS"). The Union
VEBA covers certain qualifying bargaining unit rees and future retirees. The Salaried VEBA cowertain retirees who retired prior to the
2004 termination of the prior plan and employees wiere hired prior to February 2002 and subsequeetired or will retire with the requisi
age and service. The Union VEBA is managed by fiaustees, two of which are appointed by the Commard/two of which are appointed by
the United Steel, Paper and Foresting, Rubber, fdatwring, Energy, Allied Industrial and Service kers International Union, AFL - CIO,
CLC (“USW"), and the assets are managed by an mmdgnt fiduciary. The Salaried VEBA is managedrhgtees who are independent of the
Company. The benefits paid by the VEBAs are astile discretion of the respective VEBA trustees amedoutside the Company’s control.

The Company’s only financial obligations to the \i&Bare (i) a variable cash contribution payabléhtoVEBAS based upon a formula
driven calculation and (ii) an obligation to pay thdministrative expenses of the VEBAS, up to $@3year. The obligation to the Union
VEBA with respect to the variable cash contributeottends through September 30, 2017, while theyatitin to the Salaried VEBA has no
termination date. The amount to be contributedhéoMEBAS through September 2017 pursuant to thepaoyis obligation is 10% of the first
$20.0 of annual cash flow (as defined; in genenahs, the principal elements of cash flow are easbefore interest expense, provision for
income taxes, and depreciation and amortizatiomdash payments for, among other things, inteirestime taxes, and capital expenditures),
plus 20% of annual cash flow, as defined, in excé§20.0 . Such payments may not exceed $20.@ambt carryover to future years.
Payments are also limited to the extent that sagtmgnts would cause the Company’s liquidity todsss than $50.0 . The amount of total
contribution, if any, is allocated between the Un\EBA and the Salaried VEBA at 85.5% and 14.5%spectively.

Amounts owing by the Company to the VEBAs are rdedrin the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheeeyr @ther accrued liabilities,
with a corresponding increase in Net assets ineasyf VEBAs. Such amounts are determined and gaian annual basis. As Becember 31
2012 , the Company determined that the variabléribanion for 2012 was $20.0 (comprised of $17.1h® Union VEBA and $2.9 to the
Salaried VEBA). These amounts will be paid during first quarter of 2013 . The variable contribatrelating to 2011 which would have been
paid in 2012 was zero .

The Company has no claim to the plan assets of #i®As or obligation to fund the liability or detemne the benefits paid by the VEBAS,
and its only financial obligations to the VEBAs @oepay the variable contributions and certain astiative fees. Nevertheless, based on
discussions with the staff of the SEC, for accaumfpurposes the Company treats the postretiremedical benefits to be paid by the VEBAs
and the Company'’s related variable contributiodefined benefit postretirement plans with the aurkéEBA assets and future variable
contributions described above, and earnings thexgmarating as a cap on the benefits to be paidoringly, the Company accounts for net
periodic postretirement benefit costs in accordamitie ASC Topic 715Compensation — Retirement Benefirs| records any difference
between the assets of each VEBA and its accumupatsiletirement benefit obligation in the Comparggssolidated financial
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statements. Information necessary for the valuaifdhe net funded status of the plans must beirddarom the VEBAS on an annual basis.
While the funding status of the VEBASs could resnla liability or asset position on the CompanysnSolidated Balance Sheets, such liability
or asset has no impact on the Company's cash litpwiglity or funding obligation to the VEBAs.

In 2006, the Union VEBA received shares of the Canys common stock and entered into a stock transsgriction
agreement with the Company that limited its abii@ysell such shares without the approval of then@any's Board of
Directors. In June 2012, the Company's Board oé®ors removed the transfer restrictions on alhslares that continued to be owned by th
Union VEBA. During periods when the Union VEBA'sasbs were subject to the stock transfer restristitme Company treated such shares &
being similar to treasury stock (i.e. as a reductibStockholders' equity) on its Consolidated BataSheet. The following table presents the
number of shares on which stock transfer restnstimere removed during 2012 , 2011 and 2010 ancethdting effect on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets:

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Common stock held by Union VEBA which ceased tesbigject to transfer restrictions 2,202,49! 1,321,48 1,321,48
Increase in Union VEBA asse€lts $ 108.€ $ 655 $ 52.1
Reduction in Common stock owned by Union VEBA $ (52.9 $ (31.7) $ (31.¢)
Increase in Additional paid in capital $ (14.9) $ (8.8 % 0.7)
Decrease in Deferred tax assets $ (41.9) $ (25.00 $ (19.¢)

!At a weighted-average price of $49.31 , $49.58%8®139 per share realized by the Union VEBA forytears 2012 , 2011 and 2010 ,
respectively.

2 At $24.02 per share reorganization value.

Key Assumptiong.he following data presents the key assumptiond ase the amounts reflected in the Company’s firsustatements
with respect to the Company’s Canadian pension atahthe VEBAS.

The Company uses a December 31 measurement dati dbthe plans.

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligatianefdDecember 31 are:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2012 2011 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Union Salaried Union Salaried
VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA
Benefit obligations assumptions:
Discount rate 4.4(% 5.6(% 4.0(% 3.4(% 4.2(% 3.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0(% 3.0(% — — — —
Initial medical trend raté — — 8.0(% — 8.5(% —
Ultimate medical trend rafe — — 5.0(% — 5.0(% —

! The medical trend rate assumptions used for thedtUMEBA were provided by the Union VEBA and certaidustry data were provided
the Company's actuaries. The trend rate is asstondetline to 5% by 2019 at December 31, 2012 amtebber 31, 2011 . A one-
percentage-point increase in the assumed medéaral tiates would increase the accumulated postratitebenefit obligation of the Union
VEBA by $41.1 and $50.5 at December 31, 2012 arceBder 31, 2011 , respectively. A one-percentagetpecrease in the assumed
medical trend rates would decrease the accumulated

79




Table of Contents
KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

postretirement benefit obligation of the Union VEB# $33.4 and $40.8 at December 31, 2012 and Deze8ih 2011, respectively.
Key assumptions made in computing the net obligativeach VEBA and in total include:
With respect to VEBA assets:

e The shares of the Company’s common stock helidhéyJnion VEBA that were not transferable had bexeriuded from assets used to
compute the net asset or liability of the Union \&E& December 31, 2011 (see Consolidated BalaneetSh

» Based on the information received from the VEB#&tsDecember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2@1h the Salaried VEBA and Uni
VEBA assets were invested in various managed mtaoyi funds. VEBA plan assets are managed by vaiiorestment advisors
selected by the VEBA trustees, and are not unaecohntrol of the Company.

e The Company's variable payment, if any, is gdats a funding/contribution policy and not courded VEBA asset at December 31
for actuarial purposes.

With respect to VEBA obligations:

e The accumulated postretirement benefit obliga(iéPBQO”) for each VEBA was computed based onlthel of benefits being
provided by it at December 31, 2012 and Decembgp@11 .

* Since the Salaried VEBA was paying a fixed aham@ount to its constituents at both December B122and December 31, 2011, no
future cost trend rate increase has been assunoednputing the APBO for the Salaried VEBA.

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit (income) for the years ended December 31 are:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Union Salaried Union Salaried Union Salaried

VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA
Net periodic benefit cost
assumptions:
Discount rate 5.6(% 5.7(% 6.7(% 4.2(% 3.7%% 5.25% 4.7(% 5.8(% 5.4(%
Expected longerm returr
on plan assefts 4.6(% 5.4(% 5.4(% 7.25% 7.25% 6.0(% 7.25% 4.75% 7.25%
Rate of compensation
increase 3.0(% 3.5(% 3.5(% — — — — — —
Initial medical trend raté — — — 8.5(% — 9.0(% — 9.5(% —
Ultimate medical trend
rate® — — — 5.0(% — 5.0(% — 5.0(% —

! The expected long-term rate of return assumptidiaéed on the historical investment portfolios et to the Company by the VEBAS’
trustees.

2 The medical trend rate assumptions used for theJMEBA, which is currently paying certain prestion drug benefits, were provided
by the Union VEBA and certain industry data werevided by the Company's actuaries. The trend saassumed to decline to 5% by
2019, 5% by 2019 and 5% by 2019 for 2012 , 20412010 , respectively. A one-percentage-point imeeen the assumed medical trend
rates would increase the aggregate of the servidénderest cost components of net periodic bewefts by $2.5, $2.7 and $2.7 for 2012
2011 and 2010, respectively. A one-percentagetpigiorease in the assumed medical trend rates wieglg:ase the aggregate of the
service and interest cost components of net perioeinefit costs by $2.0, $2.1 , and $2.2 for 20d@11 and 2010 , respectively.

Benefit Obligations and Funded StatusT+he following table presents the benefit obligasiamd funded status of the Company’s Canadia
pension and the VEBAs as of December 31, 2012 awmDber 31, 2011, and the corresponding amouitsith included in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2012 2011 2012 2011

Change in Benefit Obligation:

Obligation at beginning of year $ 54 % 54 % 446.¢ % 348.¢
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 0.1 — —
Service cost 0.2 0.2 3.4 2.2
Interest cost 0.3 & 17.¢ 17.2
Actuarial (gain) los$ 1.1 (0.2 (66.2) 96.¢
Plan participant contributions 0.1 — — —
Benefits paid by Company (0.3 (0.2 — —
Benefits paid by VEBA — — (20.9) (21.2)
Reimbursement from Retiree Drug Subsidy — — 2.6 3.C

Obligation at end of year 7.C 5.4 384.1 446.¢

Change in Plan Assets:

FMV of plan assets at beginning of year 4.€ 4.¢ 571.( 506.¢
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 0.7 — —
Actual return on assets 0.2 (0.2 63.C 16.¢
Plan participant contributions 0.1 — — —
Sale of Company's common stock by Union VEBA — — 108.€ 65.5
Employer/Company contributions 0.t 0.t 20.C 0.1
Benefits paid by Company (0.3 (0.2 — —
Benefits paid by VEBA — — (20.9 (21.0)
Reimbursement from Retiree Drug Subsidy — — 2.6 3.C
FMV of plan assets at end of year 5.7 4.¢ 7445 571.(

Net Funded Status $ 1.3 9 05 $ 360.6 $ 124.]

! The actuarial gain relating to the VEBA plans iri2@vas primarily comprised of (i) a gain of $421#do lower actual prescription drug
claim cost and a change in Retiree Drug Subsidynagton in 2012 in the Union VEBA, (ii) a gain 01&.2 due to changes in census datz
for both VEBA plans, (i) a gain of $9.6 relating a change in the participant marital status apsiomin the Union VEBA and (iv) a gain
of $11.0 relating to a change in the assumptioraforual benefit utilization per participant in thalaried VEBA, partially offset by a loss
of $9.7due to decrease in discount rates used to detelveimefit obligations for both VEBA plans. The actakloss relating to the VEB.
plans in 2011 was comprised of (i) a loss of $3&stilting from an increase in benefit cost for phanticipants, (ii) a loss of $53.5
resulting from a decrease in discount rates use@termine benefit obligations for both VEBA plar (iii) a loss of $11.8esulting fronm
change in actuarial assumptions.

2 In January 2005, the Department of Health and HuB®mwices’ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid SesiECMS) released final
regulations governing the Medicare prescriptiorgdvanefit and other key elements of the Medicareléioization Act that went into
effect January 1, 2006. The Union VEBA is eligifide the Retiree Drug Subsidy because the plan ntketdefinition of actuarial
equivalence and therefore qualifies for federakslibs equal to 28% of allowable drug costs. Assalit, the Company has measured the
Union VEBA's obligations and costs to take into @aot this subsidy.

3 With respect to the Prepaid benefit of $360.6 iefpto the VEBAs at December 31, 2012 , $365.9 inalsided in Net asset in respect of
VEBA and $5.3 was included in Net liability in resp of VEBA on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. \Wapect to the Prepaid benefit of
$124.1 relating to the VEBASs at December 31, 203144.7 was included in Net asset in respect of ¥BBd $20.6 was included in Net
liability in respect of VEBA on the ConsolidatedIBace Sheets.
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With respect to the VEBASs, the Company has no claitihe plan assets nor obligation to fund theiliigbThe Company's only financial
obligations to the VEBAs are the variable cash gbation and reimbursement of certain administefiges discussed previously. The
following table presents the net assets of eachA/B8of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 20th (gformation is also included in the
tables required under GAAP above which roll forwtre assets and obligations):

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Union VEBA Salaried VEBA Total Union VEBA Salaried VEBA Total
Accumulated plan benefit obligation $ (319.9) $ (64.7 $ (384.) $ (370.00 $ (76.9 $ (446.9
Plan assets 685.1 59.4 744, 514.7 56.5 571.(
Net Funded Status $ 365.¢ % 53 9 360.c $ 1445 % (20.6) % 124.1

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Canadiefined benefit pension plan was $6.2 and $4@eakmber 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 , respectively. The Company éspecontribute $0.4 to the Canadian pension pl&913 .

As of December 31, 2012 , the net benefits expdotde paid in each of the next five fiscal yeard a0 aggregate for the five fiscal years
thereafter are as follows:

Benefit Payments Due by Period

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018-2022
Canadian pension plan benefit payments $ 02 $ 023 $ 03 $ 02 $ 023 % 2.C
VEBA benefit payment$ 26.C 26.2 26.t 26.€ 26.7 131.5
Anticipated Retiree Drug Subsidy (3.2 (3.2 3.3 (3.9 (3.5) (18.5)
Total net benefits $ 231 % 234 % 23t % 23t % 23t § 115.(

1Such amounts were obtained from the VEBAs. The Gomig only financial obligations to the VEBAs apegoy the variable contributions,
which may not exceed $20.0 annually, and certamiaidtrative fees.

The amount of (loss) income which is recognizethenConsolidated Balance Sheets (in Accumulateer atbmprehensive income (loss))
associated with the Company’s Canadian definedfligremsion plan and the VEBAs (before tax) thatéhaot yet been reflected in net
periodic benefit cost as of December 31, 2012 wasriollows:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2012 2011 2012 2011
Accumulated net actuarial (losses) gains $ (2.8 % (2.00 % (3.2 % (95.9)
Transition assets 0.3 0.4 — —
Prior service cost — — (36.9) (41.0)
Loss recognized in Accumulated other compreherisiveme (loss) $ (25 % (16 $ (40.) $ (136.9)

The amounts in Accumulated other comprehensivenirecloss) that have not yet been recognized as @oemps of net periodic pension
benefit costs at December 31, 2012 that are exghéatiee recognized in 2013 are $0.1 for the Camgglgnsion plan relating to transition asset
and $5.5 for the VEBASs. Of the $5.5 relating to YHeBAs, $4.2 is related to amortization of prionsee cost and $1.3 is related to
amortization of net actuarial loss. See the Stam¢mieComprehensive Income (Loss) for reclassificatdjustments of other comprehensive
income that were recognized as components of m&tdie benefit costs for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 .

Fair Value of Plan AssetSee Note 13 for the fair values of the assetsefXthnadian pension plan and the VEBAs.
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Incomd)he-Companys results of operations included the following iriigaassociated with tt
Canadian defined benefit plan and the VEBASs: (@&ygés for service rendered by employees; (b) ayetfar accretion of interest; (c) a benefit
for the return on plan assets; and (d) amortizatiomet gains or losses on assets, prior servists @ssociated with plan amendments and
actuarial differences. The following table preseéhescomponents of net periodic benefit cost (inepfar 2012 , 2011 and 2010 :

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Service cost $ 0z $ 0z $ 01 $ 34 $ 22 $ 2.C
Interest cost 0.2 0.2 0.2 17.€ 17.4 19.1
Expected return on plan assets (0.2 0.3 (0.2 (40.9) (30.9 (20.9)
Amortization of prior service cost — — — 4.2 4.2 4.2
Amortization of net loss 0.1 0.1 — 3.C 0.€ 0.7
Net periodic benefit costs (income) $ 04 § 02 § 0z § (119 $ (6.0 $ 5.1

! The Company amortizes prior service cost on agttdine basis over the average remaining yeasenfice to full eligibility for benefits
of the active plan participants.

The following tables present the total (income)rgea related to all benefit plans for 2012 , 204d 2010 :

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Canadian pension plan $ 04 $ 02 % 0.2
VEBAs (11.9) (6.0) 5.1
Deferred compensation plan 0.¢ 0.2 .3
Defined contribution plans 7.€ 7.1 6.5
Total $ (3.C) $ 1€ $ 13.1

The following tables present the allocation of thGacome) charges:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Fabricated Products $ 74 % 64 $ 6.4
All Other (10.4) (4.8) 6.7
Total $ (3.0 $ 1€ $ 13.1

For all periods presented, the net periodic beneditating to the VEBAs are included as a componéBelling, administrative, research
and development and general expense within All Cdne substantially all of the Fabricated Prodseigment’s related charges are in Cost of
products sold, excluding depreciation, amortizatiod other items with the balance in Selling, adshiative, research and development and
general.

9. Multiemployer Pension Plans

Overview.The Company has employees represented by the Uhternational Association of Machinists (“IAMand the International
Brotherhood of Teamsters (“Teamsters”) and conteibto the respective multiemployer defined benpafitsion plans under the terms of
collective-bargaining agreements that cover itonmiepresented employees at certain facilitiesrésgmted employees at the Company's
facilities participating in multi-employer pensipians are approximately
55% of the Company's total employees at Decembe2@I2 . The Company currently estimates that dmrtions will range from $2.0 to $4.0
per year through 2015.

The risks of participating in these multiemploy&ans are different from single-employer plans ia thllowing aspects:
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a. Assets contributed to the multiemployer plarobg employer may be used to provide benefits tol@ees of other participating
employers.

b. If a participating employer stops contributboghe plan, the unfunded obligations of the playre borne by the remaining
participating employers.

c. Ifthe Company chooses to stop participatingame of its multiemployer plans, the Company maydguired to pay those plans an
amount based on the underfunded status of the q@tared to as a withdrawal liability.

The Company's participation in material multiem@opension plans for the annual period ended Deee3th 2012 , is outlined in the table
below.

Contributions of the

FIP/RP Status Company Surcharge Expiration Date of
EIN/Pension Pension Protection Act  Pending/Implemented Imposed in Collective-Bargaining
Pension Fund Plan Number* Zone Status’ in 2012° 2012 2011 2010 2012 Agreement
Steelworkers
Pension Trust Mar Feb
(usw)* 236648508 Green Green No $3.C $ 2¢€ $24 No 2014 - 2016
National Pension Dec Nov
Plan(lIAM) ® 516031295 Green Green No 0.2 0.2 0.2 No 2013 - 2017
Western
Conference of
Teamsters Pensic
Plan (Teamster§) 916145047  Green Green No 0.2 0.3 0.2 No Apr 2015
Canada Wide
Industrial Pension
Plan(USWY 920120 NA NA NA 0.4 0.4 0.4 NA Feb 2015

1 The “EIN/Pension Plan Number” column provides tmedioyee Identification Number (EIN) and the thregitcblan number, if
applicable.

2 The most recent Pension Protection Act zone statabable in 2012 and 2011 for the SteelworkerssRenTrust and Western Conference
of Teamsters Pension Plan is for the plan's yedratDecember 31, 2011 , and December 31, 20Epectvely. The most recent Pension
Protection Act zone status available in 2012 antlZ0r the National Pension Plan is for the plgear-end at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 . The zone status is based ommiafion that the Company received from the plahiarcertified by the plan's actuary.
Among other factors, plans in the red zone are igdlgdess than 65 percent funded, plans in théioyekone are between 65 percent and
less than 80 percent funded, and plans in the greea are at least 80 percé&umded. The Western Conference of Teamsters PeR&iors
zone status was calculated applying the extendeditamation rule to the eligible net investment |éss2008 on a prospective method as
provided for in the applicable guidance.

3 The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” columndatis plans for which a Financial Improvement RFR) or a Rehabilitation Plan
(RP) is either pending or has been implementeduhéePension Protection Act.

4 The Company is party to three USW collective-bariyagj agreements that require contributions to tieel®orkers Pension Trust. Current
union contracts covering employees at the Newahko @nd Spokane, Washington facilities, FlorendabAma facility and Richmond
(Bellwood), Virginia facility expire in Septembe®25, March 2014 and November 2014, respectivelyth®three , the union contract
covering employees at the Newark, Ohio and SpoRafashington facilities is more significant beca6és of the Company's USW-
represented employees are covered by that agreeht@ntinion contracts covering employees at théweld, Virginia facility and
Florence, Alabama facility cover 5% and 5% of th@m@any's USW-represented employees, respectively Cbmpany makes monthly
contributions per hour worked by each bargaininiy @mployee to the Steelworkers Pension Trust Baws: (i) the monthly contributions
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per hour worked by each bargaining unit employee@fNewark, Ohio and Spokane, Washington fagligiee (in whole dollars) $1.26d
will increase to (in whole dollars) $1.50 in Jul§15; (ii) the monthly contributions per hour workieg each bargaining unit employee at
the Florence, Alabama facility are (in whole dadle$1.25 per hour; and (iii) the monthly contrilouis per hour worked by each bargaining
unit employee at the Bellwood, Virginia Facilityeafin whole dollars) $1.00 per hour. The Comparslse party to two other collective-
bargaining agreements covering employees at thedl#ra Arizona (Tube) and Kalamazoo, Michigan fiéieis. Current union contracts
covering employees at the Chandler, Arizona (Talng) Kalamazoo, Michigan facilities expire in Ma2®il5 and February 2016,
respectively. However, these agreements do noirezqantributions from the Company to the SteelveoskPension Trust because the
employees at these facilities are covered undeCtmpany's defined contribution 401(k) savings pee footnote 7 below for
information relating to the Canada Wide IndustAehsion Plan ("CWIPP") for the London, Canada eygs#s, which is also covered
under the USW collective-bargaining agreement.

5 The Company is party to two IAM significant colle@-bargaining agreements that require contribtimnthe National Pension Plan.
Current union contracts covering employees at fisbrRond (Bellwood), Virginia, and Sherman, Texadlifes expire in Novemlgr 2017
a nd December 2013, respectively. Of the two pthien contract covering employees at the Shermaxad facility is more significant
because 86% of the Company's IAM-represented erapkogre covered by that agreement. The union cberaering employees at the
Richmond (Bellwood), Virginia facility covers 14% the Company's IAM-represented employees. The Gomypnade monthly
contributions of (in whole dollars) $1.00 per haworked by each bargaining unit employee at the Gomis Bellwood, Virginia facility to
the National Pension Plan in 2012 and increasek suwnthly contributions to (in whole dollars) $1.2&ginning in 2013. The Company
made monthly contributions of (in whole dollars)@1 per hour worked by each bargaining unit empagtethe Company's Sherman,
Texas facility to the National Pension Plan throli@tember 2011 and increased such contributio(ia tehole dollars) $1.05 per hour
beginning January 2012.

® The Company is party to a Teamsters collectivediangg agreement that require contributions toWwwestern Conference of Teamsters
Pension Plan. The current contract covering emgleye the Los Angeles, California facility expineApril 2015. The Company made
monthly contributions of (in whole dollars) $1.08rghour worked by each bargaining unit employabeatos Angeles, California facility
to the Western Conference of Teamsters Pensiontilangh April 2012. Starting May 2012, the Compamgde monthly contributions of
(in whole dollars) $1.05 per hour worked by eactghming unit employee, and will increase such dbations to (in whole dollars) $1.15
starting 2013 and $1.25 starting 2014.

" The Company is party to a USW collective-bargairaggeement that require mo nthly contributions diglo February 2012 of (in whole
Canadian dollars) C$1.15 per hour worked by eachdiaing unit employee at the London, Ontario factio CWIPP, which represents
13% of the Company's USW-represented employeestir® March 2012, the Company made monthly coatigms of (in whole
Canadian dollars) C$1.3fr hour worked by each bargaining unit employefrination relating to the Pension Protection Ame statu:
FIP/RIP status and surcharge imposed are not aifydido this plan because it is a Canadian plandibes not follow the same regulations
as plans that are U.S.-based. The CWIPP is a &atrdpenefit pension plan which provides a targetwarhof lifetime pension based on a
pre-determined formula. The plan does not guarahtamount of benefit. A participant's monthly éfitnis calculated by multiplying the
employee's service units which is based on a coatibim of the employee's age and service by thefibéenel for the employee's group.
Benefit levels are determined by the CWIPP adnmatist and are based on the rate of contributiondstla®m average age and service of
employees within the group. Benefit levels can \durg to changes in the collective bargaining agesgpmegotiated contributions, or
performance of the pension fund. Currently, the@lbows contributions from both the employer anthoyee, both of which are required
to be negotiated with the USW. For the current tefrihe collective bargaining agreement expirinprigary 2015, no employee
contributions were negotiated. At December 31, 28i@® December 31, 2011 , the CWIPP 's funding pémge was 85% and 80% based
on the going concern valuation, respectively.

The Company was not listed in any of the planshtso6500 or the CWIPP financial statements as pioyichore than 5% of the total
contributions for any of the plan years disclog&oDecember 31, 2012 , Forms 5500 were not avail&l the plan years ending in 2012 . The
CWIPP does not file a Form 5500. Further, thereewer significant changes to the number of emplogegsred by the Company's
multiemployer plans that would affect the periogsteriod comparability of the contributions for thears presented.

10. Employee Incentive Plans
Short-term Incentive Plans (“STI Plans”)
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The Company has a short-term incentive compensptamfor senior management and certain other eypppayable at the Company’s
election in cash, shares of common stock, or a guatibn of cash and shares of common stock. Amoeautsed under the plan are based
primarily on EVA of the Company’s Fabricated Protuousiness, adjusted for certain safety and pegoce factors. EVA, as defined by the
Company's STI Plans, is a measure of the excab® @ompany’s adjusted pre-tax operating income fparticular year over a poeterminec
percentage of the adjusted net assets of the inatedglpreceding year, measured over a one -yeadyéost of the Company’s production
facilities have similar programs for both hourlydasalaried employees.

Total costs relating to STI Plans were recordefbdews, for each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation amdrization and other items  $ 209 32 % 2.6
Selling, administrative, research and developnamd,general 10.1 5.2
Total costs recorded in connection with STI Plans $ 14.¢4  $ 84 $ 6.€

The following table presents the allocation of tharges detailed above, by segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Fabricated Products segment $ 9¢ % 5 % 4.€
All Other 4.5 2.t 2.C
Total costs recorded in connection with STI Plans $ 144  $ 84 $ 6.&

Long- term Incentive Programs

General. Officers and other key employees of the Compamyne or more of its subsidiaries, as well as dinecof the Company, are
eligible to participate in the Kaiser Aluminum Corption 2006 Equity and Performance Incentive RPésnamended, the “Equity Incentive
Plan™). The Equity Incentive Plan permits the giagniof awards in the form of options to purchasmown shares, stock appreciation rights,
shares of nowested and vested stock, restricted stock unitépimeance shares, performance units and other awalde Equity Incentive Ple
was originally effective as of July 6, 2006 and adexl and restated from time to time. On June 102 Board amended and restated the
Equity Incentive Plan in its entirety, with suche@mdment and restatement effective as of June &, 204 date the Equity Incentive Plan as so
amended and restated was approved by the Comsdngidolders. Effective as of February 8, 2012 Bbard again amended and restated th
Equity Incentive Plan in its entirety to clarifyathithe maximum number of shares that the Comparmywitahold in connection with income
realization cannot exceed the minimum amount ofeshaecessary to satisfy the payment of the stdfutoinimum amount of taxes that the
Company is required to withhold in connection wdtith income realization. The Equity Incentive Rialhexpire on July 6, 2016, and no
grants will be made thereunder after that date.Gtmmpany’s Board of Directors may, in its discratiterminate the Equity Incentive Plan at
any time. The termination of the Equity IncentiariPwill not affect the rights of participants deir successors under any awards outstandin
and not exercised in full on the date of termingtiand all grants made on or prior to the datewhination will remain in effect thereafter
subject to the terms of the applicable grant agesgrand the Equity Incentive Plan. Subject to deajustments that may be required from
time to time to prevent dilution or enlargementled rights of participants under the Equity InceatPlan, a total of 2,722,222 common shares
have been authorized for issuance under the Efndgntive Plan. At December 31, 2012 , 934,521 comshares were available for
additional awards under the Equity Incentive P@ompensation charges relating to all awards urideEtjuity Incentive Plan are included in
Selling, administrative, research and developmepéeses.

Non-vested Common Shares, Restricted Stock UnidsParformance Shareshe Company grants non-vested common sharesrorits
employee directors, executive officers and othgrémployees. The non-vested common shares gramteghtemployee directors are gener
subject to a one -year vesting requirement. Thevasted common shares granted to executive offerissenior management are generally
subject to a three -year cliff vesting requiremdilte non-vested common shares granted to otheerkgjoyees are generally subject to a thre
-year graded vesting requirement. In addition to-mested common shares, the Company also grantgtedtstock units to certain employe
The restricted stock units have rights similarte tights of non-vested common shares, and theogmplwill receive one common share for
each restricted stock unit upon the vesting ofréfstricted stock unit. With the exception of rederd stock units granted to eligible employees
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of the Company’s French subsidiary, restrictedlstotts are generally subject to a three -yeareplagesting requirement, with one-thtithe
restricted stock units vesting on each of the,fsstond and third anniversary of the grant dadstriRted stock units granted to eligible
employees of the Company’s French subsidiary wesithirds on the second anniversary of the grate dad one-thirdn the third anniversa
of the grant date.

The Company also grants performance shares to éaxeaificers and other key employees. Such awardsubject to performance
requirements pertaining to the Company’s EVA perfance (as set forth in each year's LTI program)sneed over the applicable three -yeal
performance period. EVA is a measure of the exoéfi'e Company’s adjusted pre-tax operating incéona particular year over a pre-
determined percentage of the adjusted net ass#ie ahmediately preceding year. The number ofguaréince shares, if any, that will
ultimately vest and result in the issuance of commstares depends on the average annual EVA achiewvtte specified three -year
performance periods. During 2012 , a portion ofgegformance shares granted under the 2009-201pdofram vested (seeSummary of
Activity " below). The vesting of performance shares andltieg issuance and delivery of common sharesyf ander the 2010-2012 LTI
program, 2011-2013 LTI program and 2012-2014 LBgoam will occur in 2013 , 2014 and 20 spectively. Holders of performance shi
do not receive voting rights through the ownersifipuch performance shares.

Non-cash Compensation ExpenRecorded nomash compensation expense by type of award undepriograms were as follows, for e¢
period presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Service-based non-vested common shares and regdtsitcick units $ 3.8 % 41 $ 3.€
Performance shares 1.8 1.1 0.t
Service-based stock options — — 0.1
Total non-cash compensation expense $ 56 $ 52 % 4.5

The following table presents the allocation of tharges detailed above, by segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Fabricated Products $ 1.7 % 15 $ 14

All Other 3.¢ 3.7 3.1
Total non-cash compensation expense $ 56 § 52 % 4.t

Recognized tax benefit relating to non-cash comgéns expense were $2.1 , $2.0 and $1.7 for 2@DA1 and 2010 , respectively.

Unrecognized Gross Compensation Cost Da@tee following table presents unrecognized grosspaameation cost data, by type of award:

December 31, 2012

Expected period (in
years) over which the
remaining gross
Unrecognized gross  compensation costs will
compensation costs, by be recognized, by
award type award type

Service-based non-vested common shares and regtsitick units $ 3.4 1.5
Performance shares $ 4.1 1.9

Summary of Activityd summary of the activity with respect to non-velstemmon shares, restricted stock units and pedgoce shares for
the year ended December 31, 2012 is as follows:
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Non-Vested Restricted Performance
Common Shares Stock Units Shares
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair Grant-Date Fair Grant-Date Fair
Shares Value per Share Units Value per Unit Shares Value per Share
Outstanding at
December 31, 2011 202,83t $ 29.2¢ 6,07 $ 33.6i 777,93: $ 26.8¢
Granted 92,94¢ 45.0¢ 2,48¢ 44.4¢ 215,57¢ 44.4;
Vested (134,746 24.3( (3,379 25.71 (7,957) 18.8¢
Forfeited (2,355 43.91 — — — —
Canceled — — — — (401,61 14.7:
Outstanding at
December 31, 2012 158,68: $ 42.4i 518! $ 43.9¢ 583,95( $ 41.7¢

The total grant-date fair value for shares graniieihg 2012 , 2011 and 2010 was $13.9 , $12.8 40db$ respectively. Total gradate fai
value for shares that vested during 2012 , 20112846 was $3.5 , $6.3 and $2.6 .

Stock OptionsAs of both December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2€Hdre were 20,791 fully-vested options outstaggiim each case
exercisable to purchase common shares at $80.0shpez and having a remaining contractual life.854nd 5.25 years, respectively. The
grant-date fair value of all options was $39.90gkeare. No new options were granted and no exisitigns were forfeited, expired or
exercised during 2012 . During 2011 , 1,286 stquions expired.

Vested StoclkErom time to time, the Company issues common sharesn-employee directors electing to receive comishares in lieu of
all or a portion of their annual retainer fees. Tdie value of these common shares is based ofathealue of the shares at the date of issuanc
and is immediately recognized in earnings as agaxpense. During 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , the Coyngcorded $0.2 , $0.2 and $0.2 ,
respectively, relating to common shares grantetbteemployee directors in lieu of all or a portwfrtheir annual retainer fees.

Under the Equity Incentive Plan, participants migeto have the Company withhold common sharestisfy minimum statutory tax
withholding obligations arising in connection witie exercise of stock options and vesting of nostagkshares, restricted stock units and
performance shares. Any such shares withheld areeted by the Company on the applicable vestingsjathich correspond to the times at
which income to the employee is recognized. WhenGbmpany withholds these common shares, the Compaequired to remit to the
appropriate taxing authorities the fair value af g#hares withheld as of the vesting date. Duriri2®011 and 2010, 45,801 , 62,637 and
11,729 commons shares, respectively, were withduetticanceled for this purpose.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

CommitmentsThe Company has a variety of financial commitmeintduding purchase agreements, forward foreigrharge and forwa
sales contracts, indebtedness (and related Cabi@3pand Warrants) and letters of credit (see [S8qtdlote 4 , Note 12 andContractual
Obligations and Commercial Commitmenitstiuded in Item 7. "Management's Discussion andlygis” of this Report).

Minimum rental commitments under operating leasd3egember 31, 2012 , are as follows: years enDegember 31, 2013 - $4.7 ; 2014 -
$4.2 ,2015 - $3.4, 2016 - $2.5, 2017 - $2.0d, thereafter - $31.2 . Rental expenses were $1%10.0 and $9.9 for 2012, 2011 , and 2010,
respectively. There are renewal options in varigpsrating leases subject to certain terms and tondli

Environmental ContingencieShe Company is subject to a number of environmedated and regulations, potential fines or penalties
assessed for alleged breaches of the environmantsland regulations, and to potential claims bageoh such laws and regulations.

The Company has established procedures for regudadluating environmental loss contingencies. Tbenpany’s environmental accruals
represent the Company’s undiscounted estimatest$ ceasonably expected to be incurred based semgie enacted laws and regulations,
existing requirements, currently available faciésting technology, and the Compagsyssessment of the likely remediation actionsttaken

The following table presents the changes in suchuats, which are primarily included in Long-teriatilities.
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Beginning balance $ 22.C $ 20z $ 9.7
Additional accruals 1.2 3.6 13.¢
Less expenditures (2.5 (2.7) (3.4)
Ending balance $ 217 % 22.C % 20.2

During the third quarter of 2010, the Company iasel its environmental accruals in connection thithCompany's submission of a draft
feasibility study to the Washington State DeparthwdriEcology (“Washington State Ecology”). The drigfasibility study included a range of
remediation alternatives related to the Comparagiity in Spokane, Washington ("Trentwood") whiohuld be implemented over the next 30
years.

With ongoing agency coordination, and after pubbmment and agency review, the Company submitt@@12 a final feasibility study to
Washington State Ecology which included recommeadatfor remediation alternatives to primarily agkl the historical use of oils
containing polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs, egrfwood. During the third quarter of 2012, WashkamgState Ecology and the Company
signed an amended work order allowing certain reatieth activities to begin and to initiate a trdaligy study in regards to proposed PCB
remediation methods. The Company continues to wattk \Washington State Ecology in developing the lengentation work plans, which are
subject to Washington State Ecology approval. Tamgany expects to begin implementation of appravexk plans sometime in 2013.

At December 31, 2012 , environmental accruals df B2epresented the Company's best estimate afictemental cost based on proposec
alternatives in the final feasibility study relatedTrentwood and on investigational studies am@iotemediation activities occurring at certain
other locations owned by the Company. The Compapgds that these remediation actions will be takesr the next 30 years .

As additional facts are developed, feasibility #gdare completed, draft remediation plans are figoljinecessary regulatory approval for
the implementation of remediation are obtaine@radtive technologies are developed, and/or odetorfs change, there may be revisions to
management’s estimates, and actual costs may ekveedrrent environmental accruals. The Compafigues at this time that it is
reasonably possible that undiscounted costs assdaiath these environmental matters may exceeekietaccruals by amounts that could be,
in the aggregate, up to an estimated $18.7 oveneke30 years . It is reasonably possible thatbepany’s recorded estimate may change ir
the next 12 months .

Other Contingencies’he Company is party to various lawsuits, claimsestigations, and administrative proceedingsdhae in
connection with past and current operations. The@amy evaluates such matters on a case-by-case &adiits policy is to vigorously contest
any such claims it believes are without merit. Qummpany accrues for a legal liability when it ighbprobable that a liability has been incur
and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimghlarterly, in addition to when changes in facts eincumstances require it, the Company
reviews and adjusts these accruals to reflectntipacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, adefdegal counsel and other information, and
events pertaining to a particular case. While uiaiaties are inherent in the final outcome of sowdtters and it is presently impossible to
determine the actual cost that may ultimately loeiired, management believes that it has suffigigeerved for such matters and that the
ultimate resolution of pending matters will not kavmaterial adverse impact on its consolidatezhfifal position, operating results, or
liquidity.

12. Derivative Financial Instruments and Related Hdging Programs

Overview. In conducting its business, the Company, fronettmtime, enters into derivative transactionsluding forward contracts and
options, to limit its economic (i.e., cash) expastasulting from (i) metal price risk related te $ale of fabricated aluminum products and the
purchase of metal used as raw material for itsdation operations, (ii) energy price risk relatiogfluctuating prices of natural gas and
electricity used in its production processes, aifjdf@reign currency requirements with respecttsoforeign subsidiaries, investment and cash
commitments for equipment purchases. Additionatlyconnection with the issuance of the Convertdtges, the Company purchased cash-
settled Call Options relating to the Company’s cammtock to limit its exposure to the cash conweréeature of the Convertible Notes (see
Note 3). The Company may modify the terms of its deriationtracts based on operational needs or fingrabijfectives. As the Company’s
operational hedging activities are generally desigio lock in a specified price or range of priceglized gains or losses on the derivative
contracts utilized in the hedging activities gefigraffset at least a portion of any losses or ganespectively, on the transactions being hedge
at the time the transactions occur. However, duaadk-to-market accounting,
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during the term of the derivative contracts, sigaifit unrealized, non-cash gains and losses magdoeded in the income statement.

Hedges of Operational Risk§he Company’s pricing of fabricated aluminum pro is generally intended to lock in a conversiaargin
(representing the value added from the fabricgtimtess(es)) and to pass metal price fluctuatioiits tustomers. However, in certain
instances the Company enters into firm-price areamgnts with its customers and incurs price risk®anticipated aluminum purchases in
respect of such customer orders. The Company bsdsparty hedging instruments to limit exposurertetal price risks related to firm-price
customer sales contracts. See Note 13 for additioflxmation regarding the Company’s material dative positions relating to hedges of
operational risks, and their respective fair vaJues

During 2012, 2011 and 2010 , total fabricated pobsl shipments that contained firm-price terms wirenillions of pounds) 178.8 , 157.0
and 97.0 , respectively. At December 31, 20t Fabricated Products segment held contracthéadelivery of fabricated aluminum produ
that have the effect of creating price risk on@péted purchases of aluminum for 2013 , 2014 ,201b totaling approximately (in millions of
pounds) 56.9, 0.8, and 0.8, respectively.

A majority of the Company's derivative contractsitieg to hedges of operational risks contain dredk-related contingencies, which the
Company tries to minimize or offset through the agement of counterparty credit lines, the utilizatof options as part of the hedging
activities, or both. The Company regularly revidiuws creditworthiness of its derivative counterpgertand does not expect to incur a significan
loss from the failure of any counterparties to perf under any agreements.

Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notés described in Note 3he Company issued Convertible Notes in the aggesprincipal amoul
of $175.0 on March 29, 2010. The conversion feabfithe Convertible Notes can only be settled ishcand is required to be bifurcated from
the Convertible Notes and treated as a separaieatiee instrument. In order to offset the castwfliosk associated with the Bifurcated
Conversion Feature, the Company purchased Calb@gtivhich are accounted for as derivative instnimerhe Company expects that the
realized gain or loss from the Call Options wilbstantially offset the realized loss or gain of Biiircated Conversion Feature upon maturity
of the Convertible Notes. However, because valaa&sumptions for the Bifurcated Conversion Feauarkthe Call Option are not identical,
over time the Company expects to record net urmedigains and losses due to mark-to-market adjumsgnme the fair values of the two
derivatives. See Note 13 for additional informatiegarding the fair values of the Bifurcated Cosi@r Feature and the Call Options.

The following table summarizes the Company's malteerivative positions at December 31, 2012 :

Notional
Amount of
Contracts
Commodity Maturity Period (mmlbs)
Aluminum —
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/13 through 12/15 59.t
Fixed priced sales contracts 4/13 through 11/13 1.C
Midwest premium swap contracts 1/13 through 12/13 54t
Notional
Amount
of Contracts
Energy Maturity Period (mmbtu)
Natural gas —2
Call option purchase contracts 1/13 through 12/13 930,00t
Put option sales contracts 1/13 through 12/13 930,00t
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/13 through 12/15 7,550,001
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Notional
Amount
of Contracts
Electricity Maturity Period (Mwh)
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/13 through 12/14 394,20(

Notional Amount of
contracts

Currency Maturity Period (as shown)
Canadian Dollar —
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/13 through 1/13  C$ 604,83¢
Swiss Franc —
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/13 through 1/13  Fr. 172,12
Notional
Amount
of Contracts
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes Contract Period (Common Shares)
Bifurcated Conversion Featute 3/10 through 3/15 3,624,44
Call Options® 3/10 through 3/15 3,624,44

Regional premiums represent the premium over thelbn Metal Exchange price for primary aluminum wahie incurred on the
Company's purchases of primary aluminum.

As of December 31, 2012 , the Company's exposuitadtuations in natural gas prices had been soliatly reduced for approximately
82% , 75% and 46% of the expected natural gas peeshfor 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , respectively.

The Bifurcated Conversion Feature represents thle canversion feature of the Convertible Notesh&dge against the potential cash
outflows associated with the Bifurcated Converdieature, the Company purchased cash-settled Cadr@pThe Call Options have an
exercise price equal to the conversion price of@bavertible Notes, subject to anti-dilution adjnstt provisions substantially similar to
the Convertible Notes, which may cause the exeprise to decrease and the notional amount of shatating thereto to increase. The
Call Options will expire upon the maturity of the@@sertible Notes. Although the fair value of thel@ptions is derived from a notional
number of shares of the Company's common stoclC#tleOptions may only be settled in cash.

The Company reflects the fair value of its detiix@contracts on a gross basis in the ConsolidBtddnce Sheets (see Note 2 ).

Realized and Unrealized Gains and Los$slized and unrealized gains (losses) associdathailderivative contracts consisted of the

following, for each period presented:
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Realized (losses) gains:
Aluminum $ 9.0) $ 9€ % (0.6)
Natural Gas (6.7) (5.9 1.3
Electricity (3.9) — —
Total realized (losses) gains: $ (19.7) $ 44 $ 1.9
Unrealized gains (losses):
Aluminum $ 101 $ (26.5) $ 3.€
Natural Gas 4.3 (1.6) (4.9
Electricity 0.8 (1.8 —
Foreign Currency — — 0.1
Call Options 9.C (2.7 17.C
Bifurcated Conversion Feature (8.2) 6.1 (21.9)
Total unrealized gains (losses) $ 16.C $ (259 $ (5.6)

13. Fair Value Measurements

Overview

The Company applies the fair value hierarchy eisthétl by GAAP for the recognition and measureméassets and liabilities. An asset or
liability's fair value classification within the driarchy is determined based on the lowest leveititigt is significant to the fair value
measurement. In determining fair value, the Compaitizes valuation techniques that maximize the osobservable inputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs to the extent possilbié considers counterparty risk in its assessnfdatrosalue.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilitge measured on a recurring basis. The Compangl&eted not to carry any financial asset:
and liabilities at fair value other than as reqdiby GAAP. Financial assets and liabilities tha @ompany carries at fair value as required by
GAAP include: (i) its derivative instruments, (ifje plan assets of the VEBAs and the Company's @iamaefined benefit pension plan, and
(iii) available for sale securities, consistingcoinmercial paper and investments related to thep@ogis deferred compensation plan (Seée
8). The Company records certain other financial tassed liability at carrying value, see table befowthe fair value disclosure of those as
and liabilities.

The majority of the Company's non-financial asseid liabilities, which include goodwill, intangibéssets, inventories and property, plant
and equipment, are not required to be carriediav&ue on a recurring basis. However, if certaiggering events occur (or at least annually
for goodwill), an evaluation of a non-financial eser liability is required, potentially resulting an adjustment to the carrying amount of such
asset or liability. For the years ended DecembefB12 and December 31, 2011 , the Company contlindg none of its non-financial assets
and liabilities subject to fair value assessmenta aon-recurring basis required a material adjestrto the carrying amount of such assets an
liabilities.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Fair Values of Derivative Assets and Liabilitidhe Company's derivative contracts are valuediavédue using significant observable and
unobservable inputs.

Commaodity, Energy, and Foreign Currency Hedgese falir values of a majority of these derivative ttaats are based upon trades in
liquid markets. Valuation model inputs can gengrb# verified, and valuation techniques do not imeignificant judgment. The Company
has some derivative contracts, however, that dhvaet observable market quotes. For these finamsimlments, management uses signifi
other observable inputs (e.g., information coneegmegional premiums for swaps). Where appropriatkiations are adjusted for various
factors, such as bid/offer spreads.

Bifurcated Conversion Feature and Call Optionse Tir value of the Bifurcated Conversion Featgreneasured as the difference in the
estimated fair value of the Convertible Notes dreddstimated fair value of the Convertible Notetheut the cash conversion feature. The
Convertible Notes are valued based on the tradiicg pf the Convertible Notes each period end {s&k Other Financial Assets and
Liabilities” below). The fair value of the Convertible Notesheitit the cash conversion
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feature is the present value of the series ofehgaining fixed income cash flows under the ConbkrtNotes, with a mandatory redemption in
2015.

The Company determines the fair value of the Cplidhs using a binomial lattice valuation modeleThputs to the model at
December 31, 2012 were as follows:

Stock price at December 31, 2012 $ 61.6¢
Quarterly dividend yield (per shark) $ 0.24
Risk-free interest raté 0.28%
Credit spread (basis points) 24¢€
Expected volatility raté 20.4%

! Quarterly dividends during 2012 were $0.25 perahlant the model assumes a discrete $0.24 per gharterly dividend as was paid at
the inception of the Call Options. Quarterly divide in excess of $0.24 per share do not affecE#ieOptions' value due to anti-dilution
adjustments.

The risk-free rate was based on the two -year @onsdaturity Treasury rate and thrgear Constant Maturi
Treasury rate on December 31, 2012 , compoundedasemally.

The credit spread is based on the Company's laongdeedit rating of BB- issued by Standard & Psahd a seni
unsecured credit rating of Ba3 issued by Moody’s.

4 The volatility rate was based on both observedtilitya which is based on the Compasyhistorical stock price, a
implied volatility from the Company’s traded opt®rSuch volatility was further adjusted to takeiobnsideration
market participant risk tolerance.

VEBA and Canadian Pension Plan Ass&tsee VEBA assets are managed by various investntig@s selected by the trustees of each of
the VEBAs. The VEBA assets are outside of the Camiigacontrol, and the Company does not have ingigbtthe investment strategies. The
fair value of the VEBAS’ plan assets is based darmation made available to the Company by the VERIinistrators.

The assets of the Company's Canadian pension pananaged by advisors selected by the Companily thétinvestment portfolio subject
to periodic review and evaluation by the Compaiwestment committee. The investment of assetisdrCtanadian pension plan is based upo
the objective of maintaining a diversified portfobf investments in order to minimize concentratibieredit and market risks (such as interes
rate, currency, equity price and liquidity riskEhe degree of risk and risk tolerance take intmantthe obligation structure of the plan, the
anticipated demand for funds and the maturity pesfiequired from the investment portfolio in ligiithese demands.

The fair value of the plan assets of the VEBAs gnedCompany's Canadian pension plan are reflentdteiCompany's Consolidated
Balance Sheets at fair value. In determining tirevialue of the plan assets at each annual periddtee Company utilizes primarily the results
of valuations supplied by the investment advisesponsible for managing the assets of each plan.

Certain assets are valued based upon unadjustéedguarket prices in active markets that are addesst the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets (e.g., liquid seimsiisted on an exchange). Such assets arefwdssithin Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Valuation of other invested assets is based orifignt observable inputs (e.g., net asset valliesgistered investment companies not
listed on an exchange, valuations derived fromadceharket transactions, broker-dealer suppliedatadas, or correlations between a given
U.S. market and a non-U.S. security). Valuation eld@aputs can generally be verified and valuatechhiques do not involve significant
judgment. The fair values of such financial instants are classified within Level 2 of the fair vahierarchy

Available for sale securitie.he Company holds assets in various investmentsfahdertain registered investment companies inection
with its deferred compensation program (see Na@&adLNote 8 ). Such assets are accounted for dalaledfior sale securities and are measurel
and recorded at fair value based on the net aatet of the investment funds on a recurring b&igh fair value input is considered a Level 2
input. During 2012 , the Company purchased shont-tommercial paper. The fair value of the comnangaper is determined based on
valuation models that use observable market
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data. Such fair value input is considered a Leviep2t. The amortized cost for available for saeuwsities approximates its fair value.

All Other Financial Assets and LiabilitieShe Company believes that the fair value of ithaasd cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approxartiair respective carrying values due to theirtsimaturities and nominal credit risk.

The Company believes that the fair value of NicliRrismissory Note at December 31, 2011 materialpr@agmated its carrying amount in
light of the Company’s credit profile, the intereate applicable to the Nichols Promissory Notel i remaining duration. The foregoing fair
value assessment is considered to be a Level Ati@uwithin the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of the Senior Notes and Convertitiides is based on their trading price and is camsitia Level 1 input in the fair value
hierarchy (see Note 3 for the carrying value of@mavertible Notes and the Senior Notes).

The following table presents the Company's findringtruments, classified under the appropriatell®d the fair value hierarchy, as of
December 31, 2012 :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed priced purchase contracts $ — 3 2€ % — 3 2.€
Midwest premium swap contracts — — 0.4 0.4
Natural Gas -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — 0.2 — 0.2
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -
Call Options — 55.2 — 55.:
VEBAs and Canadian Pension Plan
Fixed income investment funds in registered investin
companies 192.2 235.¢ — 427.7
Mortgage backed securities — 31.t — 31.t
Corporate debt securitiés — 40.4 — 40.¢
Equity investment funds in registered investment
companies 114.] 58.¢ — 172.¢
United States Treasuries — 13.€ — 13.€
Municipal debt securities — 3.¢ — 3.¢
Cash and money market investmehts 16.4 — — 16.4
Asset backed securities — 3.2 — 3.2
Diversified investment funds in registered investine
companies$ 6.4 5.7 — 12.1
Equity securities 8.7 — — 8.7
All Other Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalefits 107.¢ 165.5 — 273.¢
Short-term investments — 85.C — 85.C
Available for sale securities — 5.€ — 5.€
Total $ 445¢ 3 706.7 % 04 $ 1,152.¢

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
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Derivative Instruments

Aluminum -

Fixed priced purchase contracts $ — 3 0.5 $ — 3 (0.5
Natural Gas -

Put option sales contracts — (0.5) — (0.5

Fixed priced purchase contracts — (2.6) — (2.6)
Electricity -

Fixed priced purchase contracts — (2.0 — (1.0
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -

Bifurcated Conversion Feature — (62.7) — (62.1)

All Other Financial Liabilities

Senior Notes (250.0) — — (250.0)
Convertible Notes (240.) — — (240.)
Total $ (490.0) $ (66.7 $ — 3 (556.9)

The following table presents the Company's findringtruments classified under the appropriatellef¢he fair value hierarchy as of
December 31, 2011 :
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed priced purchase contracts $ — 3 02 $ — 3 0.2
Midwest premium swap contracts — — 0.1 0.
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -
Call Options — 46.: — 46.:
VEBAs and Canadian Pension Plan
Fixed income investment funds in registered investin
companies:’ 183.t 229.¢ — 413.2
Mortgage backed securities — 33.¢ — 33.¢
Corporate debt securitiés — 39.1 — 39.1
Equity investment funds in registered investment
companies:”’ 29.¢ 22.F — 52.2
United States Treasuries — 1.€ — 1.€
Municipal debt securities — 3 — 6.3
Cash and money market investmehts 12.1 — — 12.1
Asset backed securities — 5.C — 5.C
Diversified investment funds in registered investine
companies:’ 7.4 4.¢ — 12.2
All Other Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalefits 49.¢ — — 49.¢
Available for sale securities — 4.6 — 4.¢
Total $ 282¢ $ 394¢ ¢ 01 $ 677.3
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed priced purchase contracts $ — 3 (7.8) $ — 3 (7.8
Midwest premium swap contracts — — (0.7 (0.2
Natural Gas -
Put option sales contracts — (5.6) — (5.6
Fixed priced purchase contracts — (1.3 — (1.3
Electricity -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — (1.8 — (1.9
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -
Bifurcated Conversion Feature — (53.9 — (53.9
All Other Financial Liabilities
Nichols Promissory Note — 4.7 — 4.7
Convertible Notes (203.0 — — (203.0)
Total $ (203.0) $ (75.0) $ 0.1 $ (278.9
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L This category represents investments in variowsdfincome funds with multiple registered investmemhpanies. Such funds invest in
diversified portfolios, including (a) marketabledd income securities such as (i) U.S. Treasuryadiner government and agency
securities, (i) municipal bonds, (iii) mortgageekad securities, (iv) asset-backed securitiesggvporate bonds, notes and debentures in
various sectors, (vi) preferred and common stogk), ivestments in affiliated and other investmenmpanies, (viii) short-term
investments and other net assets and (vii) repaechgreements and reverse repurchase agreemguthigibcommingled investments, (c)
investment grade debt, and (d) fixed income insemit® which may be represented by options, futunéracts or swap agreements. The
fair value of assets in this category is estimatgidg the net asset value per share of the invedtme

2 This category represents investments in fixed irecorporate securities in various sectors. Investsia the industrial, financial and
utilities sectors in 2012 represented approximadéhp , 33% and 6% of the total portfolio in thisezgory, respectively. Investments in the
industrial, financial and utilities sectors in 20Epresented approximately 53% , 38% and 9% ofdtat portfolio in this category,
respectively. The fair value of assets in this gatg is estimated using the net asset value pee sifahe investments.

% This category represents investments in equitysuthdt invest in portfolios comprised of (i) equsigcurities of U.S. companies across all
market capitalization, (i) American Depositary Rgts, or ADRs, for securities of non-U.S. issuéiig,securities whose principal market
is outside of U.S, and (iv) other short term inwastts. The fair value of assets in this categodetermined by using quoted prices in
active markets for investments considered Levelplts and estimated using the net asset valuehpeg sf the investments for
investments considered Level 2 inputs.

4 This category represents cash and investmentgiougsamoney market func

5 The plan assets are invested in investment furatshtbld a diversified portfolio of U.S and interioaial equity securities and fixed income
securities such as corporate bonds, governmentsbhamaitgage and asset-backed securities. Thedhie wf assets in this category is
estimated using the net asset value per share dfitlestments.

& See Note Zor components of cash and cash equival

 The Company considers the fair value of publichd&d registered investment funds to be a Levepdtiwithin the fair value hierarchy. In
the above tables, the Company has revised thequeeiassification of publicly traded registeredastment funds ( $220.7 as of
December 31, 2011) from Level 2 to Level 1.

Financial instruments classified as Level 3 infdievalue hierarchy represent derivative contrattwhich management has used at least
one significant unobservable input in the valuatiomdel. The following table presents a reconciiatof activity for such derivative contracts
on a net basis:

Level 3
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ —
Total realized/unrealized gains included in:
Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation and airatidon and Unrealized (gains) losses on derivatisggruments 2.2
Transactions involving Level 3 derivative contracts
Purchases 0.4
Sales —
Issuances —
Settlements (2.3
Transactions involving Level 3 derivatives - net (1.9
Transfers in and (or) out of Level 3 valuation hiehy —
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 0.4

Total gains included in Unrealized (gains) losseslerivative instruments, attributable to the cleimunrealized
gains/losses relating to derivative contracts la¢lBecember 31, 2012: $ —

Fair Values of Non-financial Assets and Liabilities
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CAROsThe inputs in estimating the fair value of CAROslirle: (i) the timing of when any such CARO casiw® may be incurred,
(ii) incremental costs associated with special tiagar treatment of CARO materials and (iii) thedit-adjusted riskree rate applicable at tl
time additional CARO cash flows are estimatedpaiihich are considered Level 3 inputs as they lveaignificant judgment of the Compa

During 2012 , the Company re-assessed and reusedtimates relating to the timing and future €o$tvarious asbestos removal projects
at one facility. Both upward and downward revisioglsiting to cost estimates were made. The follgwéable summarizes the activity relating
to the Company's CARO liabilities:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Beginning balance $ 4C $ 38 % 3.5
Liabilities incurred during the period — — —
Liabilities settled during the period (0.5 0.3 —
Accretion expense 0.3 0.2 0.3
Adjustment to accretion expense due to revisiorestonated cash flow and timi
of expendituré 0.3 — .y
Adjustment to CARO asset due to revisions to egdhaash flow — — 1.1
Ending balance $ 41 % 4C % 3.8

! The adjustment in 2012 decreased both basic antbdiearnings per share for 2012 by approximat@l@Zsper share. The adjustment in

2010 increased both basic and diluted earningshmme for 2010 by approximately $0.05 per share.

The estimated fair value of CARO liabilities at [Retber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are basedipapplication of a weighted-
average credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 8.7% @aéb , respectively. CAROs are included in Otheraed liabilities or Long-term liabilities,
as appropriate (see Note 2).

14. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2012 1201 2010 were calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Numerator:

Net income $ 85.6 % 251 % 12.C

Less: Net income attributable to participating sii@s — — 0.9

Net income available to common stockholders $ 85.6 % 251 % 11.¢

Denominator - Weighted-average common shares owlisig: (in thousands):

Basic! 19,11¢ 18,97¢ 19,37:

Diluted? 19,27¢ 18,97¢ 19,37%
Earnings per common share, Basic:

Net income per share $ 4.4¢ % 132 $ 0.61
Earnings per common share, Diluted:

Net income per sharfe $ 4.4t % 132 $ 0.61

! The basic weighted-average number of common slatstanding during the period excludes unvestetkdi@sed payment awar
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2 The diluted weighted-average number of common shautstanding and diluted earnings per share fb2 2¢ere calculated using the
treasury method. The diluted weighted-average numbeommon shares outstanding and diluted earmegshare for 2011 and 2010
were calculated using the two-class method (see Nt

Options to purchase 20,791 common shares at angerexercise price of $80.01 per share were oudlisigiuat December 31, 2012 . The
potential dilutive effect of options outstandingsazero for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 . Warrants reldtrapproximately 3.6 million common
shares at an average exercise price of approxiynddl.31 per share at December 31, 2012 were odistg The potential dilutive effect of
shares underlying the Warrants was zero for 2211 and 2010 .

During 2012, 2011 and 2010 , the Company paida td approximately $19.6 ( $1.00 per common sh&#8.9 ( $0.96 per common
share), and $19.0 ( $0.96 per common share), regplgcin cash dividends to stockholders, inclglthe holders of restricted stock, and
dividend equivalents to the holders of restrictextls units and to the holders of any performanaehwith respect to approximately one-half
of the performance shares.

At December 31, 2012 , $46.9 was available for remases of the Company's common shares under stading stock repurchase
authorization by the Company's Board of Directdfsee Company purchased no shares pursuant to tiieraation during 2012 , 2011 or
2010.

During the first quarter of 2010, pursuant to aasafe authorization from the Company's Board oé&wrs, the Company repurchased
$44.2 , or 1,151,900 shares, of the Company'sandtg common stock in privately negotiated, offrke& transactions with purchasers of the
Convertible Notes.

15. Segment and Geographical Area Information

The Company's primary line of business is the pctidao of semi-fabricated specialty aluminum produsuch as aluminum sheet and plat
and extruded and drawn products, primarily useseiospace/high strength, general engineering, aiteoen and other industrial end market
applications. The Company operates 11 focused ptimfufacilities in the United States and one im&@a. Consistent with the manner in
which the Company's chief operating decision ma&eiews and evaluates the Company's business athricBted Products business is treatec
as a single operating segment.

In addition to the Fabricated Products segmentCitiapany has two business units, Secondary Alumiaiin
Corporate and Other. The Secondary Aluminum busioeg sells value added products, such as ingbbdlet, produced at
Anglesey, a secondary aluminum remelt and cas#ailjtly/ in Holyhead, Wales in which the Company ew&n49% non-controlling interest.
The Corporate and Other business unit providesrgeand administrative support for the Company@srafions.

For purposes of segment reporting under GAAP, th@@any treats the Fabricated Products segmentegmeable
segment and combines the two other business @@tendary Aluminum and Corporate and Other, ineoaategory, which is
referred to as All Other. All Other is not consieléra reportable segment.

On January 1, 2012, management began reviewingudts of the primary aluminum hedging activitietjch prior to
January 1, 2012 had been reported in All Othet thie results of the Fabricated Products segmeiuse such hedging activities are now
conducted solely for the Fabricated Products segmecordingly, the results of primary aluminum lgédy activities have been included in
Fabricated Products segment for 2012 . Prior pagadlts have been conformed to current periodeptasion, which resulted in a (decrease)
increase of $(25.0) and $3.1 in operating incominefabricated Products segment for 2011 and 2838dpectively, and an increase of $0.6 ir
Fabricated Products segment assets as of Decerhp20Bl .

The accounting policies of the Fabricated Prodsetsnent are the same as those described in N@edment results are evaluated
internally by management before any allocationarporate overhead and without any charge for inctaxes, interest expense, or Other
operating charges, net.

The following tables provide financial informatidy reporting segment for each period or as of g&etod end, as applicable:
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Net Sales:

Fabricated Products $ 1,360.. $ 1,301 $ 1,078.¢

All Other* — — 0.2
Total net sales $ 1,360.0 % 1,301 $ 1,079.:
Operating Income (Loss):

Fabricated Products $ 190.¢ $ 836 $ 81.7

All Other* (24.9 (28.6) (40.6)
Total operating income $ 165.¢ % 55.C §% 41.1
Interest expense (29.]) (18.0 (12.¢)
Other income (expense), net 2.8 4.3 4.9
Income before income taxes $ 139.¢ $ 41 $ 25.1
Depreciation and Amortization:

Fabricated Products $ 26.C $ 248 $ 19.¢

All Other 0.t 0.4 0.4
Total depreciation and amortization $ 26t $ 252 $ 19.¢
Capital expenditures:

Fabricated Products $ 43¢ $ 321 $ 38.C

All Other 2 0.4 0.¢
Total capital expenditures $ 441 § 32t § 38.¢

December 31,2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Assets:

Fabricated Products $ 7712 $ 637.C $ 525.:

All Other® 981.: 683.¢ 793.¢
Total assets $ 1,752 % 1,320.¢ $ 1,318.¢

! Net sales in All Other in 2010 represent residetivty involving primary aluminum purchased by tBempany from Anglesey while
continued its smelting operations, prior to Septeng®, 2009, and resold by the Company in the djustrter of 2010. In connection with
Anglesey’s remelt operations beginning in the fouptarter of 2009, the Company changed its basisv@hue recognition from gross to a
net basis (see Note 1).

2 Operating results in the Fabricated Products segfoe@012 , 2011 and 2010 included non-cash LIF@ntory (benefits) charges of
$(4.9) , $(7.1) and $16.5 , respectively. Also ugd in the Fabricated Products segment operatmgts for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 were
$1.1, $1.7 and $13.6 , respectively, of environtaleexpense. Fabricated Products segment operaisudfs for 2012 and 2010 also
included $4.4 and $3.9 of asset impairment cheaelgging to certain Property, plant and equipmezgpectively.

3 Fabricated Products segment results for 2012 , 20812010 include non-cash markr@arket gains (losses) on primary aluminum, na
gas, electricity and foreign currency hedging atiés totaling $15.2 , $(29.9) and $(0.7) , respety. For further discussion regarding
mark-to-market matters, see Note 12 .

*  Operating results in All Other represent operagérgenses in the Corporate and Other businessQmitating results of All Other include
VEBA net periodic pension benefit (income) cost$(if1.9) , $(6.0) and $5.1 for 2012, 2011 and 204€pectively.

5 Assets in All Other represent primarily all of tBiempany’s cash and cash equivalents, short-terestments, metal and financial
derivative assets, net assets in respect of VEB#{d)net deferred income tax assets.

Net sales by product categories, which are baseshdmarket applications, for the Fabricated Prtedsegment are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Net Sales:
Aero/HS Products $ 695.1 $ 596.. % 467.:
GE Products 441.¢ 447 .( 409.:
Automotive Extrusions 125t 126.¢ 103.(
Other Products 98.1 131.1 99.2
Total Net Sales $ 1,360.. % 1,301 % 1,078.¢

Geographic information for net sales, based on wgwi origin, income taxes paid, and long-livedets are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Net sales to unaffiliated customers:
Fabricated Products —
United States $ 1,256. $ 1,195.. $ 991.C
Canada 103.¢ 106.2 87.¢
Total Fabricated Products net sales 1,360.: 1,301. 1,078.¢
All Other —
United Kingdom — — 0.3
Total All Other net sales — — 0.2
Total net sales $ 1,360.. $ 1,301 $ 1,079.:
Income Taxes Paid:
Fabricated Products —
United States $ 0t % g8 0.1
Canada qng 1.8 0.7
Total income taxes paid $ 1€ $ 38 § 0.t

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Long-lived assets:
Fabricated Products —

United States $ 367t $ 351.¢ $ 337.:
Canada 12.t 11.¢ 11.t
Total Fabricated Products long-lived assets 380.( 363.: 348.¢
All Other —
United States & 4.t 5.3
Total All Other long-lived assets 2 4.t 5.2
Total long-lived assets $ 384.: § 367.¢ $ 354.1

! Long-lived assets represent Property, plant anibetgnt, net.

The aggregate foreign currency transaction gaossés) included in determining net income were itened for 2012 , 2011 , and 2010 .
Sales to the Company’s largest fabricated producttomer accounted for sales of approximately 22%4 and 23% of total revenue in 2012
2011, and 2010, respectively. The loss of the @amy’'s largest customer would have a material agveffect on the Company taken as a
whole. However, in the Company’s opinion, the lielaghip between the customer and the Company id,gow the risk of loss of the
customer is remote. Export sales were approximdtgdy , 14% and 13% of total revenue during 20121,12and 2010 , respectively. In 2012 ,
2011 and 2010, the Company secured 78% , 83% %#td, 8espectively, of its annual primary aluminwoni the top fivemajor suppliers. Th
largest supplier provided approximately 29% , 32¢%@ 33% of the annual primary aluminum supply in202011 and 2010respectively. Th
second
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and third largest suppliers together provided axiprately 31% , 34% and 36% of the annual primawyrahum supply in 2012 , 2011 and
2010, respectively.

16. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 19.4 % 104 % 6.C
Income taxes paid $ 1.8 $ 3t $ 0.€
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:
Non-cash capital expenditures $ 34 % 18 $ 1.7
Issuance of Nichols Promissory Note — Note 3 $ — % — 8 6.7
Capital leases acquired $ 01 % 02 $ —
17. Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net consisted of the fatigwfor each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Interest income $ 04 $ 02 $ 0.2
Unrealized gains (losses) on financial derivatives 0.€ 4.C (4.9
Realized gains on investments 0.t 0.1 0.&
Insurance settlement 0.4 — —
All other, net 0.7 — (0.9
Other non-operating income (expense), net $ 28§ 432§ (4.9)

1 See “Derivative Financial Instrumentsin Note 1for a discussion of accounting policy for suchinstents

18. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table presents the tax effect alledatio each component of other comprehensive ingtoss) for each period presented:
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Before-Tax Income Tax Net-of-Tax
Amount (Expense) Benefit Amount
2012
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs:
Net actuarial gain arising during the period 87.¢ (335 % 54.:

Reclassification adjustments:

Less: amortization of net actuarial loss 3.1 (1.2 2.C

Less: amortization of prior service cost 4.2 (1.7 2.5
Other comprehensive income (loss) relating to
defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs 95.1 (36.9) 58.¢
Unrealized gain on available for sale securities 0.€ (0.2 0.4
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.2 — (0.2
Other comprehensive income 95.k (365 $ 59.C
2011
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs:

Net actuarial loss arising during the period (110.¢) 422z % (68.4)
Reclassification adjustments:

Less: amortization of net actuarial gain 0.€ (0.2 0.4

Less: amortization of prior service cost 4.2 (1.6 2.€
Other comprehensive income (loss) relating to
defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs (105.9) 40.4 (65.4)
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities (0.2 — (0.2)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 — 0.2
Other comprehensive loss (105.%) 404 % (65.9)
2010
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs:

Net actuarial gain arising during the period 25.F 9.7 $ 15.¢
Reclassification adjustments

Less: amortization of net actuarial gain 0.7 (0.2 0.t

Less: amortization of prior service cost 4.2 (1.6 2.€
Other comprehensive income (loss) relating to
defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs 30.4 (11.5) 18.¢
Unrealized gain on available for sale securities 0.1 — 0.1
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.5 — (0.5)
Other comprehensive income 30.C (119 $ 18.c

19. Condensed Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Financialnformation

The Company issued $225.0 aggregate principal atrauts Senior Notes pursuant to an indenturedistay 23, 2012
(the “Indenture”), among Kaiser Aluminum Corporatithe "Parent’), the subsidiary guarantors patyetto (the “Guarantor

Subsidiaries”) and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asstian, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The Guarantdvstdiaries currently

include Kaiser Aluminum Investments Company, Kaskiminum Fabricated Products, LLC, Kaiser Alumindiil Products

Inc., Kaiser Aluminum Washington, LLC and KaiseuAlinum Alexco, LLC, all of which are 100% ownedthe Parent. The guarantees are

full and unconditional and joint and several.

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 210.3-Hd(®egulation S-X, the following condensed cordating balance

sheets as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 20hdensed consolidating statements of incomthéyears ended December 31,
2012 , December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2018amknsed consolidating statements of cash flowhyears ended December 31,

2012 , December 31, 2011 and December 31, 201@gré} the financial position, results of
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operation and cash flows for each of (a) the Pafehthe Guarantor Subsidiaries on a combinedsbasid (c) the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries
(as defined below) on a combined basis, (ii) thesithents necessary to eliminate investments isidigries and intercompany balances and
transactions among the Parent, the Guarantor Sahisg&land the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, angtki& resulting totals, reflecting
information for the Company on a consolidated hasigeported. In the following tables, "Non- Guoa Subsidiaries" refers to Kaiser
Aluminum Canada Limited, Trochus Insurance Comp&¢Q Management, LLC, Kaiser Aluminum France, S.Ausd Kaiser Aluminum
Beijing Trading Company; and "Consolidating Adjustms" represent the adjustments necessary to elienthe investments in the Company's
subsidiaries and other intercompany sales andofasties transactions. The condensed consolidfitiagcial information should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statetsenerein.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2012

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivables:
Trade, less allowance for doubtful receivables
Intercompany receivables
Other
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated
affiliates

Property, plant, and equipment — net
Long-term intercompany receivables
Net asset in respect of VEBA
Deferred tax assets — net
Intangible assets — net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses
Other accrued liabilities
Payable to affiliate
Total current liabilities
Net liability in respect of VEBA
Long-term intercompany payable
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Total liabilities

Total stockholders’ equity
Total

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
$ 5 $ 266.C $ 24 % — 273.¢
— 85.C — — 85.C
— 121.t 2.3 — 123.¢
— (10.9) 04 9.9 —
— 2 2.1 — 34
— 178.5 7.3 — 186.(
— 68.1 2.C — 70.1
5.C 710.: 16.5 9.9 741.5
1,284.: 7.4 — (1,291.9 —
— 371.¢ 12.5 — 384.C
163.7 0.4 6.4 (170.5) —
— 365.¢ — — 365.¢
— 93.4 (0.8 9.4 102.(
— 35.4 — — 35.4
— 37.2 — — 37.2
64.C 19.2 3.C (0.2 86.C
$ 1516.6 $ 1,641.C $ 376 $ (1,442 $ 1,752t
$ 01 $ 56.E % 58 % — 62.5
— 0.2 0.2 (0.5 —
— 36.7 2.€ — 39.c
315 47.C 0.t — 51.¢
— 7.6 — — 7.9
3.€ 149.: 9.2 (0.5 161.€
— 5.2 — — 5.3
— 170.C 0.5 (170.5) —
62.1 49.€ 22.¢ — 134.t
380.: — — — 380.:
446.( 374.2 32.t (171.0 681.7
1,070.¢ 1,266.¢ 5.1 (1,271.9 1,070.¢
$ 1,516.¢ $ 1,641.C $ 37 % (1,442.9 $ 1,752.%
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2011

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Trade, less allowance for doubtful receivables
Intercompany receivables
Other
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated
affiliates

Property, plant, and equipment — net
Long-term intercompany receivables
Net asset in respect of VEBA
Deferred tax assets — net
Intangible assets — net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses
Other accrued liabilities
Payable to affiliate
Long-term debt-current portion
Total current liabilities
Net liability in respect of VEBA
Long-term intercompany payable
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Total liabilities

Total stockholders’ equity
Total

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
5 $ 43.C % 1.8 % — 49.¢
— 96.C 2.9 — 98.¢
— i 0.2 (2.5 —
— 0.8 04 — 1.2
196.¢ 9.1 — 205.7
6. 71.C 1.C — 78.¢
11.€ 409.7 15.4 (2.5 434.%
1,036.¢ 5.8 — (1,042.) —
— 355.¢ 11.¢€ — 367.¢
— 22.C 2.5 (24.5) —
— 144.; — — 144.;
— 218.¢ (0.6) 8.€ 226.¢
— 37.2 — — 37.2
— 37.2 — 37.2
50.2 19.2 2.9 — 72.%
1,099.C $ 1,250t $ 321 % (1,061.)) $ 1,320.¢
— $ 571 $ 51 $ — % 62.2
— 0.2 2.3 (2.5 —
— 28.7 2.2 — 30.¢
2.2 38.C 0.8 — 41.C
— 14.4 — — 14.4
— .3 — — 1.3
2.2 139.7 10.4 (2.5 149.¢
— 20.€ — — 20.€
22.C 2.5 — (24.5) —
54.C 53.t 18.t — 126.(
148.( 3.4 — — 151.¢
226.z 219.7 28.€ (27.0 447.¢
872.¢ 1,030.¢ 3.2 (1,034.) 872.¢
1,099.C $ 1,250t $ 321 % (1,061.) $ 1,320.¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,326.( $ 124.C % (89.9 $ 1,360.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation
and amortization and other items — 1,090.( 110.2 (84.0) 1,116.:
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments — (15.2) — — (15.2)
Depreciation and amortization — 25.F 0 — 26.t
Selling, administrative, research and development,
and general 2.C 57.7 8.2 (5.7 62.2
Other operating (benefits) charges, net — 4.t — — 4.5
Total costs and expenses 2.C 1,162.! 119.4 (89.7) 1,194.:
Operating (loss) income (2.0 163.t 4.€ (0.2 165.¢
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (28.2) (2.0 — 0.1 (29.7)
Other income (expense), net 0.8 1=t 0.€ (0.7 2.8
(Loss) income before income taxes (29.9) 164.( 5.2 (0.2 139.¢
Income tax provision — (62.€) (2.3 11.1 (53.9)
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 115.2 2.€ — (117.9 —
Net income $ 85.6 $ 104.C $ 2¢ % (106.9 $ 85.¢
Comprehensive income $ 144.¢ % 164.C $ 1¢ $ (165.9 $ 144.¢
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,264 $ 1336 $ (96.¢) $ 1,301.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items — 1,098." 125.¢ (95.]) 1,129.(
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — 29.¢ — — 29.¢
Restructuring benefits — 0.3 — — 0.3
Depreciation and amortization — 24.: 0.¢ — 25.2
Selling, administrative, research and development,
and general 1.8 56.2 6.2 (1.6 62.7
Other operating (benefits) charges, net — 0.1 0.3 — (0.2)
Total costs and expenses 1.8 1,209.( 132.2 (96.7) 1,246.:
Operating (loss) income (1.8 55.k 14 (0.2 55.C
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (16.2) (1.8 — — (18.0
Other income (expense), net 4.C 0.4 (0.2 — 4.3
(Loss) income before income taxes (14.0 54.1 .3 (0.2 41.2
Income tax provision — (21.9) (0.6) 6.2 (16.2)
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 39.1 0.8 — (39.9) —
Net income $ 251 $ 331 % 07 $ (33.) $ 25.1
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (402 $ (329 $ 07 % 31t $ (40.9
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended December 31, 2010

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,046.¢ $ 120.1 $ 87.9 $ 1,079.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items — 919.7 113.C (86.€) 946.1
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — 0.7 — — 0.7
Restructuring benefits — 0.3 — — 0.3
Depreciation and amortization — 19.C 0.8 — 19.¢
Selling, administrative, research and development,
and general 1.7 59.¢ 7.4 (1.3 67.7
Other operating (benefits) charges, net — 4.C — — 4.C
Total costs and expenses 1.7 1,003.( 121.2 (87.9) 1,038.(
Operating (loss) income (1.9 43.€ (1.2 — 41.1
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (11.9 (0.5) — — (11.9
Other income (expense), net (4.¢) 0.5 0.1 — 4.2
(Loss) income before income taxes (17.9) 43.¢ (2.0 — 25.1
Income tax provision — (21.6¢ 0.7 7.€ (3.7
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 29.¢ 0.3 — (29.5) —
Net income (loss) $ 12.C % 22C % 0.3 % 217 $ 12.C
Comprehensive income (I0ss) $ 305§ 414 $ (12 $ (402 $ 30.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Purchase of available for sale securities

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Change in restricted cash

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes
Repayment of capital lease
Repayment of promissory notes
Cash paid for financing costs

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested share
and dividend payment on unvested shares expected to
vest

Repurchase of common stock to cover employees'
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares

Cash dividend paid to stockholders
Intercompany loan

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during th
period

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
(17.9 $ 1642 $ 5¢ $ — 3 152.¢
— (42.6) (1.5) — (44.)
— (85.0) — — (85.0)
0.2 — — 0.3

6. 0.4 (0.4 — 6.
6.¢ (126.9 (1.9) — (121.9
225.( — — — 225.(
— (0.2) — — (0.2)
— (4.7) — — (4.7)
(6.6) — — — (6.6)
— 1.2 — — 1.3
(2.2 — — — (2.2
(19.6) — — — (19.6)
(185.%) 189.1 (3.9 — —
10.¢ 185.¢ (3.4) — 193.1
— 223.( 0.€ — 223.¢
5.C 43.C 1.8 — 49.¢
5 $ 266.C % 24 3 — 3 273.¢
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2011

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh (10.2) $ 71¢ % 11 % — % 62.€
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (31.2 1.3 — (32.5
Purchase of available for sale securities — (0.3 — — 0.3
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment — — 0.7 — 0.7
Cash payment for acquisition of manufacturing fac
and related assets (net of $4.9 of cash received in
connection with the acquisition in 2011) — (83.2) — — (83.2)
Change in restricted cash — (2.0 — — (2.0)
Net cash used in investing activities — (115.%) (0.6) — (116.9)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of capital lease — (0.2) — — (0.7
Repayment of promissory notes — (8.3 — — (8.9
Cash paid for financing costs — (2.2) — — (2.2
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested share
and dividend payment on unvested shares expected to
vest — 0.2 — — 0.2
Repurchase of common stock to cover employees'
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares (3.1 — — — (3.
Cash dividend paid to stockholders (18.9) — — — (18.9
Intercompany loah 32.2 (32.5) 0.3 — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 10.2 (42.¢) 0.3 — (32.9
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalen
during the period — (86.€) 0.8 — (85.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5.C 129.¢ 1.C — 135.¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 5C § 430 % 1€ $ — 49.€
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2010

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh (3.0 $ 71 $ 22 $% — % 66.2
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (37.9 (1.5 — (38.9
Purchase of available for sale securities — (4.9 — — (4.4
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment — 4.8 — — 4.8
Cash payment for acquisition of manufacturing fac
and related assets — (9.0 — — (9.0
Change in restricted cash — 11 — — 1.1
Net cash used in investing activities — (44.9) (1.5) — (46.9)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Convertible Notes 175.C — — — 175.C
Purchase of call option in connection with issuasice
cash convertible senior notes (31.9 — — — (31.9
Proceeds from issuance of warrants 14.: — — — 14.:
Repayment of promissory notes — (0.7) — — (0.7)
Cash paid for financing costs (5.9 (2.7) — — (8.6)
Repurchase of common stock (44.2) — — — (44.2)
Cash dividend paid to stockholders (29.0 — — — (19.0
Intercompany loah (80.¢) 77.C 3.8 — —
Net cash provided by financing activities 8.C 73.€ 3.8 — 85.4
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during th
period 5.C 100.2 0.1 — 105.2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period — 29.4 0.¢ — 30.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 5C $ 129.6  $ 1€ % — $ 135.¢

! The Company treats changes in long-term intercompatances that relate to financing activities ashcflow from financing activities. In
the above tables, the Company has revised thequeveiassification of the changes in such intercamggbalances in 2011 and 2010 from
cash flows from operating activities to a sepaliatitem in cash flows from financing activitieaptioned "intercompany loan”.

20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables present the unaudited finand#a for each of the interim periods in 2012 .
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

2012
Net sales

Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation, dimation and other

items

Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments

Gross Profit

Operating income

Net income

Earnings per common share, Basic:

Net income per share

Earnings per common share, Diluted:

Net income per share

Common stock market price (based on daily closiicgj
High
Low

2011
Net sales

Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation, dmation and other

items

Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments

Restructuring costs and other (benefits) charges

Gross Profit

Operating income

Net income

Earnings per common share, Basic:

Net income per share

Earnings per common share, Diluted:

Net income per share

Common stock market price (based on daily closicej
High
Low
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Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Ended Ended Ended Ended
31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec

365.2 % 345.2 335 % 314.(

298.1 284.¢ 268.¢ 264.¢

(3.0 0.1 (12.9 0.1

70.4 60.7 78.€ 49.1

46.2 39.€ 56.2 23.¢

26.E % 21.C 292 % 9.1

1.3¢ $ 1.1C 152 $ 0.4¢

1.3t $ 1.0¢ 151 $ 0.47

52.4¢ $ 52.5i 59.1f $ 61.7¢

46.8: $ 46.62 494: $ 56.27
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Ended Ended Ended Ended
31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec

322¢ % 338.¢ 322 % 317.¢

285.2 290.t 280.¢ 272.¢

4.9 9.5 16.€ 7.

— — (0.9) —

41.7 38.¢ 24.¢ 37.2

19.¢ 147 4.¢ 15.€

10 $ 4.1 41 % 6.1

057 % 0.2z 021 % 0.3:

057 % 0.2z 021 % 0.3:

5271 % 54.6% 56.3C $ 49.4¢

458t $ 46.37 4371 $ 40.2¢
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

21. Subsequent Events

Dividend Declaration On January 14, 2013, the Company announcedtshBbard of Directors approved the declaratioa guarterly
cash dividend of $0.30 per common share, or $5d@uding dividend equivalents), which was paid @bfaary 15, 2013 to stockholders of
record at the close of business on January 25, 2013

Anti-dilution Adjustments to Convertible Notes @whvertible Note Hedge Transactiokipon the payment of the
quarterly dividend on February 15, 2013, (a) tlem&rtible Notes' conversion rate increased shgiat20.7309 shares
per $1,000 principal amount of the Convertible [Saiad the equivalent conversion price decreasgltislito $48.24 per share, (b) the Call
Options' exercise price decreased slightly to $48& share, and (c) the Warrants' exercise pecesdsed slightly to $61.25 per share.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedufd& maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatretiesigned to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reponder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is meed, recorded, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the Securit@sl Exchange Commission's rules and forms andstitdt information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the prinapaktutive officer and principal financial officéo, allow for timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. In designing and evaluatimgdisclosure controls and procedures, managemesgmees that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opraée provide only reasonable assurance of aciyeiie desired control objectives, and
management is required to apply its judgment iduatang the cost-benefit relationship of possitbatrols and procedures. An evaluation of
the effectiveness of the design and operation oflmclosure controls and procedures was perforaseaf the end of the period covered by thi
Report under the supervision of and with the pgiton of our management, including the principegcutive officer and principal financial
officer. Based on that evaluation, our principatextive officer and principal financial officer adnded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2012.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovierancial ReportingOur management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finahegorting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under $®eurities Exchange Act of 1934. Our
internal control over financial reporting is destgnunder the supervision of our principal executiffecer and principal financial officer, and
effected by our Board of Directors, managementathdr personnel, to provide reasonable assurageedieg the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with acéogmirinciples generally accepted in the
United States and include those policies and pruaesdthat:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records thag¢@sonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttoamsactions and the dispositions of our asset:

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that our transactire recorded as necessary to permit prepacdtiorancial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in thed¢hBtates, and that our receipts and expenditeeseing made only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and Board of Borsgand

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prewveotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of our assets that coulc
have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide mdgonable assurance with respect to financisdratnt preparation and presentation.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial officer, we
assessed the effectiveness of our internal coote financial reporting as of December 31, 20Ehaithe criteria set forth by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comiaiiss Internal Control - Integrated Framework. Ba®n that evaluation, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officesrecluded that our internal control over financigporting was effective as of December 31,
2012.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registerablic accounting firm that audited our consolidatiedncial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2012 included in Item 8. “Financiat&mnents and Supplementary Data” of this Repostjdsied an audit report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcegporting.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial RepogtiWWe had no changes in our internal control overrfaia reporting during our most
recently completed fiscal quarter that have mdtgrédfected, or are reasonably likely to mategiaffect, our internal control over financial
reporting, except the changes described belowibdielieve enhanced controls and remediated therialatveakness in our control over the
completeness and accuracy of the information usedltie the liabilities of the voluntary employele&neficiary association that provides
benefits for certain eligible retirees represertgdertain unions and their spouses and eligibpeddents (the “Union VEBA”) (which is
described in our Annual Report on Form 10K forykar ended December 31, 2011). As the Union VEBAility is assessed annually, the
effectiveness of the internal controls
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over the completeness and accuracy of the infoamatsed in the assessment is also tested annwaihgdhe 4th quarter of each year:

* We implemented an enhanced methodology toliest/hion VEBA plan participants and year over yg@nges in the participants
and their coverage elections, which now includegere and follow up with the Union VEBA administraton the testing results.

* We enhanced our understanding and formal doctatien with regard to the Union VEBA benefit struicts and eligibility rules for a
benefit from the Union VEBA.

* Formal and informal communications among our Aomesource, corporate accounting and internat augnizations and the Union
VEBA administrator were enhanced to ensure a ctagisinderstanding of the completeness and accofabye information and
assumptions used for the valuation of the liak#itof the Union VEBA.

* We enhanced controls by obtaining additionadficial and benefits payment data from the Union XXEBEBministrator in order to test
the completeness and accuracy of participant dédanation provided by the Union VEBA and valid&&y assumptions.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Part Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Executive Officers,”
“Proposals Requiring Your Vote — Proposal for Blectof Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownkiig Reporting Compliance” and
“Corporate Governance” in our proxy statement far 2013 annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Executive Compensation,
“Director Compensation” and “Corporate Governanc&eard Committees — Compensation Committee — Cosgtean Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our prastatement for the 2013 annual meeting of stockislde
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiinagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untlerdaptions “Equity Compensation
Plan Information” and “Principal Stockholders an@amdgement Ownership” in our proxy statement for20#3 annual meeting of
stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governanceirecidr Independence” in our proxy statement fer 2013 annual meeting of
stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorp@eby reference to the information included unterdaption “Independent Public
Accountants” in our proxy statement for the 2018wl meeting of stockholders.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accagniirm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Statements of Consolidated Income

Statements of Consolidated Comprehensive Indboss)
Statements of Consolidated Stockholders’ Equity
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are eittagplicable or the required information is includiedhe Consolidated Financial
Statements or the Notes thereto included in Itef&i@ancial Statements and Supplementary Data”iacokporated herein by reference.

3. Exhibits

Reference is made to the Index of Exhibits immedygbreceding the exhibits hereto (beginning oneph?0), which index is incorporated
herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION

/s/ Jack A. Hockema
Jack A. Hockema
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 20, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

/s/ Jack A. Hockema President, Chief Executive Officer, Date: February 20, 2013
Chairman of the Board and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Jack A. Hockema

/s/ Daniel J. Rinkenberger Executive Vice President and Chief Date: February 20, 2013
: — Financial Officer
Daniel J. Rinkenberger (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Neal West Vice President and Chief Date: February 20, 2013
Accounting Officer
Neal West (Principal Accounting Officer)
/sl Carolyn Bartholomew Director Date: February 20, 2013

Carolyn Bartholomew

/s/ David Foster Director Date: February 20, 2013
David Foster

/sl Teresa A. Hopp Director Date: February 20, 2013
Teresa A. Hopp

/s/Lauralee Martin Director Date: February 20, 2013
Lauralee Martin

Director
William F. Murdy
/sl Alfred E. Osborne, Jr. Director Date: February 20, 2013
Alfred E. Osborne, Jr., Ph.D.
Director
Jack Quinn
/sl Thomas M. Van Leeuwen Director Date: February 20, 2013
Thomas M. Van Leeuwen
/s/ Brett E. Wilcox Director Date: February 20, 2013

Brett E. Wilcox
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Exhibit
Number

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Description

21

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

29

2.10

2.11

2.12

Third Amended Joint Plan of Liquidation for Alpddamaica Inc. (“AJI”) and Kaiser Jamaica CorporatittdC”), dated
February 25, 2005 (incorporated by reference taltix@9.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for theriod ended
December 31, 2004, filed by the Company on March2805, File No. 1-9447).

Modification to the Third Amended Joint Plan of uidation for AJl and KJC, dated April 7, 2005 (imgorated by
reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Current Report F8Fig, filed by the Company on December 23, 200t No. 1-9447).

Second Madification to the Third Amended Joint Rééhiquidation for AJl and KJC, dated November 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to ther€nt Report Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Daber 23, 2005,
File No. 1-9447).

Third Modification to the Third Amended Joint PlahLiquidation for AJl and KJC, dated December 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.4 to ther€nt Report Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Dmber 23, 2005,
File No. 1-9447).

Third Amended Joint Plan of Liquidation for Kaigdumina Australia Corporation (“KAAC”) and Kaiselirkance
Corporation (“KFC"), dated February 25, 2005 (irparated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the AnrRi@port on
Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 20t by the Company on March 31, 2005, File No4%4-B).

Modification to the Third Amended Joint Plan of uidation for KAAC and KFC, dated April 7, 2005 (orporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.6 to the Current Report omi-8-K, filed by the Company on December 23, 2(0le, No. 19447).

Second Maodification to the Third Amended Joint Réihiquidation for KAAC and KFC, dated November, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.7 to ther€nt Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company cecBmber 23, 2005,
File No. 1-9447).

Third Modification to the Third Amended Joint PlahLiquidation for KAAC and KFC, dated December 2905
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.8 to ther€nt Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company cecBmber 23, 2005,
File No. 1-9447)

Second Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization foCtbmpany, Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical CorporatioKACC) and
Certain of Their Debtor Affiliates, dated as of &smber 7, 2005 (incorporated by reference to ExBi®i2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Septeni3, 2005, File No. 1-9447).

Modifications to the Second Amended Joint Plan ebiganization for the Company, KACC and Certaifito¢ir Debtor
Affiliates Pursuant to Stipulation and Agreed Ortetween Insurers, Debtors, Committee and FutupgeRentatives
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to ther€at Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company @bfaary 7, 2006,
File No. 1-9447).

Modification to the Second Amended Joint Plan obfganization for the Company, KACC and Certain bé&if Debtor
Affiliates, dated as of November 22, 2005 (incogted by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Currentdtepn Form 8-K,
filed by the Company on February 7, 2006, File N®447).

Third Modification to the Second Amended Joint Pd&iRReorganization for the Company, KACC and CaertiTheir
Debtor Affiliates, dated as of December 16, 2008diporated by reference to Exhibit 2.4 to the €urReport on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on February 7, 206& No. 1-9447).
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2.13

2.14

2.15

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1

10.2

10.3

Order Confirming the Second Amended Joint Planedriganization of the Company, KACC and Certain loéiT Debtor
Affiliates (incorporated by reference to Exhibib2o the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by then@pany on
February 7, 2006, File No. 1-9447).

Order Affirming the Confirmation Order of the SedoAimended Joint Plan of Reorganization of the CamgpKACC and
Certain of Their Debtor Affiliates, as modified ¢orporated by reference to Exhibit 2.6 to the Reafion Statement on
Form 8-A, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006eHMilo. 1-9447).

Special Procedures for Distributions on AccounbRB Claim, as agreed by the National Labor Ref&iBoard, the
United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, ManufactuEnergy, Allied Industrial and Service Workémgernational
Union, AFL-CIO, CLC (formerly known as the UniteteBlworkers of America, AFL-CIO, CLC) (the “USW"hd the
Company pursuant to Section 7.8e of the Second Aetedoint Plan of Reorganization of the CompanyCiKAand
Certain of Their Debtor Affiliates, as modified ¢orporated by reference to Exhibit 2.7 to the Reafion Statement on
Form 8-A, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006eMilo. 000-52105).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Company (incorporated by reference to Exi8Hitto the
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, filed by therany on July 6, 2006, File No. 000-52105).

Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatatifiate of Incorporation of the Company (incorpted by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly ReporfFonm 10-Q, filed by the Company on August 7, 2068 No. 000-
52105).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrattatement on
Form 8-A, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006eHilo. 000-52105).

Indenture, dated as of March 29, 2010 (incorporbieteference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Reporform 8K, filed by
the Company on March 29, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

Indenture, dated May 23, 2012, by and among Ka&iseninum Corporation, each of the guarantors nathedein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trugieeorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ther€nt Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on May 24, 2012¢HMilo. 000-52105).

Form of 8.250% Senior Note due 2020 (included ihikix 4.2).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 23, 2@0¥2and among Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, eacthefguarantors
signatory thereto and J.P. Morgan Securities LISOepresentative of the several initial purcha§acorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report omk8-K, filed by the Company on May 24, 2012, File. 000-52105).

Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 20tdng the Company, Kaiser Aluminum Investments CamgpKaiser
Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC, Kaiser Aluminidmternational, Inc., Kaiser Aluminum Washingtor,,& and
Kaiser Aluminum Alexco, LLC, certain financial iiitsttions from time to time party thereto, as lergjéiPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, J.P. Morgacuties Inc. and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LS joint
bookrunners and joint lead arrangers, Wells Fargpital Finance, LLC, as documentation agent, amik® America,
N.A., as syndication agent (incorporated by refeesio Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Forig,8ied by the
Company on October 3, 2011, File No. 000-52105

Form of Confirmation of Base Call Option Transaegtidincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 ® @urrent Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 201ile No. 000-52105).

Form of Confirmation of Additional Call Option Traactions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Maréh 2010, File No. 000-52105).
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10.4

10.5

10.6

**10.7

**10.8

**10.9

**10.10

**10.11

**10.12

10.13

10.14

**10.15

**10.16

**10.17

10.18

**10.19

Form of Confirmation of Base Warrant Transactidnsdrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 201ile No. 000-52105).

Form of Confirmation of Additional Warrant Transacis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4h® Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 208ie No. 000-52105).

Description of Compensation of Directors (incorgedaby reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Annual Répa Form 10-K,
filed by the Company on February 29, 2012, File 0@0-52105)

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 9, 20dflyeen the Company and Jack A. Hockema (incorgaiay
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporfForm 8-K, filed by the Company on November 15, 2(i No. 000-
52105).

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Curregp®t on Form 8-
K, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File N60662105).

Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Curreridteon Form 8-K,
filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File No. BX305).

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1¢h® Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on July 6, 20Biie No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products Restoratiom Rilacorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 & @urrent Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on July 6, 20Biie No. 000-52105).

Amendment to the Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Prosligstoration Plan (incorporated by reference tul#ix10.4 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Companybmtember 31, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

Director Designation Agreement, dated as of JulgO®6, between the Company and the USW (incorpotateeference
to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement omir8FA, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File.l900-52105).

Letter Agreement dated January 19, 2010 extentli@germ of the Director Designation Agreement betwihe Company
and the USW (incorporated by reference to ExhiBif.Xo the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by @empany on
January 21, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

Form of Change in Control Severance AgreementdbnBarneson (incorporated by reference to ExAibi82 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period endedémeber 31, 2002, filed by the Company on March 83032 File
No. 1-9447).

Form of Change in Control Severance AgreementdbnM. Donnan, Daniel J. Rinkenberger and Jam&sédAuliffe
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 toAmmual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended émeloer 31, 2002,
filed by the Company on March 31, 2003, File N®447).

Form of Amendment to the Change in Control Severagkgreement with John Barneson, John M. Donnanjdbdn
Rinkenberger, and James E. McAuliffe (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Reporform 8-K, filed
by the Company on December 31, 2008, File No. (IB5).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended and RestatdebZbquity and Performance Incentive Plan effed&ebruary 8,
2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit10.2th#Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed by the Compan February
29, 2012, File No. 000-52105).

2007 Form of Executive Officer Option Rights Awakdreement (incorporated by reference to ExhibiB16.the Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on AptiB07, File No. 000-52105).
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**10.20

**10.21

**10.22

**10.23

**10.24

**10.25

**10.26

**10.27

**10.28

**10.29

**10.30

**10.31

**10.32

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock AdvAigreement (incorporated by reference to ExhiBi21o the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed by the CompanyAugust 7, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

2010 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AdvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHibi@ to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 9, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

2010 Form of Executive Officer Performance Sharem Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 9, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 2010 - 2012 Long-Temgsédntive Program Summary of Management Objectinds a
Formula for Determining Performance Shares Earmaiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 9, 2010e Mo. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products 2011 Short-Throentive Plan for Key Managers Summary (incorpeddy
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporfForm 8-K, filed by the Company on March 7, 2011eNo. 00052105).

2011 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AsvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBiR to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 7, 2011, File No. 000-52105).

2011 Form of Executive Officer Performance Sharesl Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 7, 2011, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 2011 - 2013 Long-Temedntive Program Summary of Management Objectinds a
Formula for Determining Performance Shares Earimatiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 7, 2011e Mo. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products 2012 Short-Throentive Plan for Key Managers Summary (incorfpeddy
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporForm 8-K, filed by the Company on March 9, 2012e fo. 00052105).

2012 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AdvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHibiR to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 9, 2012, File No. 000-52105).

2012 Form of Executive Officer Performance Sharesl Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 9, 2012, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 2012 - 2014 Long-Temodntive Program Summary of Management Objectiads a
Formula for Determining Performance Shares Earimetiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 9, 2012e Mo. 000-52105).

Description of 2012 Short-Term Incentive UmbrellarPunder the Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended Restated
2006 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (incateml herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to theu@arly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 26, 20E#e No. 000-52105).
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**10.33 Description of 2012 Long-Term Incentive Umbrella®under the Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended Restated
2006 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (incateal herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to theu@arly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 26, 20E#e No. 000-52105).

**10.34 Non-exclusive consulting agreement, dated May 1220etween the Company and James E. McAulifféjrtrorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Remor Form 10-Q, filed by the Company on July 26120File No. 000-
52105).

*12.1 Statement Regarding Computation of Ratios.

*21.1 Significant Subsidiaries of Kaiser Aluminum Corpioa.

*23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

*31.1 Certification of Jack A. Hockema pursuant to Setfi02 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*31.2 Certification of Daniel J. Rinkenberger pursuangtxtion 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*32.1 Certification of Jack A. Hockema pursuant to Set806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*32.2 Certification of Daniel J. Rinkenberger pursuan$gxtion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*101.INS XBRL Instance

*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

*101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

*101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label

*101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

* Filed herewith.

** Management contract or compensatory plaaroangement required to be filed as an exhibihi® Annual Report on Form 10-K.

124



KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(In millions of dollars, except for ratio of earnings to fixed charges)

Year Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.1

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Earnings:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
taxes and equity in (earnings) losses of
unconsolidated affiliates $ 139.¢ $ 417 % 251 % 118.€ $ (91.9)
Fixed charges 34.1 22.¢ 17.¢ 5.1 3.4
Interest capitalized 1.7 1.3 (2.9 (2.7 (0.3
Amortization of interest capitalized 0.7 0.€ 0.t .3 0.z
Earnings $ 1727 % 632 $ 40.7 $ 121 % (88.0
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense, including amortization of
discounts, debt issuance costs and interest
component of rent expense $ 29.1 $ 18.C $ 11.¢ $ — 1.C
Interest capitalized 1.7 3 2.8 2.7 0.3
Portion of rental representative of interest & & 3.3 2.4 2.1
Fixed charges $ 341 % 22¢ % 17¢ % 51 % 3.4
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 5.1 2.8 2.3 23.€ (25.9)
Deficiency of earnings to fixed charges $ — 3 — 3 — % —  $ (91.9




Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES
Listed below are the principal subsidiaries andtgdnvestments of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, fhasdiction of their incorporation or

organization, and the names under which such siabigisl do business. The Company's ownership isételd for its equity investment. Certain
subsidiaries are omitted which, considered in tigregate as a single subsidiary, would not constausignificant subsidiary.

Place of
Incorporation or
Name Organization
Kaiser Aluminum Investments Company Delaware
Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC Delaware
DCO Management, LLC (formerly known as Kaiser Alaonin & Chemical Corporation, LLC) Delaware
Anglesey Aluminium Limited (49%) United Kingdom
Principal Domestic Operations and Administrativdicas:
Alabama Tennessee
Florence Jackson
Fabricated Products Fabricated &ctsd
Arizona Texas
Chandler (Extrusion) Sherman
Fabricated Products Fabricated fetsd
Arizona Virginia
Chandler (Tube) Richmond (Bellwood)
Fabricated Products Fabricated &etsd
California Washington
Foothill Ranch Richland
Corporate Headquarters Fabricateddrits
California Washington
Los Angeles (City of Commerce) Spokane
Fabricated Products Fabricated Rotsdu
Ohio
Newark
Fabricated Products
Principal Worldwide Operations:
Canada France
Kaiser Aluminum Canada Limited&aiser Aluminum France, SAS
Fabricated Products Development and Sales
China Wales, United Kingdom
Kaiser Aluminum Beijing Trading
Company Anglesey Aluminium Ltd.
Development and Sales (49)% Remelt and

Casting of Secondary
Aluminum Products



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-165869 on Form S-3Nwogl 333-170513 and 333-135613 on
Form S-8 of our report dated February 21, 2013tire to the consolidated financial statements askr Aluminum Corporation and the
effectiveness of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation's intd control over financial reporting, appearinghis Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation for the year ended Deber 31, 2012.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
February 21, 2013



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jack A. Hockema, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Kaisluminum Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nkgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thésteant’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfgability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a samitifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Jack A. Hockema
Jack A. Hockema
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 21, 2013

A signed original of this written statement reqdif®y Section 302 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff upzyuest.



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
[, Daniel J. Rinkenberger, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Kaisluminum Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nkgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thésteant’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfgability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a samitifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Principal Financial Officer

Date: February 21, 2013

A signed original of this written statement reqdif®y Section 302 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff upzyuest.



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

February 21, 201
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 103KKaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware corpanat{the “Company”)for the yeai
ended December 31, 2012 (the “Report”), as filedhendate hereof with the Securities and Exchargarfiission, the undersigned, Jack A.

Hockema, Chief Executive Officer of the Companyesibereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 aptad pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to such offickriswledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fapphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exguieaghe Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the date first above written

/s/ Jack A. Hockema
Jack A. Hockema
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®ey Section 906 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff upgzyuest.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

February 21, 201
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 103KKaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware corpanat{the “Company”)for the yeai
ended December 31, 2012 (the “Report”), as filedhendate hereof with the Securities and Exchargar@ission, the undersigned, Daniel J.

Rinkenberger, Principal Financial Officer of ther@many, does hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S3501as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to suciceffs knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fapphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exguieaghe Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the date first above written

/sl Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Principal Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqdii®y Section 906 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff ugmjuest.



